2013

ElEIBI B I & EI®R|IS
\ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND | ANNUAL REPORT \

Stock Code & 2135 : 978

M 2B S5 BRERAT 3@h

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED



CORPORATE INFORMATION NaElER

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FEHE 4
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE EENSREBRAERE 9
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ERENm RN 21
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS BxeWmE 39
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT EERmE 52
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT B ZEENRE 70
AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS KERZIRE VTS H*
Statement of profit or loss and other e Bam RAMEE
comprehensive income Woan 73
Statement of financial position BB 74
Statement of changes in equity R ZEK 76
Statement of cash flows HemER 78
Notes to the financial statements Bl IR AN i 81

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY AFMBERBEE 172



CORPORATE INFORMATION

DNEEF

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Dr. SO Shu Fai

Mr. HU Jianxin

Mr. LIU Zhuogen

Mr. YU Zhiliang

Non-executive Directors
Mr. HE Jianya (Chairman)

Ms. WU Zhengin

Ms. LIU Ning

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert

Ms. CHEN Yanping

Dr. SHI Xinping

Mr. HE Qi

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)
Ms. LIU Ning

Dr. SHI Xinping

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. HE Jianya (Chairman)
Ms. CHEN Yanping
Dr. SHI Xinping

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. CHEN Yanping (Chairman)
Ms. WU Zhengin
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. LIU Zhuogen
Mr. YU Zhiliang

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. CHAN Wing Yan

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman,

KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

2 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2013

=
HITES
EREEE L
BRERT A
B EREE
REREE

FHITES
BREDEE (xR
RIRE L+
B4+

BIEHITES
FoxmERE T
[CE 3 o
L
IR S A

BREEE
FoxET LT ()
Bz +
SHFEL

REZEE
BREDEE (xR)
PRI 2 4
SHFEL

FHEES
PRI ()
SRR+
FoxiEH LT
REAR

FERESE
REREE

DEWE
BER Lt

B BEm
1) o BERT BEAITT

EMMRER

P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman,

KY1-1104

Cayman Islands



CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEEHR

HEAD OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Room 1701, 17/F
China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre
Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd.
Bank of China Limited
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
Baoshang Bank Limited
China Construction Bank Corporation
China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd.
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRARS AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company

(Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

WEBSITE
http://ir.cmland.hk

STOCK CODE
978

RMMEERTEEXBE

578

T8+ 168-2005%
=D
BERANE
1741701 =

FERARIT
TEERRITRNDBERAT
ERRITRDBERAF
PEIRTTARM AR A A
RBRITBRMDBRAR - EEDTT
BRERITRNER AR
HEZRBITROD AR AE

R RRITGEM RN BR AR
B RIRITIRDBER AT
BRERITRDBR AR

B TERTT (M) AR
PR TRRITAM AR AR
BITRIT(BE)AR AR
LB ESRITERAF

I}

FEROBFRETHRE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

BEERNBFRELSE
SEE R ARAT
&

ERRNER183%
BRFL221E

@k

http://ir.cmland.hk

AR

978

=5 BHRBERARQH



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

To shareholders,

| am pleased to present to you the annual report of China
Merchants Land Limited (“China Merchants Land” or
the “Company”, Stock Code: 00978, formerly known
as Tonic Industries Holdings Limited) and its subsidiaries
(together with the “Group”) as at 31 December 2013.

BUSINESS REVIEW

On 1 November 2013, the Company completed the
acquisition of the equity interests of 11 property projects
in the PRC from Eureka Investment Company Limited,
which is a subsidiary wholly-owned by China Merchants
Property Development Co., Ltd. (“CMPD"), the controlling
shareholder of the Company, and the corresponding
placing of shares (”Assets Restructuring”). The name
of the Company was changed to “China Merchants
Land Limited” to transform into a listed property
company which is mainly engaged in the businesses of
development, sales, leasing, investment and management
of properties. Benefited from Assets Restructuring, the
financial results of the Group had significantly improved
in the year of 2013.

In 2013, the turnover of the Group was RMB6,927,871,000
(2012: RMB4,362,053,000). Profit attributable to the
owners of the Company was RMB458,890,000 (2012:
RMB428,780,000). Profit attributable to the shareholders
per share was RMB11.13 cents (2012: RMB11.93 cents).

The Board recommended payment of final dividend for a
total of HK$58,863,094 for the year ended 31 December
2013, representing payment of HK$0.012 per share.

STRATEGIC POSITION

After Assets Restructuring, China Merchants Land
had become the only offshore listing platform for the
properties business of China Merchants Group. This was
also an important move made by CMPD to implement the
strategy of the new decade of the properties business of
China Merchants Group.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERE

Founded in 1872, a time when China was in its late
Qing Dynasty and was undergoing the Westernisation
Movement, China Merchants Group is the forerunner of
China’s national industry and commerce. With the mission
“Drive the progress of era by success in commerce”
and the vision “Establish a harmonious enterprise
with international competitiveness”. China Merchants
Group has become the first in many aspects of modern
PRC economy and is renowned as the “epitome of the
century-long history of China’s national enterprises”.

Property business is one of the three core businesses
of China Merchants Group. CMPD, as the controlling
shareholder of the Group, is also the flagship enterprise
of China Merchants Group’s property segment. Recently,
due to the overall strategic planning for the development
in the coming decade, China Merchants Group has
provided much stronger support to the property segment,
establishing a strong foundation for the growth of CMPD.

China Merchants Land, as a vital offshore financing
platform for CMPD, will be given great support in
the area of assets injection, obtaining land resources,
utilizing brands, supply of human resources, research
and application of production line and management
information system sharing for improving the results
and promoting a sound correlation of investment and
financing by optimizing the utilization and efficiency of
resources in order to create values for investors. CMPD
has held over 70% equity interests of the Company. Both
parties share the same benefits and create a win-win
situation which is in the interests of the shareholders of
both parties.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

Adhered to the principles of effectiveness and efficiency
as first priority, China Merchants Land strives to maintain
its position and further expand its market share in the
existing cities including Guangzhou, Foshan, Nanjing
and Chongging and will consider to enter second-tier
cities which have huge population, strong potential
economic development, such as Xi‘an. Meanwhile, the
Group will actively explore and expand the opportunities
in the overseas market by leveraging on experience and
advantages of China Merchants Group in the overseas
development. At present, the scale and strength of China
Merchants Land is relatively not strong enough. In order
to improve the efficiency of utilization of capital, the
Company will continue to focus on its major strategy of
residential development and accelerated turnover in the
short and mid-term residential development and consider
the capability to gradually increase the proportion of
investment properties, aiming to create a more balanced
asset and capital structure to ensure stable and healthy
growth.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Development

In 2013, with the recovery of the investment sentiment
in the industry, increasing transaction volume of urban
residential properties, different growth rate in the
property price in first-tier and second-tier cities, land
transactions increased in both volume and price. Fully
leveraging the spirit of perseverance, the management
team seized the market opportunities and expedited
the construction work and sales, which led to a more
satisfactory sales performance with an aggregate
contracted sales of RMB7,339.8 million, an aggregate
contracted sales area of 516,755 square meters (“sq.m."),
representing an increase of 16% and 5% as compared
with 2012, respectively.
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Land Bank

After Assets Restructuring, the Group acquired 3 pieces of
land in Foshan with saleable gross floor area (“GFA") of
684,611 sq.m. for a total land cost of RMB2,320.5 million
and 1 piece of land in Chongging with saleable GFA of
1,101,426 sg.m. for a total land cost of RMB4,010.6
million in November and December 2013, respectively.
As at 31 December 2013, the Group had land bank with
total GFA of approximately 5,590,000 sqg.m.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, in January 2014,
the Group acquired another piece of land in Guangzhou
with saleable GFA of 101,340 sq.m. for a total land cost
of RMB1,460 million. The management believes that the
existing land bank is sufficient to fulfill the needs of the
Company’s project development in the coming around 3
years.

Capital and finance

Through reverse takeover and net proceeds from placing
of shares of HK$1,819 million, capital of the Company
was strengthened while room for debt financing of
the Company had expanded. Immediately in December
2013, the Company issued US$500,000,000 five-year
term credit enhanced bonds to professional investors at
coupon rate of 4.021% and were rated A2 by Moody'’s,
bringing the advantage of the Company as an offshore
financing platform into full play.

At the end of 2013, net interest-bearing debt to equity
ratio (including non-controlling interests) (the “net
gearing ratio”) of the Company was approximately
4%, which is at a very healthy level in the property
industry and is beneficial to the Company in continuing
to strengthen the financing function. Large cash inflow
from the projects and strong financing capacity will be
an advantage for the Group to capture the opportunities
flexibly for the expansion of land bank to accelerate the
growth of its businesses.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

In 2014, the Group will closely monitor the market and
enhance our capability to foresee the changes in market
conditions and make efforts to respond to those changes.
This year, it is expected that GFA of construction will
reach 1,600,000 sq.m. with approximately 15 saleable
projects, providing an abundant supply of stock.

As the only offshore listing platform for the flagship
enterprise under China Merchants Group’s property
business, the Group will fully capitalize the experience
and resources of CMPD in project design, operation and
property management and expand its business scale
and capacity by leveraging its function as an offshore
financing platform.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to thank our customers,
business partners and staff for their trust and support
during last year and would appreciate your continued
support for the Company’s development in the future.
As the Chairman of the Board, | would also like to
express our sincere gratitude to our shareholders for their
unfailing support and in approving the major changes of
the Company. | believe and have confidence that we will
create better return for the shareholders in the future.

He Jianya
Chairman

7 March 2014
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEBAERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. So Shu Fai, aged 62, joined the Company as
an executive Director and chairman of the executive
committee on 11 December 2010 and was elected
chairman of the Company on 31 December 2010. Dr. So
resigned from his position as the chairman of the Board
and his board committee position on 23 June 2012 and
remains an executive Director. Dr. So is responsible for
overseeing the trading business of the Group.

Dr. So is an executive director of SJM Holdings Limited
(listed on the Stock Exchange) and is currently the
Chairman of Shenzhen Super Perfect Optics Limited. He
is an independent non-executive director of SHK Hong
Kong Industries Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange),
a director of Estoril-Sol, SGPS, S.A. which is listed on
Euronext Lisbon and the chairman of the board of
directors of MACAUPORT - Sociedade de Administracao
de Portos, S.A.

Dr. So is a member of the 12th National Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
("CPPCC"), a member of the Committee of Foreign Affairs
of the National Committee of CPPCC, the honorary consul
of the Republic of Portugal in the Hong Kong SAR, as
well as a member of the Economic Development Council
and of the Cultural Consultative Council of the Macau
SAR Government. Dr. So is the president of Clube Militar
de Macau, a member of the board of directors of The
University of Hong Kong Foundation for Educational
Development and Research, as well as a member of the
9th National Committee of China Federation of Literary
and Arts Circles.

Dr. So was awarded the Medal of Merit — Culture by the
Macau SAR Government in 2009. He was awarded the
Doctor of Social Sciences honoris causa by the University
of Macau in 2012, and the Honorary University Fellowship
by The University of Hong Kong in 2005.

Dr. So is a Chartered Secretary and a Fellow member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He
graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree from The
University of Hong Kong in 1973, and received a doctoral
degree in Management Studies from IMC/Southern Cross
University in 2001.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGENEEAERBE

Mr. Hu Jianxin, aged 55, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 1 November 2013 and was
approved by Board to be resigned as an executive Director
of the Company with effect from 10 March 2014. He has
been working as Chief Sustainability Officer and Chief
Engineer (deputy general manager level) of CMPD since
February 2014. Mr. Hu is responsible for the project
management of the Group.

Mr. Hu worked as a deputy general manager of CMPD
from April 2005 to February 2014, worked as a deputy
general manager in Shenzhen China Merchants Real Estate
Co., Ltd. from December 2001 to February 2011, worked
in China Merchants Properties Development Ltd. (385
BEARRAF]) from November 1996 to November 2001
initially as a deputy general manager and subsequently
was promoted to general manager. Mr. Hu also worked
in China Merchants Properties Holdings Company Limited
(FRE R ELBEBMRAT) as a deputy general manager
from November 1998 to November 2001.

Mr. Hu was granted a certificate for High-Level
Professional in Shenzhen by the Personnel Bureau of
Shenzhen Municipality in January 2009, to recognize him
as a national-level talent and Mr. Hu is entitled to enjoy
privileged treatment according to relevant policies in
Shenzhen. Mr. Hu enjoys a monthly special governmental
allowance since October 1992. Mr. Hu was granted
a certificate of Young and Middle-aged Expert with
Outstanding Contribution (" EFBEHERMER") by
Ministry of Personnel of the PRC in 1992.

Mr. Hu graduated with a bachelor’s degree in
architectural and structural engineering and a master'’s
degree in architectural and structural engineering from
South China University of Technology (formerly called
"EER T EPRT”) in July 1982 and July 1991, respectively.
Mr. Hu was qualified as a senior architectural engineer in
April 1993 and as a senior architectural engineer (professor
level) in January 2006.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEBAERE

Mr. Liu Zhuogen, aged 50, joined the Company as an
executive Director on 2 June 2012 and appointed as Deputy
Group General Manager with effect from 29 June 2012. Mr.
Liu has been serving as a director of Champion Apex Limited
("Champion Apex”) and Grand Golden Profit Limited
("GGP") since June 2012 and a director of Harvest Allied
Investments Limited (“Harvest Allied”) since April 2013. Mr.
Liu has been serving as the legal representative of EEHE
5 O#31) BFE/AF] (Guan Hua Gang Trading (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd.) since June 2012. All of the said companies are wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Liu is responsible
for overseeing the daily operation and trading business of
the Group.

Mr. Liu has been serving as a director of Eureka since 3
September 2009. Prior to joining Eureka, he worked as a
deputy general manager at Commercial Property Division
of CMPD (@t EREMET L), an engineer of the
Wharf (Holdings) Limited, a project manager at Kenworth
Engineering Limited (BB ATBIETE AT, HE"EE
TiRAMRAR"), a sales manager at Sanko Technology
Limited (B&E# T2 /A ")) and an engineer at Shekou
Industrial Zone of China Merchants Group (@& AT
1[@). Mr. Liu received a bachelor degree in engineering
from the South China University of Technology (¥R IE
T K&), a master degree in engineering from University
of New South Wales, Australia, an MBA under a distance
learning programme jointly offered by Deakin University
and the Association of Professional Engineers, Scientists
and Managers, Australia and a master degree in
accounting under a distance learning programme from
Curtin University of Technology, Australia.

Mr. Yu Zhiliang, aged 35, joined the Company as an
executive Director on 2 June 2012 and appointed as
Group Chief Financial Officer with effect from 29 June
2012. Mr. Yu has been serving as a director of Champion
Apex and GGP since January 2013 and a director of
Harvest Allied since April 2013. Mr. Yu is responsible for
managing accounting, monitoring internal control and
overseeing the financial activities of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGENEEAERBE

Mr. Yu has been serving as a chief financial officer of
China Merchants Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd. (3B i
7 (JEF9) B2 7)) and Fujian Zhong Lian Sheng Estate
Development Ltd. ({@i R BB b E M FR A F]) since
2010. Mr. Yu worked as a director of China Merchants
Properties Development Ltd. (JBEREXERA7F]) and
he was a director of Wahsheung Finance Ltd. (Z£p5 8175
AR /AF]). He received a bachelor degree in accounting
from Xiamen University (EF9X&) and obtained an MBA
degree in finance at the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Yu is an accountant of the PRC.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. He Jianya, aged 48, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company and was elected
as the chairman of the Board, the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Board and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Board on 8 August 2013.
On 22 September 2013, Mr. He resigned as a member of
the remuneration committee of the Board. Mr. He was re-
elected as a non-executive Director at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 28 October
2013.

Mr. He has been a director and the general manager of
CMPD since February 2011.

Mr. He was the system manager of Shekou Container
Port Co., Ltd. from May 1990 to March 1994. He worked
as a section chief of the enterprise management office of
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Co., Ltd. from
March 1994 to December 1995 and was subsequently
promoted to vice office manager in January 1996 and
office manager from January 1998 to February 1999.
Mr. He served as a deputy general manager of Shenzhen
China Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd. from February 1999
to February 2011. From December 2007 to March 2013,
Mr. He served as an independent director of Yunnan
Metropolitan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (ZEEGH
WEERMHABMR AT, a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600239).
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Mr. He graduated from Beijing University of Aeronautics
& Astronautics (formerly known as “Beijing Institute of
Aeronautics”) with a bachelor’s degree in electronic
engineering in July 1987 and a master’s degree in
telecommunication and electronic system in March 1990.
He then obtained an MBA from Peking University in July
2007.

Ms. Wu Zhengin, aged 55, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company and was elected as a
member of the remuneration committee of the Board on
22 September 2013. Ms. Wu was re-elected as a non-
executive Director at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 28 October 2013.

Ms. Wu has been the chief financial officer of CMPD since
July 2013.

Ms. Wu served as the chief of the finance department of
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Co., Ltd. from
January 1998 to September 2000, and served as the chief
financial officer of CMPD from October 2000 to January
2003. She worked as the general manager in the auditing
department of China Merchants Group Co., Ltd. from
January 2003 to July 2013.

Ms. Wu graduated from Shanghai Ocean Shipping
Institute (currently known as “Shanghai Maritime
University”) with a bachelor’s degree in Economics in July
1982. Ms. Wu is a senior accountant of the PRC.

Ms. Liu Ning, aged 45, joined the Company as a
non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Ms. Liu is a
member of the audit committee of the Board.

Ms. Liu has 15 years’ experience in securities industry and
has been serving as the secretary to the board of directors
of CMPD since February 2008. She was appointed as a
representative for securities affairs of CMPD in October
2001 and a director of secretariat to the board of CMPD
in July 2004.

Ms. Liu currently serves as an independent director in
the following companies listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange:

. Tianjin Zhonghuan Semiconductor Co., Ltd. (K&
IR ERAN FIR 2 7]) (Stock Code: 002129);

o Shenzhen Jinxinnong Feed Co., Ltd. (RII& 512 &
K% D PR A 7)) (Stock Code: 002548); and

o Shenzhen Changfang Light Emitting Diode
Lighting Co., Ltd. (FIIT R 77 B2 RARGN BR
~al) (Stock Code: 300301).
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Ms. Liu received a bachelor’s degree in wood processing
from Central South University of Forestry and Technology
in June 1992. She completed a post-graduate course in
Department of Business Administration of Business School
of Nankai University in December 2000 and subsequently
obtained an MBA from Macau University of Science and
Technology in March 2003. Ms. Liu is an economist of the
PRC.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, aged 62, joined the
Company as an independent non-executive Director
on 2 June 2012. Dr. Wong is the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee
of the Board.

Dr. Wong currently holds the following positions in other
listed companies:

o independent non-executive director of APAC
Resources Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1104);

o independent non-executive director of Solargiga
Energy Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 757); and

o non-executive director of Rare Earths Global
Limited, a company listed on AIM market of the
London Stock Exchange.

In addition, Dr. Wong has been the managing director of
Charise Financial Planning Limited, a private professional
consulting firm in Hong Kong since October 2005 to 2
January 2014. Thereafter, Dr. Wong has been appointed
as Principal Consultant by KND & Co. CPA Limited, Hong
Kong, starting from 2 January 2014.

Dr. Wong was elected or admitted:

. a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators in September 2002;

o a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries in February 2002;
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o a fellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in
January 1999;

o an ordinary member of The Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute in November 2012;

. a fellow member of Association of International
Accountants in September 2005;

° a member of The Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Ireland in August 2000;

° a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
in May 2002; and

o a Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong for the year
2013 by the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Dr. Wong received a doctor’s degree in Business
Administration from Bulacan State University, Republic of
the Philippines in December 2010 and a bachelor’s degree
in commerce from a joint program held by Shenzhen
University and Clayton University, Missouri, USA in May
1990. He also received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s
degree in business administration from Nottingham Trent
University, UK in December 2005 and December 2007,
respectively.

Ms. Chen Yanping, aged 55, joined the Company as
an independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012.
Ms. Chen has been an independent director of CMPD
from October 2007 to November 2011. Ms. Chen is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member
of the nomination committee of the Board.

Ms. Chen has been a professor of Architecture and Urban
Planning School in Shenzhen University since December
2000. Ms. Chen attended a “China Management Training
Program” in University of California, Los Angeles from
November 2003 to November 2004.

Ms. Chen received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s
degree in architecture and urban planning from Tongji
University in January 1982 and November 1984,
respectively. Ms. Chen was qualified as a metropolitan
planner of the PRC in October 2000.
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Dr. Shi Xinping, aged 55, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr.
Shi has been an independent director of CMPD from July
2001 to October 2007. Dr. Shi is a member of the audit
committee and a member of the nomination committee
of the Board.

Dr. Shi is currently an associate professor of Department
of Finance and Decision Sciences in Hong Kong Baptist
University. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Renewable Energy Trade Board Corporation
(formerly known as “China Technology Development
Group Corporation”), a company listed on Nasdag.

Dr. Shi received a bachelor’s degree from North-western
Polytechnic University in July 1982, an MBA from
Lancaster University, UK in December 1990 and a PhD
degree from Middlesex University, UK in July 1995.

Mr. He Qi, aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 November
2013.

Mr. He currently is an independent non-executive director
of Evergrande Real Estate Group Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3333) since
14 October 2009. Mr. He has been serving as the deputy
secretary of the China Real Estate Association since
2006, and is the director of the training centre and
the intermediary professional committee of the China
Real Estate Association. He was an executive of the
Development Centre of the China Real Estate Association
from 1995 to 1999.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xian Yaoqiang, aged 40, was appointed as a project
general manager of the Company on 1 November 2013
and was approved by the Board to be appointed as an
executive Director of the Company with effect from 10
March 2014. Mr. Xian is responsible for the management
of the property development projects.

Mr. Xian joined Foshan Merchants Wharf Property
Development Co., Ltd in March 2008 initially as a deputy
general manager and has been working as the general
manager from February 2011 to January 2014. Mr. Xian
has been the general manager assistant of CMPD, which
is a controlling shareholder of the Company, since 13
November 2013 and has also been the general manager
of the south china regional general headquarters since 16
December 2013.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Xian worked in the
department of construction projects management of
Foshan Construction Bureau (ff|lL MR BEETRREEIE
1 from April 2005 to March 2008.

Mr. Xian graduated from South China University of
Technology with a bachelor’s degree in industrial and
civil construction engineering in July 1995 and a master’s
degree in structural engineering in April 1998. Mr. Xian
was qualified as a senior engineer in the PRC in December
2004.
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Mr. Deng Jinlei, aged 37, is responsible for the
management of the property development projects.

Mr. Deng joined Marketing Center of Shenzhen China
Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd. in February 2005 as
marketing planning manager and was subsequently
promoted to senior planning manager and marketing
director before he was redesignated to Guangzhou
Management Area as marketing director in August 2009.
In November 2010, he returned to Marketing Center of
Shenzhen China Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd. as deputy
general manager. In November 2012, he was redesignated
to Guangzhou Company as deputy general manager
and was subsequently promoted to general manager of
Guangzhou Company in January 2014.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Deng worked in World
Union Property Agency (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (B 2= B
B CEYN AR AR as Planning Department Manager from
January 2002 to December 2004.

Mr. Deng graduated from Central China University of
Science and Engineering and received a bachelor’'s degree
of plastic formation technology and equipment in July
1998 and a master’s degree of western economics from
Huazhong University of Science and Technology in January
2001. Mr. Deng finished real estate entrepreneurs MBA
course in Sun Yat-sen University in December 2011.
Subsequently, he was granted a master’'s degree of
Sociology from Nanjing University in March 2013.

Mr. Huang Qinghao, aged 38, is responsible for the
management of the property development projects.

Mr. Huang joined Construction Management Center
of CMPD in May 2005 as a structural engineer and
was subsequently redesignated to Foshan Company in
February 2008. He initially was a manager of design
and engineering department and promoted to general
manager assistant and deputy general manager. In
January 2014, he was promoted as the general manager
of Foshan Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Huang worked in Shenzhen
General Institute of Architectural Design & Research Third
Institute CRYITHRBEEZFHATICA2PE =5F) from October
2001 and October 2003 as a structural engineer. After
that, from October 2003 to May 2005, Mr. Huang worked
in Arch Engineers Design Co. Ltd (B Ti2K51AF]) as a
structural engineer.
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Mr. Huang graduated from Central South University and
was awarded a bachelor’s degree in industrial and civil
construction in June 1997. Mr. Huang was qualified as
an engineer in September 2001 and subsequently was
qualified as a first-class qualified structural engineer in
October 2005. He was awarded a master’s degree in civil
engineering from Shenzhen University in June 2006 and
qualified as an architectural construction senior engineer
in December 2007.

Mr. Jiang Tiefeng, aged 40, was appointed as a project
general manager of the Company on 1 November 2013.
Mr. Jiang is responsible for the management of the
property development projects.

Mr. Jiang joined Merchants Nanjing Real Estate in
February 2007 initially as an assistant to the general
manager and was subsequently promoted to a deputy
general manager in September 2008. He has been
working as a general manager since 27 February 2012.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiang worked in Shenzhen
China Merchants from November 2001 to October 2004
initially as an engineer and was subsequently promoted
to an assistant to the general manager. Under the
arrangement of Shenzhen China Merchants, Mr. Jiang
was sent to Shenzhen China Merchants Overseas Chinese
Town Investments Co., Ltd. (FIIBEEEBHILEERART)
to work as an assistant to the general manager from
October 2004 to February 2007.

Mr. Jiang graduated from Huazhong University of Science
and Technology with a bachelor’s degree in construction
engineering in July 1995 and graduated from Qinghua
University with a master’s degree in architectural and civil
engineering in January 2004. Mr. Jiang was qualified as a
first-class qualified structural engineer in the PRC in June
2000.

Mr. Nie Liming, aged 42, is responsible for the
management of the property development projects.

Mr. Nie joined Operations Management Center of CMPD
in August 2012 as deputy general manager and was
subsequently redesignated to a general manager of
Yuannan Company in February 2013. In October 2013,
he was redesignated as a general manager of Chongging
Company.
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Prior to joining the Group, from April 2003 to August
2006, Mr. Nie worked in Shenzhen Urban Construction
and Development (Group) Company (31T 35 32 7% A 2%
(28)/2 7)) as a general manager’s office-in-charge and
the board of directors’ office-in-charge. After that, from
August 2006 to August 2012, he acted as an officer, the
manager of the Brightness Program, and deputy general
manager of Shenzhen Special Economic Zone Real Estate
& Properties (Group) Co., Ltd. (FINEEFREME (£
B ERAE]) and the chairman of Shantou Hualin
Properties Company CIISEZEE M E E A 7).

Mr. Nie graduated from Nanjing University of Technology
and was awarded a bachelor’s degree in lifting and
transport and construction machinery in June 1994
and a master’s degree in management from Electronic
Technology University in March 2000.

Ms. Chan Wing Yan, aged 34 joined the Company on
18 June 2012 and was appointed Company Secretary
with effect from 29 June 2012 in addition to her role
as Deputy Group Chief Financial Officer and General
Manager-Finance Department of the Company. Ms. Chan
is responsible for overseeing the Company’s secretarial
functions and also assisting Mr. Yu Zhiliang in managing
accounting, monitoring internal control and overseeing
the financing activities of the Company.

Ms. Chan is a professional accountant with ten
years’ experience in various accounting, finance and
management positions. These include more than seven
years with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu to the rank of
accountant, senior accountant and manager before
taking up the position of Senior Finance Manager at
Hanergy Solar Group Ltd. immediately before joining the
Company.

Ms. Chan graduated from City University of Hong Kong
with a bachelor’s degree in accounting in July 2002. She
is a member of both Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants of the United Kingdom.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CHINA PROPERTY MARKET REVIEW

Driven by abundance of liquidity and rising of demand,
the global economy gradually got over from the Financial
Crisis gloom in 2013 and maintained a steady and
positive growth. The developed economies continued
to recover whilst the emerging markets encountered a
slowdown. The PRC economy has experienced an all-
time high growth after the country carried out reform
over more than 30 years and entered the stage of
stable development. The Central Government not only
endeavored to prevent the risks of economic downturn,
but put more emphasis on promoting economic
restructuring, improving the quality and efficiency of
economic development. It aimed to keep balance on the
measures of “steady growth, structure adjustment and
reform”.

In 2013, the PRC property market was generally stable.
The growth of all key indicators rebound. The area of
commodity housing sold in China was 1,305.51 million
sq.m. and sales amounted to RMB8,142.8 billion,
reaching the historic high level with an increase of 17.3%
and 26.3%, respectively as compared with last year.
Under the ongoing recovery of sales, the developers’
investment sentiment further boosted and the area of
newly constructed property throughout the year showed
a strong growth as well as the land area acquired.
However, the competition for land was fierce. As a result,
the land cost had been rising gradually. The changes
in the market called for transformation of the sector.
The property enterprises began to seek a new driver for
development in the new industry landscape.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group has completed the acquisition of 11 projects
in November 2013. Therefore, the restatement of
financial figures for 2012 will be needed. For 2013, the
Group recorded turnover of RMB6,927,871,000 (2012:
RMB4,362,053,000), representing an increase of 59%
as compared with last year. Profit for the year amounted
to RMB1,414,819,000 (2012: RMB1,039,805,000),
representing an increase of 36% as compared with last
year. The profit attributable to owners of the Company
was RMB458,890,000 (2012: RMB428,780,000),
representing an increase of 7% as compared with last
year. Basic earnings per share was RMB11.13 cents (2012:
RMB11.93 cents). The Group’s aggregate contracted
sales amounted to RMB7,339.8 million, representing
an increase of 16% over that of last year. Aggregate
contracted sales area was 516,755 sq.m., up 5% over
last year. The average selling price was approximately
RMB14,204 per sq.m., representing an increase of 10%
over that of last year.

The Group recorded gross profit of RMB2,802,659,000
for 2013, an increase of 15%, compared to
RMB2,441,916,000 for 2012, which was mainly
attributable to the increase in turnover. The gross profit
margin for 2013 was 40%, compared to 56% over the
same period of 2012. The decrease in gross profit margin
was primarily due to the structure of recognised items
in the year had changed, and the gross profit margins
of Jinshan Valley and Evian Water Bank projects in 2012
were 62.7% and 65.8% respectively and their recognized
revenue accounted for 83% of the total recognized
revenue in this year and the percentage was only 52% in
2013.

In 2013, projects in Foshan, Guangzhou, Chongging

and Nanjing accounted for 63%, 12%, 8% and 16%,
respectively, of the total revenue of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWmR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

As the only offshore listing platform of CMPD, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, and benefited
from the brand, goodwill and operating system which
CMPD has established over the years of cultivation, the
Group has made concerted effort to achieve fast growth
on the property development.

Property Development Business

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s current portfolio
of property development projects consists of 15 projects
in Foshan, Guangzhou, Chongging and Nanjing, with
a primary focus on the development of residential
properties, as well as residential and commercial complex
properties, products types including apartments,
villas, offices and retail shops. The saleable GFA of the
properties comprising the projects which had not been
sold or pre-sold as at 31 December 2013 (the “saleable
GFA in the future” or “land bank”) was 5,590,000 sg.m..

E 3 E)
ERARRZERRRERAMLERE— 85 LT F
B XERBROHERKSFMELNME B
BMELEREFE  KELTELHN  BHE
FEEGREREER -

Eih R EL
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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¥ OEE )
EERRER (F)
TEYRAEEER £+ BN HE0E -

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Below is a map showing the geographic locations and the
land bank of the projects of the Group in the PRC.

ChongqingE &

Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)

HE RIRAIERERTE (FHK) NanjingF =
Changjiahui Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)
=IE 1,415,371 A RRAEREEE (FI7oK)
Evian River Bank Zijinshan No. 1
I 403,234 Lo || —5 64,813
Central Park Yonghuafu
HRAE 1,157,280 FEENT 99,792
Total Total
w5t 2,975,885 st 164,605

Project  Saleable GFA in the future (sg.m.)

| RRATEREEE (FFK) GuangzhouE M

Evian ther Bank Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)
RE KR 19,671 EAR RIRA]EREEETE (FIK)
Evian Upper City Jinshan Valle

RE L 41,281 LA ’ 649,781
Evian Tianhui Huambo (note)

REXE 132,867 &1 () 101,340
Evian Xicheng Total

RERN 283,075 #5t 751,121
Shunde 1872

IgfE1872 278,942

Jin Da Square

SEES 203,278

Jivjiang

UL 293,005

Luocun

2p) 350,449

Evian Shangyuan

RE LR 200,183

Total

5t 1,802,751

(note):  Such land acquired in January 2014

24 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED

(BPEE) b = F — M4 — A e

Annual Report 2013



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREFN WD

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) FE O )
Property Development Business (continued) EibERR R (H)

In 2013, contracted sales, contracted sales area and
contracted average selling price (“ASP"”) realised by the
Group are set out in the table below:

Contracted Sales

—E-=F  AREERARAHEESE  ARE
EHERARFHEE(FHEEDRINMT :

Contracted Sales Area Contracted ASP
EREHELHE ERHERR RRTHEE
(RMB million) (sq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)
(AR¥BER) (FEHX) (AR®T/FHK)
2013 2013 2013
Project 5B —B-=K —E-Z=F —E-=f
Foshan: ALK
. Evian Water Bank . KEKE 1,018.3 84,450 12,058
Il Evian Upper City I KELH 894.4 89,926 9,946
. Evian Tianhui N KEXE 1,288.3 97,370 13,231
IV.  Evian Xicheng V. KEBH 697.2 70,948 9,827
Guangzhou: B
V. Jinshan Valley V. 2lA 907.8 30,217 30,043
Chongaing: BE:
VI.  Changjiahui V. REE 551 61,558 8,951
Nanjing: B
VIl Zijinshan No. 1 VIL %2105 458.6 23,679 19,367
VIIl. - Yonghuafu Vil EER 1,524.2 58,607 26,007
Total a3t 7,339.8 516,755 14,204

As at 31 December 2013, total GFA of the Group's 15
projects in the following 4 cities was approximately
8,930,000 sg.m. Details are as follows:

—E-ZF+-A=+—H8  SERUATIUE
T+ FLETE B R 4R R 15 498,930,000 F /5
Ko BEEERIT :
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Foshan

In 2013, contracted sales in Foshan were RMB3,898.2
million and contracted sales area was 342,694 sq.m. As
at 31 December 2013, total GFA of the Group’s projects
in Foshan reached 3,208,000 sg.m. and the saleable GFA
in the future was 1,802,000 sqg.m.

In 2013, strong sales of the Group's projects in Foshan
mainly comprise of Evian Tianhui, Evian Water Bank, Evian
Upper City and Evian Xicheng:

Evian Tianhui is a residential and commercial
complex located in Nanhai District of Foshan,
close to the Qiandenghu Park to the west with an
attractive natural environment with greenery and
lakes. The project site is conveniently adjacent to
line 1 of Foshan subway and is easily accessible by
various transportation routes;

Evian Water Bank is a high-end residential and
commercial complex located in the Shunde District
of Foshan. It is within the Dongping New City
area earmarked by the Foshan government as a
development focus, and enjoys a river view of the
Dongping River to the north. The project site is close
to a riverside park to the north and the Foshan Park
to the southeast, and also adjacent to various major
transportation routes and lines 2 and 6 of Foshan
subway;

¥KOE@

i ERREL (&)
e
—E-=F LU AREEAARE3,898.2
BEL AREEMEA342,694F K - HE
—E-ZE+-A=+—0  SERHLTNE
B 4832 fE1£3,208,000F 5K » RKAI &
SATETE/41,802,000F 77K o

—E=F EEEHLUBENEEFTERKE
KIE « REKF « KE W NRAKEER ¢

- RE 9&[7%&%&?@%5?6\%? LR R L
AR AEEETENAE - LHEX
BARE Zf%iﬁﬂ°ﬂiﬂélﬁﬁﬁ ° JAH it
BER - MEABGRIL TS — AR S
fFrRERbEAE

- KEKERSHEZREEGAE  UR
BRLERERFHFREA - REFBER
BILBRAEEEMRERRE - TARFAR
EEMERSE - BB BAT R AL H

AERENRAREOEILAR - TR

IR B B A B 98 L3 T S BR — 5% I SRAS

Photo of Evian Water Bank
WEKFHRA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Foshan (continued)

—  Evian Upper City is a residential and commercial
complex located in Chancheng District in Foshan,
with the view of the Dongping River to the south
and the Foshan Asia Arts Park to the west. The site is
also conveniently accessible by major highways and
transportation routes; and

— Evian Xicheng is a residential and commercial
complex located in Nanhai District of Foshan,
enjoying the view of Bo Ai Lake to the south.

Photo of Evian Upper City
RE LHHR A

¥ OEE @)
EtERRER (F)
L (4F)

RELWATERBELAE - LRFHL
BE - ARA R - LATEA L g
BIAE - ZURBEN  BEETESR
RN BRRAE X

EEBHAEERAEEARE - A
BEE - LTLEEBHRE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Guangzhou

In 2013, contracted sales in Guangzhou were RMB907.8
million and contracted sales area was 30,217 sq.m. As at
31 December 2013, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Guangzhou reached 1,356,000 sq.m. and the saleable
GFA in the future was 649,000 sqg.m.

In 2013, the Group’s project in Guangzhou was Jinshan
Valley, which is a high-end residential and commercial
complex located in Panyu District of Guangzhou. It is
conveniently adjacent to various major expressways in
the area and is within 15 minutes’ driving distance from
the Pearl River New City, the central business district of
Guangzhou.

¥KOE@

EihERBERKE)

& M

ZE—=F  EMzARBEEARARKE07.8H
BT ARWEEEEA30217 X - HE-Z
—=F+-A=1+—8 £EREMNTHNHEBEA
FREREITEE 1,356,000 F 53K » SRR A& AR
F&5649,000F 53 o

“E=F SEERMNEERASILA - 21l
AREREEREESAR  URNEMNERRE
MBRAZGIESERE  AEMNTHEER
EIRLHTI TN 59 A A E5E -

Photo of Jinshan Valley
SILANEBA
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Chongqing

In 2013, contracted sales in Chongging were RMB551
million and contracted sales area was 61,558 sq.m. As
at 31 December 2013, total GFA of the Group’s projects
in Chongging reached 3,973,000 sq.m. and the saleable
GFA in the future was 2,975,000 sg.m.

In 2013, the Group’s project in Chongqging was
Changjiahui, which is an upper-class multi-purpose
urban complex located at the Danzishi area in the south
central business district of Chongging, which is one of
the key developing areas. Facing the junction of Yangtze
River and Jialing River, Changjiahui enjoys a panoramic
river view and has high growth potential for property
development.

Photo of Changjiahui
REENRA

¥ E )

EthERREXKF)

BE

—E=F EEZARBEEAARESST EF%
T AREEmMEARGE1,S558F 5K c HEZ

—=%#+-A=+—81" %E@i%ﬁa’qlﬁm@
EERETEES,973,000° F K - AR AERER

f&/52,975,0005F 75 K ©

—E—=F EEEEEHENEEARE
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Nanjing

In 2013, contracted sales in Nanjing were RMB1,982.8
million and contracted sales area was 82,286 sq.m. As at
31 December 2013, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Nanjing reached 393,000 sq.m. and the saleable GFA in
the future was 164,000 sg.m.

In 2013, strong sales of the Group’s projects in Nanjing
mainly comprise of Yonghuafu and Zijinshan No. 1:

—  Yonghuafu is a residential complex located in Jianye
District of Nanjing which consists of high-rise,
middle-to large-size residential apartments; and

—  Zijinshan No. 1 is located in Qixia District of Nanjing
and close to the scenic area of Zijin mountain. The
project site is conveniently located at the line 2 of
Nanjing subway and is easily accessible by various
bus routes in the city of Nanjing.

¥KOE@

EihERBERKE)

[

—E—=F ERZARHEEAARE1,982.8
BEL ARMEmMEAS2,286F K - HEZ
T-=F+-"A=+—0 £ERERHNER
4A3E SRMAEE393,000°F 5K » KK A EEER
& 5164,000F 77K o

—T-=f - KB RAHE0E R RERER
REEIW—5 -

- FEEFNRUNEREZBERMNEETHAR
B ARE hERBFEABAEK K

- E2U-SRUREamERAAIRE L
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Photo of Zijinshan No. 1
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Land Bank

With healthy financial position, the Group made efforts
in seizing the opportunities in the land market. After
Asset Restructuring, the Group acquired five pieces of
land in total through the Company’s non wholly-owned
subsidiaries. Total land cost of the five pieces of land
was RMB7,791.1 million, total site area is approximately
646,836 sq.m. and the total saleable GFA reaches
1,887,377 sg.m. Details of each piece of land acquired
are as follows:

¥ OEE @)

T b {E
BERBENMBAN - EEESRHRL T TS
%@%A ﬁ?%@% EBEFEBRAAF IR
AN B AR EER T At - AT HAEH
1@2%/\@%%7,791.15%71 A B E AL
646,836 F 50K + 4R SR E AR 1,887,377
TR SREE L ZFBOT

Total Total Saleable

land cost site area GFA

BiE BOMEE FTEEEER

Date Location (RMB million) Sq.m. Sq.m.

HE vE ARB(BER) FITR K

November 2013 Nanhai District, Foshan City 357.4 68,072 238,252
—Z—=F+—A #RLTrERE

November 2013 Shancheng District, Foshan City 920.3 59,363 148,408
—E-=F+—A BRIl AR =

November 2013 Yubei District, Chongging City 4,010.6 402,305 1,101,426
—ZE—=F+—A sEETRILR

December 2013 Nanhai District, Foshan City 1,042.8 99,317 297,951
e #RLTrERE

January 2014 Panyu District, Guangzhou City 1,460 17,779 101,340
—E—NF—A BN SR

As at 31 December 2013, the land bank held by
the Group was approximately 5,590,000 sq.m. The
management believes that the existing land bank is
sufficient for the Company’s project development in the
coming around three years. The Group will insist on the
strategy of positive but prudent expansion and select the
quality land which is suitable for the Group’s investment.

HE_Z—=F+"A=+—H8It - £ELEE+
M #495,590,000F 52K - EREREREL
HMHEEZARCERAR=FLAZHEHE -
EECRSBGBEENERER  BEELEE
AEEREN LT -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Electronic Trading Business and Property
Related Procurement Business

In 2013, the turnover of the Group, representing the
trading of electronic and electrical products and related
components and property related procurement business,
was approximately RMB83,543,000 and recorded profit
of approximately RMB2,268,000. In the future, the Group
will balance the synergies in property related procurement
business and the main business in property development
business to determine the resources to be allocated to the
trading procurement business.

FINANCIAL AND TREASURY
MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES

As at 31 December 2013, the net assets attributable
to shareholders of the Group were approximately
RMB11,456,311,000 (2012: approximately
RMB3,375,852,000).

In November 2013, the Group completed the reverse
takeover from CMPD and placing of shares to the public.
The net proceeds was HKD1,819 million. Subsequently,
in December 2013, the Group completed the issuance of
five-year term credit enhanced bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of US$500,000,000 bearing interest rate
of 4.021% per annum (“Bond”). The rate of the Bond,
which is fixed and unchanged during its subsisting period,
bears single interest rather than compound interest and
is payable half-yearly. The Bond was listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange with effect from 12 December
2013. The fund raised from the issuance of the Bond is for
the purpose of general corporate use. On 31 December
2013, total debt of the Group was RMB7,042,741,000
(2012: RMB4,676,386,000). Bank balances and cash
was RMB6,618,086,000 (2012: RMB2,134,944,000). In
terms of maturity, the outstanding total debt (excluding
the Bonds) can be divided into RMB2,000,000,000 to
be repaid within one year and RMB2,039,358,000 to
be repaid after one year but within two years. In terms
of currency denomination, the outstanding total debt
can be divided into RMB4,039,358,000 in Renminbi and
RMB3,048,450,000 in United States dollars.
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FINANCIAL AND TREASURY
MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES (continued)

At the end of 2013, the Group’s net interest-bearing debt
to equity ratio (including non-controlling interests) (the
“net gearing ratio”) was 4% (2012: 75%). Although the
financial position of the Group is stable and the potential
financing capacity is strong, the Group will continue to
take the relatively stable financial policies and to control
the net gearing ratio on the industry average level.

The monetary assets and liabilities and business
transactions of the Group are mainly carried and
conducted in RMB, United States dollars (“USD") and
HKD. The Group maintains a prudent strategy in its
foreign exchange risk management, where foreign
exchange risks are minimized via balancing the monetary
assets versus monetary liabilities. As the Bonds were
denominated in USD, while the Group conducts its sales,
receivables, payables and expenditures in RMB for its
PRC property development business, the management
will closely monitor the volatility between RMB and USD
exchange rates and might consider hedging should the
need arises.

R RESERFEA (@)

BE_T—=FEK  ARENFTREBHER
1%%@%#?&%EM$U”ﬁE$DEM6
(ZF—ZF :75%) - BBHAREE - BER
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A

K FER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW

In 2013, the Group not only stepped on a new stage in
the contract sales, but also focused on developing abilities
in project design, construction, cost control, marketing
and customer services by adopting KPl and BSC, a double-
hundred-score assessment mechanism, which promotes
results improvement while making efforts to build up
the operating and management ability of our team so
as to ensure the Group can continue to grow healthily.
After years of experience, subsidiaries of the Group in
different cities have gradually established their core
competitiveness with own characteristics. For example,
Guangzhou Company made an effective attempt in green
property and achieved an outstanding result. Jinshan
Valley project, developed by Guangzhou Company, the
vice chairman company of Guangzhou Association of
Energy Efficiency and Technology in Building (BT
SR EgRIgKEA) and member company of
Guangzhou Low Carbon Industry Association (&M TI{E
ME e S 8 8(1), was awarded “2014 Top Ten high-
end community in Guangzhou 2014 (2014FEM+ K5
Sh4L[E@)". Foshan Company put their efforts in establishing
three core competitiveness — “Excellent Products, Quality
Services, Rapid Development” And the comprehensive
operational management capability was ranked first in
the CMPD, which was an outstanding result. Our major
sales project in 2013, Evian Xicheng, won an award in
“Yangcheng Evening News — 2013 trendy property
selection in Pearl River Delta, China” as the favorite
property on the internet (FE¥MER—2013FEFR k=
R AEER TR P LR = ARERRARER)".

Staff is a valuable asset of the Group. Thus the Group also
gives care to them to manifest the vision of "KEBE".
In 2013, the Group organized "2 FEEEFEH" to enrich the
cultural life of the staff in their free time, strengthen their
body, activate combating spirit in the team and deliver
positive energy. Also, the Group started to tell the staff’s
story, "FHEHBEANERBE" in order to spread positive
energy at all times. We launched an activity called “#E&)
—/NEF" to promote healthy lifestyle among us. We also
held various activities to show our deep care to the staff,
such as "FRIFEL”, "= \GRM", "EHXHE", "EE
EHE" "EREFHE".
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW (continued)

In addition, the Group emphasized on the corporate
social responsibility. Last year, we held "4k Az HE
", Green Love Auction "{EHRAESEeE L2 4", "4k44
A of "S£E1TH)”, an charity activity caring children with
special needs, in which the impoverished student assisting
activity “"EXB)EEE " was upgraded to a charity activity of
CMG.

EE O EEw)

Hoh - EETIECEH G EE - —ERBRT
[ EAREES] - [EREE e BOZHIZ 5
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NON-COMPETITION DEED

To minimize actual and potential competition, the Group
and CMPD entered into a deed of non-competition
dated 19 June 2013 as amended and supplemented on 4
October 2013 (the “Non-Competition Deed”), pursuant
to which (i) CMPD and its subsidiaries (excluding the
Group) (“CMPD Group”) will not compete with the
Group in the cities of Foshan, Guangzhou, Chongging
and Nanjing (“Target Cities”) except for certain operation
transitional assets (“Operation Transitional Assets”)
located in three out of the four Target Cities (“Overlapping
Target Cities”) which would be retained by CMPD Group
but managed by the Group under certain operation
agreement entered into between the Group and CMPD;
(i) the Group will not compete with CMPD in 21 other
cities in the PRC (“CMPD Cities"); (iii) and the Group will
have a right of first refusal to conduct property business
in any city in which neither CMPD nor the Group has any
property business as at the date of the Non-Competition
Deed. For details of the Non-Competition Deed, the
Overlapping Target Cities, Operation Transitional Assets
and the CMPD Cities, please refer to the section headed
“Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in the
circular of the Company dated 10 October 2013.

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed, the Company
and CMPD had carried out an annual review for the year
ended 31 December 2013 jointly the respective portfolios
of property projects of the Company and CMPD in the
Target Cities and the CMPD Cities. As a result of such
review, the Company and CMPD noted that there had not
been any material change in their respective properties
portfolios or in the geographical delineation between
the Company and CMPD and had determined that no
adjustment or amendment to the Non-Competition Deed
was necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

The independent board committee comprising all the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
had (i) reviewed the quarterly reports prepared by the
Company’s management containing latest information
on the respective property projects portfolios of CMPD
Group and the Group; (ii) carried out a review on the
implementation of and compliance with the Non-
Competition Deed by CMPD Group and the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2013; and (iii) confirmed
that the terms of the Non-Competition Deed had been
complied with by CMPD Group and the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2013.

The Group will continue focusing on developing its
property business in the four Target Cities and will select
other cities carefully for investment and development
should appropriate opportunities arise.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2014, the Group will keep on
monitoring the market and be prudent and pragmatic
against market change. We will develop in-depth in the
Target cities, namely, Foshan, Guangzhou, Chongging
and Nanjing, and will consider entering into second-
tier cities which have huge population, strong potential
economic development, such as Xian. Meanwhile, the
Group will actively explore and expand the opportunities
in the overseas market by leveraging on experience and
advantages of China Merchants Group in the overseas
development.

It is anticipated that the aggregate construction area
of property projects developed by the Group will reach
1,800,000 sg.m. with approximately 15 saleable projects
in 2014, providing an abundant supply of stock.

As the only offshore listing platform for the flagship
enterprise under China Merchants Group’s property
business, the Group will fully capitalize the experience
and resources of CMPD in project design, operation and
property management and expand its business scale
and capacity by leveraging on its function as an offshore
listing platform in order to create value to investors.
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EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND
RELATIONS

The Group remunerates the employees by reference
to their qualifications, experience, responsibilities,
profitability of the Group and current market conditions.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had 343 (2012: 342
employees in the PRC and Hong Kong) employees in the
PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group’s total expenses on salaries and allowances
(including directors’ remuneration) for the year ended
31 December 2013 was approximately RMB125,874,000
(2012: RMB128,392,000). Apart from basic salaries, fringe
benefits such as contributions to the state-managed
retirement benefit schemes and MPF scheme and group
medical insurance also offered to the employees. A
share option scheme was adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 27 September 2011
(the “2011 Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who have contributed to the success of the Group's
operations. No grants under the 2011 Share Option
Scheme were made during the year ended 31 December
2013.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESTHRE

The Directors present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for year ended
31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

On 24 April 2013, the Company (as the purchaser),
Eureka Investment Company Limited (“Eureka”) (as the
seller) and CMPD entered into the Agreement, which
was amended and supplemented on 22 September 2013,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed
to acquire, and Eureka has conditionally agreed to sell,
the Sale Shares and the Shareholder’s Loans. Through
the Acquisition, the Company will acquire Eureka’s equity
interests in eleven PRC Operating Subsidiaries, which own
and operate eleven property development projects in four
Target Cities, namely, Foshan, Guangzhou, Chongqging
and Nanjing. According to the Agreement, the
Consideration for the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares
and the Shareholder’s Loans is approximately HK$6,688
million. Subsequent to this Acquisition, the Group’s
principal activity has changed to the development, sale,
lease, investment and management of properties. Unless
otherwise indicated, capitalised terms defined here
shall have the same meanings with the circular of the
Company dated 10 October 2013.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The subsidiaries are engaged in the following
principal activities:

(i) development, sale, lease, investment and
management of properties; and

(i) sales of electronic and electrical related products and
sales of building related materials and equipment.

Details of the principal activities of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2013
and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 73 to 171.

The Board recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK$0.012 (2012: nil) per ordinary share. The final
dividend will be payable on or about Tuesday, 3 June
2014 to shareholders on the register of members of the
Company on Monday, 19 May 2014.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2013 are
set out in note 41 to the financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Directors consider that the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders comprise the
share premium and the retained profits which amounted
to RMB6,273,514,000 (2012: RMB107,162,000). Under
the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available
for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders
subject to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles
of Association and provided that immediately following
the distribution of dividend the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers were less than 30% of total purchases.

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers were less than 30% of total turnover.

As far as the directors are aware, neither the directors,
their associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules"”)), nor any shareholders which,
to the knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in
the five largest customers or suppliers.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited financial statements and restated as
appropriate, is set out on page 172. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2013 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2013 are set
out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year ended 31 December
2013 in the Company'’s share capital is set out in note 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

BONDS

Details of the bonds of the Group are set out in note 25
to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement scheme of the Group are set out in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2013 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Dr. So Shu Fai

Mr. Hu Jianxin (appointed on 1 November 2013)

Mr. Liu Zhuogen

Mr. Yu Zhiliang

Mr. Huang Peikun (resigned as Director and
Chairman from 8 August 2013)
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DIRECTORS (continued)
Non-executive Directors:
Mr. He Jianya (appointed as Director and

Chairman on 8 August 2013)
Ms. Wu Zhengin (appointed on 22 September 2013)
Ms. Liu Ning

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert

Ms. Chen Yanping

Dr. Shi Xinping

Mr. He Qi (appointed on 1 November 2013)

On the board meeting held on 7 March 2014, the Board
has approved Mr. Xian Yaogiang to be appointed as an
executive Director of the Company and Mr. Hu Jianxin
will be resigned as an executive Director of the Company,
both effective from 10 March 2014.

In accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Xian Yaogiang and Mr. He Qi will retire
at the first general meeting of the Company after their
appointment. In addition, in accordance with Article 116
of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Liu Zhuogen,
Ms. Liu Ning and Ms. Chen Yanping will retire by rotation.
All the above Directors being eligible for re-election, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to be held on 12 May 2014.

The non-executive Directors, viz. Mr. He Jianya, Ms. Wu
Zhengin, Ms. Liu Ning, Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert,
Ms. Chen Yanping, Dr. Shi Xinping and Mr. He Oi, were
not appointed on a fixed term. Their appointment are
terminable by either party giving three months’ notice. In
addition, all non-executive Directors will retire by rotation
at least once every three years in accordance with the
Company's articles of association.

The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, Ms.
Chen Yanping, Dr. Shi Xinping and Mr. He Qi pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company are
set out on pages 9 to 20 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
Appointments with the Directors are terminable by either
party giving three months’ notice. Therefore, none of
the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined
by the Company’s board of directors with reference
to the directors’ qualification, experience, job duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of
the Group and market conditions. Details of the
remunerations of the Directors and the past Directors
are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2013, the following Director had
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning in Part XV of the SFO)
which are (1) recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or
(2) required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange:
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

EERROKEBEROGZ2EZR

RE (@)

Long positions in ordinary shares of the ANTEBERZGFAE
Company
Percentage of
the Company’s
Number of issued share
ordinary capital
Name of director Nature of interest shares held EEATE
EEpnA Bt FREEREE BITRABDL
So Shu Fai Through controlled corporations (Note) 32,054,066 0.65%
#RieE BREH 2 2R E (M)

Note: These shares are held by Skill China Limited (“Skill China”). Fortune
Alliance Group Limited is entitled to exercise or control the exercise
of more than one-third of the voting power at general meetings
("control”) of Skill China. Hence Fortune Alliance Group Limited is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Skill China. Fortune
Alliance Group Limited is in turn controlled by Joint profit Limited,
which is beneficially wholly-owned by Dr. So Shu Fai, an executive
Director of the Company. Hence Dr. So Shu Fai is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Skill China. Skill China, Fortune
Alliance Group Limited and Joint profit Limited are companies
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none
of the Directors had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning in Part
XV of the SFO) which are (1) recorded in the register to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO; or (2) required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’
Interests and Short Position in Shares and Underlying
Shares” above, at no time during the year ended 31
December 2013 had rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company granted to any directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or had any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party
in which any director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
any time during the year ended 31 December 2013.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The 2011 Share Option Scheme was adopted at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 27
September 2011 for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who have contributed
to the success of the Group’s operations. No grants under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme were made during the
year ended 31 December 2013.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” in this report of the Directors,
there were no contract of significance between any
member of the Group and a controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries or contract of significance for the
provision of services to any member of the Group by a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted
as at the end of the year or during the year ended 31
December 2013.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2013, the following persons, other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had
the following interests in shares or underlying shares as
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FTERRREMALTRERS RIEE
W17 2 s

RIZB-—=F+-A=+—H BEARFRE
&7 KR RPIE 336177 B 2 s Bt e
B TIAL(EEHARBEZTHABRIN)
R SRR I P AR T

Percentage of

Number of ordinary shares held the Company’s

FREEEREE issued share

Capacity and nature Long Short capital

Name of interest position position EERDRC T

B SOREERE BE WA RABES

China Merchants Group Co., Ltd. Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
TRREEERAA mEEE RABE

CMPD Through controlled corporations ~ 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
HEE ARz RAEE

China Merchants Shekou Industrial ~ Through controlled corporations ~ 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%

Zone Co. Ltd.

BEREAIXEERLA BNz RERE

Success Well Investments Limited Beneficial interest 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%

KERERRAT] Bamfgm

Save as disclosed above and in the section “Directors’
Interests and Short Position in Shares and Underlying
Shares” above, no other person had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

CMPD, one of the controlling shareholders, via Success
Well Investments Limited, its indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, was interested in 3,646,889,329 shares,
representing approximately 74.35% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company and hence is a
connected person of the Company. Merchants Property
Management Co., Ltd., being a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CMPD, is also a connected person of the Company.
The transactions set out below which were entered into
between the Group and either CMPD or its subsidiaries
or Merchants Property Management Co., Ltd. constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company and
were subject to reporting, announcement, annual review
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements for
the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details
of such continuing connected transactions are set out
below:

(i) Trading of electronic and electrical
products and building related materials
and equipment
On 8 October 2012, GHG, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and CMPD entered into
the master procurement agreement (”Procurement
Agreement”) pursuant to which GHG may source
the electronic and electrical products and building
related materials and equipment, including but not
limited to building and renovation materials and
construction equipment and other related materials
to be sourced by GHG under the Procurement
Agreement for CMPD. Details of the terms of the
Procurement Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were set out in the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 8
October 2012 and 30 October 2012 respectively.

The annual caps approved by shareholders in an
extraordinary general meeting held on 16 November
2012 in respect of the annual maximum aggregate
value for the such continuing connected transactions
for each of the years ending 31 December 2012,
31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014
were HK$50,000,000, HK$120,000,000 and
HK$30,000,000 respectively. The total amount of
such continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2013 was HK$91,578,000
(equivalent to RMB73,134,000).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(i)

(iii)

48

Provision of project operational support
services to CMPD

On 19 June 2013, the Company entered into the
operational support service framework agreement
("Operation Agreement”) with CMPD, pursuant to
which the Group will provide project operational
support services to CMPD, including but not
limited to taking charge of land acquisition, project
development and sales. Details of the terms of
the Operation Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 19 June 2013
and the circulars of the Company dated 20 June
2013 and 10 October 2013. The agreement takes
effect on 1 November 2013.

The annual caps approved by shareholders in an
extraordinary general meeting held on 28 October
2013 in respect of the annual maximum aggregate
value for such continuing connected transactions
for each of the years ending 31 December 2013,
31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015
were RMB16,000,000, RMB34,000,000 and
RMB17,000,000 respectively. The total amount
of such continuing connected transactions was
RMB1,866,000 from 1 November 2013 to 31
December 2013.

Provision of certain property management
services to the Group

On 19 June 2013, the Company entered into the
property management framework agreement
("Property Management Agreement”) with
Merchants Property Management Co., Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CMPD, pursuant to
which Merchants Property Management Co.,
Ltd. will continue to provide certain property
management services to the Group. Details of the
terms of the Property Management Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder were set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 19
June 2013 and the circulars of the Company dated
20 June 2013 and 10 October 2013. The agreement
takes effect on 1 November 2013.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(iii) Provision of certain property management
services to the Group (continued)
The annual caps approved by shareholders in an
extraordinary general meeting held on 28 October
2013 in respect of the annual maximum aggregate
value for such continuing connected transactions
for each of the years ending 31 December 2013,
31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015
were RMB100,000,000, RMB140,000,000 and
RMB200,000,000 respectively. The total amount
of such continuing connected transactions was
to RMB2,476,000 from 1 November 2013 to 31
December 2013.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that the transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the business of
the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(ili) in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing them and on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
continuing connected transactions in respect of the
Procurement Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2013, the continuing connected transactions in respect
of the Operation Agreement and Property Management
Agreement for the period from 1 November 2013 (the
effective date of the Operation Agreement and the
Property Management Agreement) to 31 December 2013
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions Under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions
in respect of the above continuing connected transactions
and has confirmed the matters set out in Rule 14A.38
of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter will be
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange at least
10 business days prior to the bulk printing of this annual
report.
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ESTHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

In the opinion of the Board, all the above continuing
connected transactions was entered into in the manners
stated above.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2013, neither the
Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital
was held by the public as at the date of this report, being
the latest practical date prior to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report”
from pages 52 to 69.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules for the purpose of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process
and internal controls. The audit committee comprises
one non-executive director and two independent non-
executive Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has been set up with written
terms of reference in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee comprises
one non-executive Director and two independent non-
executive Directors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee has been set up with written
terms of reference in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee comprises
one non-executive Director and two independent non-
executive Directors.

AUDITORS

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu acted as auditor of the
Company since 8 October 2012. ANDA CPA Limited acted
as auditor of the Company for the period from 1 April
2009 to 31 March 2012. A resolution will be submitted to
the annual general meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as auditor.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
He Jianya
Chairman

Hong Kong
7 March 2014
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

D

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board considers that good corporate governance
of the Company is central to safeguarding the interests
of the shareholders of the Group and enhancing the
performance of the Group. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in
order to meet the rising expectations of shareholders
and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in corporate
governance.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group
has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions (“Code Provisions”) set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules with the deviations from Code
Provision A.2.1, Code Provision A.4.1 and Code Provision
A.6.7. Reasons for such deviation are given below under
appropriate heading.

THE BOARD

Board composition

The Board has in its composition a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. The Board has a balanced
mix of Directors in four executive Directors, three non-
executive Directors and four independent non-executive
Directors as at the date of this annual report.

The list of all Directors by category, name and changes
thereto during the year ended 31 December 2013 and
until the publication of this report, is set out on pages 41
to 42 under “Report of the Directors”. The biography of
the Directors are set out on pages 9 to 20 of this annual
report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed pursuant

to the Listing Rules in all corporate communications issued
from time to time by the Company.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board composition (continued)

Save for the fact that Dr. So Shu Fai beneficially owned
32,054,066 shares in the Company, to the best of
knowledge of the Directors, the Board members have no
other financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship with each other, senior management or
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Board
at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors.

The Company has received the written annual
confirmation from each independent non-executive
Director of his independence pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors to
be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Board meetings

Board meetings were held at least four times during the
year roughly on a quarterly basis. Dates for regular Board
meetings are scheduled in advance to provide sufficient
time for the Directors to prepare for. Special Board
meetings were held when necessary. Notice of meeting
was given at least 14 days before the meetings. Directors
are consulted for matters to be included in the agenda
and Board papers will be served at least three days before
the meeting.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings (continued)

There were in total eight board meetings held during the
year ended 31 December 2013. Details of the attendance
of the Board meetings held for the year ended 31
December 2013 were as follows:

BEESw)

EES2R(F)

BE-—T =Gt -A=t+-ALFErEGTT
NREEREH - EEBE-_T—=4+—47
St+-ALEErEERe Ry HEERNT

Number of meetings
attended by
alternate director/

Attendance/ Number of meetings®

Number of meetingss BRESHEZ
Name of Directors EEnS HERERRES = V8 Ve P8
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. So Shu Fai EREEIE 5/8 2/8
Mr. Hu Jianxin3 AR 11 0/1
Mr. Liu Zhuogen BlEREE 8/8 0/8
Mr. Yu Zhiliang RERKE 8/8 0/8
Mr. Huang Peikun# i A 4/4 0/4
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
Mr. He Jianya' (Chairman) BEDRE(LE) 3/4 1/4
Ms. Wu Zhengin2 RiRg it 2/2 02
Ms. Liu Ning AwL+ 8/8 0/8
Independent Non-executive Directors B IHiTE %
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert ToxEEL 8/8 0/8
Ms. Chen Yanping PR+ 8/8 0/8
Dr. Shi Xinping LEFTEL 6/8 2/8
Mr. He Qi3 fA] By A3 mnm 01

Appointed on 8 August 2013

Appointed on 22 September 2013

Appointed on 1 November 2013

Resigned on 8 August 2013

Number of meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2013
or during the tenure of the Director for such financial year (if such
Director was appointed or ceased to be a Director part way during
the financial year)

[ I CRN

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
were recorded in sufficient details of matters considered
at the meetings and decisions reached including any
concerns or dissenting views raised by the Directors. All
the minutes are kept by the company secretary and are
open for inspection at any time on reasonable notice
given by any Director.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings (continued)

Directors can access to the advice and services of the
company secretary to ensure that Board procedures and
applicable rules and regulations are followed.

In addition, all Directors are regularly updated on
corporate governance and regulatory matters. On a
continuing basis, Directors are encouraged to keep up
to date on all matters relevant to the Group and attend
briefings and seminars as appropriate. There is a guideline
for Directors to obtain independent professional advice
at the expense of the Company in the furtherance of
their duties. The Company has also arranged appropriate
liability insurance cover in respect of legal action against
its Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. He Jianya, a non-executive Director, is the chairman
of the Board. The chairman is responsible for managing
the affairs of the Board and the chief executive is
responsible for managing the day-to-day operation of the
Company's business.

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the year ended
31 December 2013, the Company had not appointed
an individual to be the chief executive officer and the
roles of the chief executive officer have been performed
collectively by all the executive Directors. The Board
considers that this arrangement allows contributions
from all executive Directors with different expertise and
is beneficial to the continuity of the Company’s policies
and strategies. Prior to the appointment of Mr. He Jianya
as a non-executive Director and chairman of the Board
on 8 August 2013, the chairman of the Board was an
executive Director, i.e., Mr. Huang Peikun, who resigned
from all such positions with effect from 8 August 2013. As
a result of the appointment of a non-executive Director
to be the chairman of the Board, the Board considers that
the Company has since 8 August 2013 complied with
Code Provision A.2.1.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Group has a formal, considerate and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new Director to the
Board. The Group has adopted a nomination procedures
and the Board, based on the criteria established, evaluate
and select candidates for the directorships.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Nomination Committee of the Board has been set up
with written terms of reference which are published on
the website of the Company. A majority of the members
of nomination committee are independent non-executive
Directors (with one non-executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors). This committee is
authorised by the Board and reviews the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes. The nomination committee identifies suitable
individual qualified to become Board members and makes
recommendation on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors if necessary,
in particular, candidates who can add value to the
management through their contribution in the relevant
strategic business areas and whose appointments will
result on the constitution of strong and diverse Board.
The meeting of the nomination committee shall be held at
least once a year or when necessary. In case any Director
resigns from the Board, reasons for the resignation will be
disclosed in the announcement.

The Company is committed to equality of opportunity in
all aspects of its business. The Board Diversity Policy was
adopted in September 2013.

Diversity of board members can be achieved through
consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to professional qualifications and experience,
cultural and educational background, race and ethnicity,
gender, age and length of service. In informing its
perspective on diversity, the Company will also take into
account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the
Nomination Committee has held two meetings and the
committee performed the following duties:

—  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; and

— to make recommendations to the Board on the

appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
Details of the attendance of the Nomination Committee
meetings held for the year ended 31 December 2013
were as follows:

REZEES@W)
BE—E-——FI-A=t—BILFERTZE
LEBRERBEEENT :

Number of meetings
attended by

Attendance/ alternate director/

Number of  Number of meetings?

Members of the meetings3 BREEHEZ

Nomination Committee REZEGHE HERE SFRE SR gRAE
Mr. He Jianya' (Chairman) B g 1 (FE) 0/1 11
Ms. Chen Yanping PRI 224 2/2 0/2
Dr. Shi Xinping SEETTEL 2/2 0/2
Mr. Huang Peikun? H I A2 171 01

1 Appointed on 8 August 2013

2 Resigned on 8 August 2013

3 Number of meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2013
or during the tenure of the Director for such financial year (if such
Director was appointed or ceased to be a Director part way during
the financial year)

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject
to re-election. The non-executive Directors and all the
independent non-executive Directors do not have specific
terms of appointment. However, all of them are subject
to the requirement to retire by rotation at least once every
3 years at annual general meetings under the Company’s
articles of association. The Board considers that the
requirement has the same effect of accomplishing the
same objective as a specific term of appointment.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the
financial performance and the internal controls of the
Group’s business operations.

In addition, the Board is charged with promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising its
affairs in a responsible and effective manner. Each
Director has a duty to act in good faith in the best
interests of the Company. The Directors are aware of their
collective and individual responsibilities to all shareholders
of the Group for the manner in which the affairs of the
Company are managed, controlled and operated.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

A Director is required to keep abreast of his
responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Group. Non-executive
Directors have the same duties of care and skill and

fiduciary duties as executive Directors.

EEZET@®

EFARTRAREAESZEMR  URKERY
REBZITR  FHABRERMALE - FFH
TEFENTEFARSTEE AREZEER
e

The functions of non-executive Directors have included
the functions as specified in the Code Provision A.6.2(a)

o (d) of the CG Code.

Details of the attendance of the Board members at
general meetings held for the year ended 31 December

2013 were as follows:

NEAG2@)ZE

BE—F

FHTEFCRERBRAELEE ATAZ TG
(d)IGRFRT51BA Z e

—=F+ A=+ HIEFERTZR
RAREPEFERBZHFFHBLT

Attendance/Number of meetingss

HERE EFERAREC

Annual General

Extraordinary

Meeting General Meeting
Name of Directors EEHNSR BRBFAE® BERFAIARE
Executive Directors HITESE
Dr. So Shu Fai ARfSHIETS + 11 1/3
Mr. Hu Jianxin3 PR ST AES 0/0 0/0
Mr. Liu Zhuogen BI=ARE A 1/1 3/3
Mr. Yu Zhiliang RERSE iVAl 3/3
Mr. Huang Peikun# S A A4 71 2/2
Non-executive Directors FEHITEE
Mr. He Jianya' (Chairman) BRI g (FE) 0/0 11
Ms. Wu Zhengin? RiRE) 2212 0/0 11
Ms. Liu Ning Bzt 11 3/3
Independent non-executive Directors BB ITESE
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FoxkiEB L iVAl 3/3
Ms. Chen Yanping PRI+ 171 3/3
Dr. Shi Xinping EERFEL 11 2/3
Mr. He Qi3 fA] ey 9 4B 3 0/0 0/0

Appointed on 8 August 2013
Appointed on 22 September 2013
Appointed on 1 November 2013
Resigned on 8 August 2013

[T SR RN

Number of meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2013

or during the tenure of the Director for such financial year (if such
Director was appointed or ceased to be a Director part way during

the financial year)
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. He Jianya and Ms. Wu Zhengin did not attend the
annual general meeting held during the year ended 31
December as they were appointed on 8 August 2013
and 22 September 2013 respectively. In addition, Mr. Hu
Jianxin and Mr. He Qi did not attend either the annual
general meeting or the extraordinary general meetings
held during the year ended 31 December 2013 as they
were appointed on 1 November 2013.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-
executive Directors and other non-executive Directors
should attend general meetings, and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders. Dr. Shi
Xinping, independent non-executive Director could not
attend the extraordinary general meeting held on 2 July
2013 due to other business engagement. However, there
were sufficient executive Directors, independent non-
executive Directors and non-executive Directors present
to enable the Board to develop a balanced understanding
of the views of the Company’s shareholders.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated functions that are necessary and
incidental to carrying out the decision of the Board or to
facilitate the day-to-day operation of the Group in the
ordinary course of business to the senior management
and divisional heads of different units.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board to senior management include execution of
business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board,
implementation of adequate internal controls and risk
management procedures, and compliance with relevant
statutory requirements and rules and regulations.
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SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO
INFORMATION

Directors are provided in a timely manner with
appropriate information in such form and of such quality
as will enable them to make an informed decision and to
discharge their duties and responsibilities as Directors of
the Company.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far
as practicable in all other cases, an agenda and
accompanying Board papers are sent in full to all Directors
in a timely manner and at least three days before the
intended date of a Board meeting.

Management is regularly reminded by the company
secretary that they have an obligation to supply the Board
and its committees with adequate information in a timely
manner to enable them to make informed decisions. The
information supplied must be complete and reliable. The
Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for making
further enquires where necessary.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are continually updated on the legal
and regulatory developments, as well as business and
market changes, to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Directors

participated in the following trainings:

EEEI

(&)

REBEE-Z-—=Ft+_A=t—HIFE =%
2B T -

Reading materials
regarding regulatory

Attending in-house
seminar(s) or

external seminar(s) on
professional skills

updates HESER 2R

Name of Directors BEERR MEEEERETNER WHERMIHEE
Executive Directors HITEF
Dr. So Shu Fai HEHEEL 4 4
Mr. Hu Jianxin3 il = v 4
Mr. Liu Zhuogen 2B iR%EE v 4
Mr. Yu Zhiliang RERKE v 4
Mr. Huang Peikun# R 4 4
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. He Jianya' (Chairman) BROAE(EE) v v
Ms. Wu Zhengin2 RiRE 2+ v v
Ms. Liu Ning EL+ v 4
Independent Non-executive Directors B/ H#77EE
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FoxiERL v 4
Ms. Chen Yanping Bt v 4
Dr. Shi Xinping EHTIHL v v
Mr. He Qi3 BEop v 4

Appointed on 8 August 2013 R-B-—=FN\ANBEEE

Appointed on 22 September 2013 RZE—=FNA-+-REZHE

Appointed on 1 November 2013
Resigned on 8 August 2013
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The respective remuneration to the Directors has been
determined by the Board taking into consideration the
recommendations made by the Remuneration Committee
with reference to their qualifications, experience, job
responsibilities, market conditions and the performance
of the Group.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Board has been
set up with written terms of reference which are
published on the website of the Company. A majority
of the members of the Remuneration Committee are
independent non-executive Directors (with one non-
executive Director and two independent non-executive
Directors). This committee is authorised by the Board and
makes recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management.

There is a formal and transparent procedure for setting
policy and procedure for fixing the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management. The
Group will gather and summarise information relating
to remuneration policy and other remuneration related
matters. The Remuneration Committee will meet at least
twice a year and consider the above information and
make recommendation to the Board and have access to
professional advice if necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the
Remuneration Committee has held four meetings and the
committee performed the following duties:

—  reviewed and approved the remuneration policy of
the Directors and senior management;

- made recommendation of directors’ fees for the
executive Directors, non-executive Directors and

independent non-executive Directors; and

—  reviewed the staff benefit policy of all directors and
senior management.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Details of the attendance of the Remuneration Committee
meetings for the year ended 31 December 2013 were as
follows:

Number of meetings
attended by alternate
director/Number of

Attendance/ meetings*
Members of the Number of meetings* BEXEEHEZ
Remuneration Committee FHEESRE HERE FERET SBRRBgBRE
Ms. Chen Yanping (Chairman)  BR¥EESZ+(FE) 4/4 0/0
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert ToxkEF L 4/4 0/0
Ms. Wu Zhengin' RikE 2+ 0/0 0/0
Mr. He Jianya? BT A2 1/2 12
Mr. Huang Peikun3 HEE A A3 2/2 0/0

1 Appointed on 22 September 2013
2 Appointed on 8 August 2013 and resigned on 22 September 2013

3 Resigned on 8 August 2013

4 Number of meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2013
or during the tenure of the Director for such financial year (if such
Director was appointed or ceased to be a Director part way during
the financial year)

DIRECTOR’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted its code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors of the Company on terms no
less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry to
all Directors, the Company confirms that all Directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2013.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities
for overseeing the preparation of the financial statements
for each financial period which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group, and of results and cash
flow for the period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2013, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting
Standards; made prudent and reasonable judgments and
estimates and have prepared the financial statements on
a going concern basis. The Directors also warrant that the
Group's financial statements will be published in a timely
manner.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING (continued)

The statement of the external auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditors’
Report” on pages 70 to 72.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group
maintains sound and effective internal controls to
safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the Group’s
assets.

The management is responsible for the Group’s system
of internal controls and the Board is responsible for
reviewing its effectiveness of the Group’s system of
internal control and its subsidiaries at least annually.
The function of reviewing its effectiveness of the
Group's system of internal control is delegated to Audit
Committee by the Board. The system will cover all
material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions. The
system of internal control is designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the
internal control of the Group. The finance department
carries out annual risk assessment on each audit area
and derives an annual audit plan according to their risk
rankings. In April 2013, the Company engaged Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu to perform a review of the internal
control system of the Group focus on the property
business. The management gave response to each item
and propose improvement planning as well. The review
report was sent to the Audit Committee and the planning
was launched as planned with positive outcome.

Such review report was submitted to the Audit

Committee. Copy of the minutes of Audit Committee
meeting will also be sent to the Board for information.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Board has been set up
with written terms of reference which are published
on the website of the Company. The Audit Committee
comprises two independent non-executive Directors
and one non-executive Director. Dr. Wong Wing Kuen,
Albert, chairman of the Audit Committee, who has the
appropriate professional qualification and experience in
financial matters as required by the Listing Rules. This
committee is authorised by the Board and is responsible
for reviewing the financial reports, internal control
principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship
with the Company’s auditors.

The Audit Committee met with the external auditors
during the year ended 31 December 2013 to discuss any
areas of concern during the audits. The Audit Committee
reviewed the interim and annual reports before
submission to the Board. The Audit Committee focuses
not only on the impact of the changes in accounting
polices and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and relevant legal
requirements.

The Audit Committee has not taken a different view
from the Board regarding the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the Company’s external
auditors.

The Company’s annual results announcement on 7 March
2014 for the year ended 31 December 2013 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Audit
Committee has held two meetings and the committee
performed the following duties:

—  meeting with the executive Directors and management
of the Company from time to time to review the
interim and annual results, the interim report and
annual report and other financial, internal control,
corporate governance and risk management matters
of the Group and making recommendations to the
Board;

— considered and discussed the reports and
presentations by the senior management and the
external auditor, with a view to ensure that the
Group’'s consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued) %ﬁiﬁg(fﬁ)
meeting with the external auditor to discuss its BONEAZBIAN GRS - DA ST o B A HA B 7%
independent review of the interim financial report WEZBIBRRAHGEEVBERR ZF
and its annual audit of the consolidated financial EEZ: &k

statements; and

- assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for — WHBIEEZEBITHA&EE WA e HE
maintaining an effective system of internal control. ZEE-

Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee #Z
meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2013  #%
were as follows:

m]n|\

E=H+-A=+-HILFERTZHF
SEeRLFLSEHABET -

\

Attendance/

Number of meetings’

Members of the Audit Committee EREEERE HERS, SRR
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman) FoxiEE T (FE) 2/2
Ms. Liu Ning E L+ 2/2
Dr. Shi Xinping SEERTFEL 2/2
i Number of meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2013 ! REE-_Z—=F+_A=1+—HIFENXEETNZ
or during the tenure of the Director for such financial year (if such WHEEEERB(NZESRTBFEERAPREZESX

Director was appointed or ceased to be a Director part way during THHEES)RITZEHRE
the financial year)

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION B B 32 B

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the REE_Z—=F+"A=+—RHLFE X2
remuneration in respect of professional services provided — FIXEENEEZ « BI=MR T SHEITAR QA FRME
by the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is  EXRIEZFHBEIIWT -

set out as follows:

(RMB’000)
(BETT)
Audit services ENZIRTE 1,771
Non-audit services IEEIZARTE 5,383

Non-audit services include the professional services IEBZREBRIFRHREER  HEBELIHE
rendered in connection with the interim report review, [ - HIEEE EEZH - NI RES
continuing connected transactions review, tax review, the — %%47 -

Assets Restructuring, internal controls assessment and the

issue of bonds.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY THE
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

Under the Code Provision A.6.4 of the CG Code, the
Board has established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for Directors and
relevant employees in respect of their dealings in the
Company’s securities. “Relevant employee” includes any
employee of the Group or a Director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the issuer, because of
such office or employment, is likely to be in possession
of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to
the Group and its securities. Having made specific enquiry
to all Relevant Employees, the Company confirms that
all Relevant Employees have complied with the written
guidelines regarding securities transactions during the
year ended 31 December 2013.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS DURING THE YEAR

By a special resolution passed at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 2 July 2013, certain
amendments had been made to the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company. For details of the
amendments, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 10 June 2013.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

The Company is committed to pursue active dialogue
with shareholders as well as to provide disclosure
of information concerning the Group’s material
developments to shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders.

Annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company
serves as an effective forum for communication between
shareholders and the Board. Notice of the AGM together
with the meeting materials are despatched to all
shareholders not less than 21 days and not less than 20
business days prior to the AGM.

FRREETESRXRS

REBEEEATIZTRREACAK EF
SENEEREHESETARABERRHNE
i E TBENMRESTRIZIES] - [BEREEER |85
AEBTRERBEITAMNBRARHZERARZ
EEEE - FZBI XM s 2 ERARE
BREBSERIARANMEREHBRER - €82
BEMERETHEENR  ARFER
FRRERHE-_ZT—=F+-A=+—HILF
E—EETARERR S 2 EMES| -

-

FRETERNH

R-Z—=FE A BBITNARRREREFRA
g LBERIREERE - AARRNEBEREAN
KA A TIER] - BRERFERINFE - 3
SHEARRRPR-ZF—=FXATRAZENK -

e SRAER
ARABABRARABER MG - LR
R RAEREMESRAARBENAEEE
RBROER -

ARANEFBFAS ([BRRAFAE )RR
REEgRFE—EFRNERTE - RRBFK
FATEREZENIN ARBERBSERNEAHT T
PR2VB R DR20EEEAFHTREAR

=5} BHERBEMARAT 67



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

D

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

The chairman of the Board and of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
or in their absence, other members of the respective
Committees, are invited to the AGM to answer questions
from shareholders. External auditors are also invited to
attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

The Company’s last AGM was held on 26 April 2013
at 11:30 a.m. at Golden Dynasty Court, Macau Jockey
Club, Hong Kong Club House, 3/F, Shun Tak Centre,
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong. All the resolutions
proposed at that meeting were approved by shareholders
of the Company by poll. Details of the poll results are
available under the “Announcements and Notices”
section of the Company’s website at http://ir.cmland.hk.

Vote of shareholders at general meeting will be taken
by poll in accordance with the Listing Rules, unless
otherwise required and permitted. Detailed procedures
for conducting a poll will be explained to the shareholders
at the inception of general meeting to ensure that
shareholders are familiar with such voting procedures.
Separate resolution will be proposed by the chairman
of general meeting in respect of each substantial issue.
The poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange on the same business
day of the general meeting.

Pursuant to the Bye-Laws of the Company, an
extraordinary general meeting can be convened on the
written requisition of any two or more members holding
in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of the paid
up capital of the Company as the date of the deposit
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. Such requisition must state the objects of the
meeting and must be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the office of the Company.
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ERERBME

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

The Group should announce its annual results and interim
results in a timely manner before the time limits set out
in the Listing Rules. Separate resolutions are proposed
at the annual general meetings on each separate
issue, including the election of individual Directors. In
addition, procedures for demanding a poll at the annual
general meeting will also be included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with this report.

The Group maintains a website of http://ir.cmland.hk which
enables shareholders of the Company, investors and the
general public to access to the information of the Group
on a timely basis. Financial information and all corporate
communications of the Group are made available on the
Group’s website and updated regularly.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar: Tricor Tengis Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury
Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong (which will
be relocated to Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong with effect from 31 March 2014).

Other enquiries or comments raised by any shareholder
can be by one of the following means:

By mail to: Room 1701, 17/F., China Merchants
Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong

By email to: ir@cmland.hk

By phone to: (852) 3976 5300

By facsimile to:  (852) 2116 0057
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZRENHRE

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS TONIC

INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS LIMITED)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Merchants Land Limited (formerly known as Tonic
Industries Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 73 to 171, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B 2 RENHRE

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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B ZRENHRE

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
as at 31 December 2013, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

7 March 2014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GelEmRkEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=F1_A=1—HIFE

2013 2012
—E—= —E——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt ARETR ARBT T
(restated)
(&31)
(Note 2)
(Bet2)
Revenue g 6 6,927,871 4,362,053
Cost of sales $HE KR (4,125,212) (1,920,137)
Gross profit EA 2,802,659 2,441,916
Other income HAbUA 8 106,387 36,209
Net foreign exchange gains bE 5 55 73,593 6,457
Selling and marketing expenses SHE RS H (131,253) (119,953)
Administrative expenses THEH (89,235) (45,158)
Finance costs RN 9 (85,596) (65,232)
Profit before tax & B BT % ) 11 2,676,555 2,254,239
Income tax expense FS T2 10 (1,261,736)  (1,214,434)
Profit for the year R R T 1,414,819 1,039,805
Other comprehensive (expense) HEamEm () mA
income
Item that may be reclassified HigrEshoEEEn
subsequently to profit or loss: HIERE :
Exchange differences arising on REEFEZERZER
translation (1,518) 4,603
Profit and total comprehensive REEmF R 2 mM AR
income for the year 1,413,301 1,044,408
Profit for the year attributable to: ARATEEREEREF
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE ZEDN 458,890 428,780
Non-controlling interests FEEAR M 2 955,929 611,025
1,414,819 1,039,805
Profit and total comprehensive AR AT EEARNEE & R
income for the year attributable to: 2 EU A 4258 -
Owners of the Company NABEB A 457,372 433,383
Non-controlling interests JEIERRRERS 955,929 611,025
1,413,301 1,044,408
Earnings per share FhR&ET
Basic (RMB cents) EAR(AREAL) 14 11.13 11.93
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

wr e MR R R 2R

At 31 December 2013
R-FE—=F+=-H=+—H

At 31 December At 1 January
W+=A=+—-8 R—A—H
2013 2012 2012
—E—=fF T —T——F
Notes ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
23 ARETT ARBTT ARBTL
(restated) (restated)
(E71)) (&%)
(Note 2)
(Hr#2)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BREMRE 15 31,242 12,392 13,378
Investment properties REYHE 16 22,281 34,359 36,065
Goodwill Bk 17 160,210 160,210 =
Deferred tax assets FEEFRIEEE 18 362,020 298,240 139,470
Other receivables H A pE U IB 20 888,950 1,328,584 1,157,770
1,464,703 1,833,785 1,346,683
CURRENT ASSETS WEEE
Properties for sale At E 19 15,188,406 15,212,165 12,349,946
Deposit paid for acquisitions of KEE L E RS
land use rights 3,019,783 - -
Trade and other receivables % K CH (b RIS R E 20 1,704,386 3,789,730 1,591,327
Tax recoverable CIEEE 165,587 312,410 87,056
Restricted bank deposits SRREIB TR 21 = 14,704 12,475
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LR 21 6,618,086 2,134,944 1,663,365
26,696,248 21,463,953 15,704,169
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEEE
Deposits received in respect of BEEMEES
pre-sale of properties 5,886,447 5,996,707 4,285,419
Deposit received for partial B HE—K
disposal of a subsidiary MEBARES 160,830 = =
Trade and other payables Er &L ANE/ ¢ 22 3,252,384 7,172,861 4,645,047
Loans from equity holders EaniEEAER
— due within one year —R—F A3 23 - 4,794,164 4,175,820
Tax payable e[S 1A \ 258,849 543,707 124,669
Bank and other borrowings RITNEMEE
— due within one year — A —FRNEH 24 2,000,000 101,000 -
11,558,510 18,608,439 13,230,955
NET CURRENT ASSETS FEBEEZE 15,137,738 2,855,514 2,473,214
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERREBERE
LIABILITIES 16,602,441 4,689,299 3,819,897
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3F/)|u§JE{§
Loans from equity holders HEEANER
- due after one year — A — 1R IR 23 339,358 1,169,960 1,169,960
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE
- due after one year —N—F £ F|HA 24 1,700,000 109,351 -
Bonds payable — due after one year [Ef{E% — A —F 14 5|5 25 3,003,383 - -
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEEE 18 103,389 34,136 15,022
5,146,130 1,313,447 1,184,982
NET ASSETS EESE 11,456,311 3,375,852 2,634,915
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B IR R 2R

At 31 December 2013
R-FE—=F+=-HA=+—H

At 31 December At 1 January
R+=HA=+—~ Mm—HA—H
2013 2012 2012
—EB-=F —T——F —T——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
Kzt ARBTT ARETT ARETT
(restated)
(&%)
(Note 2)
(Hizt2)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRf#EiE
Issued equity BEITIRA 26 39,132 8,710 366,783
Reserves it 5,178,158 1,414,740 497,088
Equity attributable to owners of ZRA TG AFE(GREZ
the Company 5,217,290 1,423,450 863,871
Non-controlling interests JEPERAL RS 39 6,239,021 1,952,402 1,771,044
TOTAL EQUITY FEREEE 11,456,311 3,375,852 2,634,915

The consolidated financial statements on pages 70 to 171
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 7 March 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR
EF

FIENTENEEMBREABETEN_F
—OF=A L BRERREZETRATESERE

BE

DIRECTOR

EZ
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

TEERZER
I N = | ﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2013
HE—F—=FF+-HA=1—HIFE

Attributable to equity owner of the Company

KAREREE AR
Issued equity
BRARA
Non-
Share Other Share Other Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital capital  premium  reserves reserve profits Total interests equity
B  Ethx  RGEE RbRE  ENXRE  REEN & FERER  ERAE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARMTT ARETT ARETR
(note 26) (note i) (note i)
(Hyit26) (Hiiti) (Hyiti)
At 1 January 2011 (restated) R-E—&—F—H(&5) 8,710 358,073 - - - 236,468 603,251 1,152,255 1,755,506
Profit and total comprehensive  EREF RirAFIEARE
income for the year (restated) (E51) - - - - - 260,620 260,620 618,789 879,409
At 31 December 2011 (restated) R -E——4%+-F=1-H
(E5) 8,710 358,073 - - = 497,088 863,871 1,771,044 2,634,915
Profit and total comprehensive ~ ERREFREATIEAE
income for the year - - - - 4603 428,780 433383 611,025 1,044,408
Effect of Acquisition (as defined W5/ 2 (F% BMisH2)
in note 2) (note 27) (Hi#27) = = - 161,196 - - 161,196 - 161,196
Dividend declared BERRE - - - - - (35,000) (35,000)  (429,667)  (464,667)
At 31 December 2012 (restated) H=F——%+-F=1—H
(E5) 8,710 358,073 - 161,196 4,603 890,868 1,423,450 1,952,402 3,375,852
Profit and total comprehensive  FREFREFATIEAE
income for the year - - - - (1,518) 458,890 457,372 955,929 1,413,301
Capital injection by holding BRARTE
company - 62,456 - - - - 62,456 - 62,456
Effect of Restructuring ERYE (T RME330))
(as defined in note 33(ii)) - - - (739,801) - - (739,801) - (739,801)
Acquisition of assets through BRNE-FHEAA
acquisition of a subsidiary WiEEE(Hr728)
(note 28) - - - - - - - 4,532 4,532
Effects of the Transaction 2572 (E25ME)
(as defined in note 2) - (420,529) 61,158  (1,823,590) - - (2,182,961) - (2,182,961)
Arising from the Transactions REHEE(RERME)
(as defined in note 2)
~issue of placing shares, netof ~ —Z{TERERL -
transaction costs HBZ SRR 7,451 - 1,480,361 - - - 1,087,812 - 1,487,812
- issue of consideration sharesto ~ — R A EZST
holding company RERH 2,97 - 4,685,991 - - - 4,708,962 - 4,708,962
Capital injection by non-controlling  FEEREZHEATE
equity holders - - - - - - - 3,470,158 3,470,158
Dividend declared (note 13) BERREHZ13) = = = = = = - (144,000)  (144,000)
At 31 December 2013 R=F-=%+-A=1-A 39,132 - 6,227,510 (2,402,195) 3,085 1,349,758 5217,290 6,239,021 11,456,311
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F——F+=A=+—HIFE

Notes:

(i) Included in retained profits of RMB48,197,173 (2012:
RMB29,215,000) represents statutory reserve of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC. According to the relevant laws in the
PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required
to transfer their net profit after tax, as determined under the PRC
accounting regulations, to a non-distributable reserve fund before
the distribution of a dividend to equity owners. Such reserve fund
can be used to offset the previous years’ losses, if any, and is non-
distributable other than upon liquidation.

(ii) The other reserves comprise of:

(i) the Deemed Consideration (as defined in note 27) at the
date of Completion of Acquisition (as defined in note 2) as
deemed contribution from Success Well (as defined in note 2);

(ii) the consideration of the Sales Shares (as defined in note 2) as
deemed distribution to Success Well;

(i)  the difference between (i) the consideration of the
Restructuring (as defined in note 33(ii)); and (ii) the paid-
up capital of the entities of the Target Group contributed by
Eureka (as defined in note 1) at the date of Restructuring,
deducted by the share capital and share premium of the
Company at the date of Restructuring.

ikt -

(@)

(i)

REBBEFIARKE48197173 0 (=T ——F : ARK
29,215,0007T ) A1 R Bl Bk 37 /) T B8 2 B 005 TE b s o
RIEPBIABREAER - RPEMIINEBECE M
FAAD KR SA/EEERBEEFIFRRPE SR
BT E) ET A DB HEES - ARMREES A AIELR
HBAFENEBR(NE) » BRIEHIES - TRIZH
EES BTN

HifEFHEE !

(i) REBTRBEH(ERRME2)  RERE(ER
RHE27) GIERRE(ER R E2)HTE -

(i) SHERODABCERRMWZE2)  BEAKENE

(i)  REMEBH () BEHKREERRME33G))
i) = (EBRRMFN) A EZEENEEEE
MBEHBR AR ZZMBNEHB BARBRRE

R EE o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

2013 2012
—E-=F —T——fF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETRE ARETT
(restated)
(&%)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Profit before tax R 5 Rl v A1) 2,676,555 2,254,239
Adjustments for: &R R
Depreciation of property, Yz - BB MERETE
plant and equipment 2,199 2,290
Depreciation of investment REERE
properties 511 1,706
Interest expenses FERXZ 85,596 65,232
Reversal of written down on A4 S B ) SEMUR B )
properties for sale (154,000) (28,000)
Loss on write off of property, WEEZE - BE RS
plant and equipment E] 6 6
Gain on disposal of investment HEMEKEHR
properties (43,213) -
Interest income FEMA (33.629) (28,553)
Unrealised net foreign exchange FIRE W R FRE
gains (69,028) (6,593)
Operating cash flows before EBEECEFHANLCERS
movements in working capital mE 2,464,997 2,260,327
Decrease (increase) in properties Al E Y (3 h0)
for sale 1,016,793 (2,614,946)
Increase in deposit paid for W BE T b R REFT T i &
acquisition of land use rights 340 (3,019,783) -
Decrease (increase) in trade and 278 K HoAth FE UG R IE R
other receivables (3Z40) 16,403 (151,588)
Decrease (increase) in restricted KR ST BT SR B8R 1T 1T
bank deposits for operating use SR A (32 ) 14,704 (2,229)
(Decrease) increase in deposits BlrEEYEZe ORL)
received in respect of pre-sale of 1
properties (110,260) 1,711,288
(Decrease) increase in trade and ¥ R EAMEAFIECRK L)
other payables 140 (1,006,074) 1,938,353
Cash (used in) generated from KE(ER) SRS
operations (623,220) 3,141,205
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BT B 2T (695,748) (348,541)
Land appreciation tax paid BT I EF (561,916) (249,468)
Interest received BB 33,629 28,553
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM RETHFERA)MBRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES FEE (1,847,255) 2,571,749
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

meaRieRER

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

2013 2012
—E-=F —E—_F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREBTRT AREBTT
(restated)
(&%)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Net repayment from (advance to) —RAMERAEER ([ —
an intermediate holding company KA /MERA TEAR) F5E 2,976,667 (1,767,760)
Proceeds received on disposal of Hj’%TQE#%%ﬁﬁ 15
investment properties A 54,780 -
Repayment from (advance to) fellow [EZ&HEBA ﬁ?ﬂ(rﬂlﬁ%
subsidiaries M AR 2R 555 (3,625)
Net cash inflow arising from the WiiE (B R M aE2) e A&
Acquisition (as defined in note 2) BERAFHE 27 = 7,061
Net advance to non-controlling RIS E BN A FEIE A iE 2
equity holders of subsidiaries of FEABFERE
the Group (376,605) (427,823)
Acquisition of assets through TS — R E A R
acquisition of a subsidiary BE 28 (103,852) -
Purchase of property, plant and HBEYE  HEKRE
equipment (1,299) (1,214)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) RETHFEB(ERREFE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 2,550,246 (2,193,361)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

2013 2012
—E—=F —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR%KTT
(restated)
(&%)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEES
New bank and other borrowings HESRTREMEER
raised 3,700,000 210,351
Proceeds from issue of bonds, BATEA TSR
net of transaction costs kR %WK 3,061,721 -
Proceeds from issue of shares 1T FT1S FRIE 1,487,812 -
Capital contributed by non- K’EIWE GIE= 2
controlling equity holders BAEANTE
of subsidiaries of the Group 1,032,476 136,440
Deposit received for partial disposal HE—RHE A FEHH)
of a subsidiary [REgER N 160,830 -
Advance from immediate holding DSEIEEE3 UNCIE-E
company 1,621 2,433
Net (repayment to) advance from (AR MIERR R BIER) KRB
intermediate holding companies CP)/T? I @/NCIEOE=E
SRR (3,848,498) 391,289
Net repayment to non-controlling ﬁ$’$ B B8 & A FEFEAR
equity holders of subsidiaries B NERFRE
of the Group (585,996) =
Consideration paid to holding RIRZ 5 (EERME2)
company under the Transaction ﬁﬂ@ﬂﬁ’&ﬁjﬁiﬁﬁ{g
(as defined in note 2) (593,983) =
Bank borrowings repaid EIRRITEE (210,351) (17,029)
Interest paid 2RFLE (201,716) (284,505)
Dividend paid to non-controlling B BB A TR
equity holders of subsidiaries BHFFEARNRE
of the Group (144,000) -
Dividends paid BRIRE (8,167) (351,500)
(Repayment to) advance from (MERMBARER)RE
fellow subsidiaries CES = NGIE-E A (6,015) 3,303
(Repayment to) advance from a (MIARAIREER) KA
shareholder of the Company VNN S R (4,054) 4,054
Repayment to immediate holding MEEERARIER
company (4,054) =
NET CASH FROM FINANCING METBEREFHE
ACTIVITIES 3,837,626 94,836
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERERBRESEBEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS R 4,540,617 473,224
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HF#{HRERZRBRELEE
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,134,944 1,663,365
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXREHE
changes (57,475) (1,645)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HFX&RELKRZERIRLER -
AT THE END OF THE YEAR, BIRTTAEMR IR S
represented by bank balances
and cash 6,618,086 2,134,944
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GENERAL

China Merchants Land Limited (formerly known as
Tonic Industries Holdings Limited) (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to
as the “Group”) is incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as a limited liability company and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding and the principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in note 38.

On 24 April 2012, a sales and purchase agreement
was entered into between Success Well Investments
Limited (“Success Well”) and Skill China Limited
(“Skill China”) in connection with the acquisition
of approximately 66.18% of the aggregate issued
share capital of the Company. On 27 April 2012,
a sales and purchase agreement was entered into
between Success Well and Greatest Mark Limited
("Greatest Mark”) in connection with 4% of the
aggregate issued share capital of the Company
(the above said acquisitions hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition
was completed on 7 May 2012 (the “Completion”)
and after the Completion, the Company’s immediate
holding company became Success Well, which is a
limited liability company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and is indirectly wholly-
owned by Eureka Investment Company Limited
(“Eureka”), which became the intermediate holding
company of the Company. Eureka is directly owned
by China Merchants Property Development Co.,
Ltd. (“CMPD"), which is established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange Limited and Singapore
Stock Exchange Limited. The ultimate holding
company of the Company became China Merchants
Group Limited (“CMG"). CMG is a PRC enterprise
regulated and directly managed by the State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of the State Council and CMG is owned and
controlled by the PRC government.

—RE#
AEREMARAR(RERNERIZERE
RAR)([ARA] - EREMEAR - 5
MIAKE ) ARRASESEMKRILZBER
NE - EBROREBEBBAXIMERAT
([BERZ P 1) ER BT > AR B 2 MRS
BREIBEXMHNFERIAREMN |~
FIREE o

AREIZ EBEKAREER  EWRBAR
Al EBEBH NS -

MN-ZTE——FPF-+MAE  REERE
BRABI(TKE]) REEBR AR ([E
B RKREBARREHTRABLIEL
66.18% 7]V B Eifjik - KT —_FMA
—++H -+ K= Greatest Mark Limited
([ Greatest Mark )i AR B Z 4% A HE#
TRAFTLEBE & ( LA TRES
[BE ) - WER —T——FHA+AX/K
(T5ER ) REKE @ AR ZEEER
PEIBKE  HEREBELHEE ([ KB
BZEE)FMEZBRARITHAKA
ARRZHENER AR ZIHRREEER
RAF([IhEl) AE2EHEE - hazHE
R EERROER AR ([BEHE])
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GENERAL (continued)

Prior to the Acquisition, Skill China was the
immediate and ultimate holding company of the
Company.

MERGER ACCOUNTING AND
RESTATEMENTS

The Group accounts for all its business combinations
involving entities under common control using
the principles of merger accounting. On 24 April
2013, the Company (as the purchaser), Eureka (as
the seller) and CMPD entered into an agreement,
which was amended and supplemented on 22
September 2013, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to acquire, and Eureka has
conditionally agreed to sell: (i) 50% of the issued
share capital of Harpen Company Limited (“Harpen”)
and all the issued share capital of Converge Holdings
Limited (“Converge”), Sino Action Investments
Limited (“Sino Action”) and Happy City Investments
Limited (“Happy City”) (hereinafter, collectively
referred to as the “Sales Shares”) from Eureka, and
(i) the shareholder’s loans outstanding and owing
by each of Harpen, Converge, Sino Action and
Happy City (“Shareholder’s Loans”) (hereinafter,
Harpen, Converge, Sino Actions and Happy City
and their subsidiaries are collectively referred
to as the “Target Group”). The consideration
is approximately RMB5,302,945,000, including
approximately RMB2,182,956,000 for the Sales
Shares and approximately RMB3,119,989,000 for
the Shareholder’s Loans. To satisfy the consideration,
the Company issued new shares at issue price
of HK$2.05 per share, of which 2,897,028,703
consideration shares were issued to the seller for
aggregate consideration of HK$5,938,909,000
(equivalent to RMB4,708,962,000) and 939,760,297
placing shares were issued to new investors for
aggregate consideration of HK$1,926,509,000
(equivalent to RMB1,527,529,000) of which
proceeds from issuance of 365,428,529 placing
shares amounting to RMB593,983,000 was utilised
to settle the consideration. The details of the
transaction was set out in the Company’s circular
dated 10 October 2013 (the “Transaction”). The
Transaction was completed on 1 November 2013.
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MERGER ACCOUNTING AND
RESTATEMENTS (continued)

As the Company and its subsidiaries (before
the completion of the Transaction, hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Existing Group”) and
the Target Group are under the common control of
Eureka both before and after the Transaction and
Eureka’s control of the Company and Target Group
is not transitory, the Transaction is considered as
combination of business under common control
and accounted for under merger basis. In applying
merger accounting, the Existing Group is deemed
to have been acquired at the date of Completion
and the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the following bases:

(i) The assets and liabilities of the Target Group
are recognised and measured at their carrying
amounts;

(i) The identified assets and liabilities of the
Existing Group are recognised and measured
initially at their fair values on the date of
Completion; and

(iii) The comparative figures presented in these
consolidated financial statements are restated
to include the Target Group for the whole of
the year ended 31 December 2012.

A EREY (@)
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MERGER ACCOUNTING AND
RESTATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing these consolidated financial statements,
the acquisition method of accounting is applied to
account for the acquisition of the Existing Group
under the Acquisition. In applying the acquisition
method, the consideration of the Acquisition paid
by Success Well is the deemed consideration paid
to acquire the Existing Group as at the date of
Completion. The separately identifiable assets and
liabilities of the Existing Group recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position were
at their fair value as at the date of Completion.
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Existing
Group was recognised as at the date of Completion.
The results of the Existing Group are consolidated
to the Company’s consolidated financial statements
from the date of Completion. Further details of the
Acquisition are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Upon the completion of the Transaction, the
functional currency of the Company has changed
from Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$"”) to Renminbi
("RMB") as the primary economic environment
of the Company changed to a PRC business
environment. Following the change of functional
currency of the Company, the Company changed the
presentation currency of its consolidated financial
statements from HK$ to RMB. The directors of the
Company are in the opinion that this could simplify
the financial reporting process and it could provide
users with more comparable information with other
companies in similar industries. Comparative figures
have been restated in RMB.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

The Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the
first time in the current year:

FER I RASER] B R M H]R
SR (ERMBREER L)

RAEE  AEBCERERTIEES
R AE(TEEEEI AR ) B ZHET
NMEIERT BBV MRS ER

Amendments to Annual improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2009-2011 cycle
Amendments to Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets
HKFRS 7 and Financial Liabilities
Amendments to Consolidated Financial Statements,

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11

and HKFRS 12

Joint Arrangements and Disclosure of
Interests in Other Entities: Transition
Guidance

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in Other Entities
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

HKAS 19 Employee Benefits

(as revised in 2011)

HKAS 27

(as revised in 2011)

HKAS 28

(as revised in 2011)

Amendments to
HKAS 1
HK(IFRIC) - Int 20

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive Income
Stripping Costs in the Production Phase
of a Surface Mine
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
Except as described below, the application of the
new and revised HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impact of the application of HKFRS 10
HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
that deal with consolidated financial statements
and HK(SIC) Int-12 Consolidation — Special
Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 changes the definition
of control such that an investor has control over an
investee when a) it has power over the investee,
b) it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and c) has
the ability to use its power to affect its returns. All
three of these criteria must be met for an investor
to have control over an investee. Previously, control
was defined as the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. Additional guidance
has been included in HKFRS 10 to explain when an
investor has control over an investee. Some guidance
included in HKFRS 10 that deals with whether or not
an investor that owns less than 50% of the voting
rights in an investee has control over the investee is
relevant to the Group.

The directors of the Company made an assessment
as at the date of initial application of HKFRS 10 (i.e.
1 January 2013) as to whether or not the Group
has control over those 50% owned subsidiaries
in accordance with the new definition of control
and the related guidance set out in HKFRS 10. The
directors of the Company concluded that it has
control over those subsidiaries as the Company has
the power to cast the majority of votes at meetings
of the board of directors of those subsidiaries
that has the ability to affect the returns of these
subsidiaries. Details of the particulars of subsidiaries
of the Company are disclosed in note 38.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance
for fair value measurements and disclosures about
fair value measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is
broad. The fair value measurement requirements of
HKFRS 13 apply to both financial instrument items
and non-financial instrument items for which other
HKFRSs require or permit fair value measurements
and disclosures about fair value measurements,
except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements
that have similarities to fair value but are not fair
value (e.g. net realisable value for the purposes of
measuring inventories or value in use for impairment
assessment purposes).

HKFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or
most advantageous) market at the measurement
date under current market conditions. Fair value
under HKFRS 13 is an exit price regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. Also, HKFRS 13
includes extensive disclosure requirements.

HKFRS 13 requires prospective application from
1 January 2013. In addition, specific transitional
provisions were given to entities such that they need
not apply the disclosure requirements set out in the
standard in comparative information provided for
periods before the initial application of the standard.
In accordance with these transitional provisions, the
Group has not made any new disclosures required
by HKFRS 13 for the 2012 comparative period (see
note 31 for disclosure). Other than the additional
disclosures, the application of HKFRS 13 has not had
any material impact on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income”
The amendments to HKAS 1 introduce new
terminology for the statement of comprehensive
income and income statement. Under the
amendments to HKAS 1, a “statement of
comprehensive income” may be renamed as a
“statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income” and an “income statement” is renamed as
a "statement of profit or loss”. The amendments to
HKAS 1 retain the option to present profit or loss
and other comprehensive income in either a single
statement or in two consecutive statements.

In addition, the amendments to HKAS 1 require
items of other comprehensive income to be grouped
into two categories: (a) items that will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (b)
items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss when specific conditions are met. Income
tax on items of other comprehensive income is
required to be allocated on the same basis — the
amendments do not change the option to present
items of other comprehensive income either before
tax or net of tax. The amendments have been
applied retrospectively, and hence the presentation
of items of other comprehensive income has been
modified to reflect the changes.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new
and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Amendments to Annual improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2010-2012 cycle?
Amendments to Annual improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2011-2013 cycle?
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments?
Amendments to Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 and Transition Disclosures3

Amendments to Investment Entities!
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 27
Amendments to Defined Benefit Plans:
HKAS 19 Employee Contributions?
Amendments to Offsetting Financial Assets and
HKAS 32 Financial Liabilities'
Amendments to Recoverable Amount Disclosures for
HKAS 36 Non-Financial Assets!
Amendments to Novation of Derivatives and Continuation
HKAS 39 of Hedge Accounting’
HK(IFRIC) - Int 21 Levies'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014, with earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014,
except as disclosed below. Early application is permitted.

3 Available for application — the mandatory effective date will
be determined when the outstanding phases of HKFRS 9 are
finalised.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July

2014, with limited exceptions.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of other HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the results and the financial positions of
the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FESHE

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or
value in use in HKAS 36.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEE:BE @)
(continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair o - BB BmEmME - AFEFEERA

value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

e Llevel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the
voting rights of the investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give
it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in the
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

e  potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the period are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FE€:BZE (@)

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transaction
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

mEEEE)
BEREMGEERANSEBE SR T
RAREE A RIEIERR R o B AR
RAEWABRESE T ARBIHES A RIEE
PR - BI(E I R B BRI R R A
LR EE -

HEARNHBRRENEREBRT 1
HEE - BEE G H R E B R
B ER B -

FEBRASERERNFTNEEREE
WA AIXERRESRENRHER
AR A RREUR -

EBEH

W R IR E AR - MERKA Gt 1
REEZF AR FEFE - A FEURAE
BFEREE  BASKERERET Z Al
BEEARMELENAENRANE B RBEUK
W mEslEmETHREZKRERR
FEAEMHE - BKBEHENKAENE
AR R o

RUEEER  ERBHARAIEE  BER
AEENRBEREQTETIARER ET
5178 B BR5

e EEHMBEEXREBERERERNZ
BHEHNEEXRENIRETES
SHERFE 2RI AEH | REB G E
AF 195 R B BH IR NATE

—T=HFF% BERBMERAT 93



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A R R P

For the year ended 31 December 2013

BE-F-=FE+-A=t—AULFE

94

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-
based Payment” at the acquisition date; and

e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” are measured in accordance with
that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-
assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Merger accounting for business
combinations involving entities under
common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements items of the combining
entities or businesses in which the common control
combination occurs as if they had been combined
from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the
controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or
businesses are consolidated using the existing book
values from the controlling party’s perspective.
No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill
or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over cost at the time of
common control combination, to the extent of the
continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income includes the results of
each of the combining entities or businesses from
the earliest date presented or since the date when
the combining entities or businesses first came
under the common control, where this is a shorter
period, regardless of the date of the common
control combination. The comparative amounts in
the consolidated financial statements are presented
as if the entities or businesses had been combined
at the end of the previous reporting period or when
they first came under common control, whichever is
shorter.

FESHEE @)

PREBZEHBERBNELSHNE G
gFHE

i? PRI BEHLERRERSHOS

HEBAXBNYBHRRIAR - BUZE
HE BAHERIERE R IER 7
EREEAHEE -

EHRELREMERARBNEEFES
I%\Jﬁﬁlf&ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬂ\ﬁﬁ o FEE
%lJEE’\W?éﬁﬁ SENBERT - TERHEX
Al i‘*‘%w/\ﬁﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁfﬁ%&ﬂ&ﬁ%ﬁmTE%%
Jé? BERRABER T EFRENE
SRBKANERERETMSHE

SREREMEAKRAEREESAHE
HEBEM2I T RS HERSK
F%mx/\ﬂ&%ﬂEIHHLAPK(LAHHF?fﬁ
%E)E’Jﬁﬁ Tim A RE %U/\{#E’JEI

Hﬂft%{k?ﬁ‘@ﬁﬁ

g %’\EM‘M&%E'JH&I:? gl
:%f‘éi%ii AEZ &ﬁﬂﬂiiéu\%&ﬁﬁﬁ
HIEHE - R ERERRENRRE -

—T=HFH BERBMHERAT 95



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A R R P

For the year ended 31 December 2013

BE-F-=FE+-A=t—AULFE

96

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy
above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. XERHEE @)

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment W BERRZE

Property, plant and equipment including buildings M BERRE(BEET) IIRKAE

are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and building
When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
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each element as a finance or an operating lease ERAH EBEAREEMBHE S RIZH
separately based on the assessment as to whether ARMEHERKELHE - HIAREERWE

substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to jﬁﬁi’ﬂﬁi‘“%fﬂﬁ IR ERE S FRIEL
ownership of each element have been transferred 2HE - ARmE  SEHERE(BEE

to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the
land element and building element of the lease at
the inception of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(continued)

Leasehold land and building (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as
to write off the cost of investment properties over
their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. XxE&xEZE @
(continued)
Properties for sale AHEEDE

Properties under development held for sale under
current assets are properties under development
held for future sale in the ordinary course of business
and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes the costs of land, development
expenditure incurred and, where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value is
determined based on prevailing market conditions.
Net realisable value takes into account the price
ultimately expected to be realised, less applicable
variable selling expenses and the anticipated cost
to completion. Upon completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties for sale.

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the
costs of land, development expenditure incurred and,
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net
realisable value is determined based on prevailing
market conditions.

The Group transfers a property from properties
for sale to land and buildings at cost when there
is a change of use for the land and buildings for
administrative purpose rather than for sale in the
ordinary course of business.
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Financial instruments 2®MTIA
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised EAEBEKATASHKKR—TH - &/t
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual BERCHBEERFER

provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
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assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade
and other receivables, restricted bank deposits and
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy
on impairment of loans and receivables below).

Impairment of loans and receivables

loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
loans and receivables are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables (continued)
Objective evidence of impairment of loans and
receivables could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

The carrying amount of the loan and receivable
is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all
loan and receivable with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit
or loss.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A R R P

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities of the Group (including trade
and other payables and loans from equity holders,
bonds payable and bank and other borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS R R MY e

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a
debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group
and not designated at fair value through profit or
loss is recognised initially at fair value less transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount
of the obligation under the contract, as determined
in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance
with the revenue recognition policy.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire or, when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A R R P

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS R R MY e

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold and services
provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts.

Specifically, revenue from sales of goods/sale of
properties in the ordinary course of business is
recognised when the respective goods/properties
have been completed and delivered to the buyers, at
which time all of the following criteria are satisfied:

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods/properties;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership nor effective control over the
goods/properties sold;

e the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably;

e it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to the
Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect
of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers
prior to meeting the above criteria for revenue
recognition are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position under current
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A R R P

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be
measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

The Group's accounting policy for recognition of
revenue from operating leases is described in the
accounting policy for leasing below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS R R MY e

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHBE @)
(continued)
Retirement benefit costs SRR R A

Payments to defined contributions retirement
benefits plans/state-managed retirement benefit
schemes/Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”), are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual entity comprising the Group, transactions
in currencies other than the functional currency of
that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise, except for:

e exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under construction
for future productive use, which are included in
the cost of those assets when they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs on those
foreign currency borrowings;

e exchange differences on transactions entered
into in order to hedge certain foreign currency
risks; and

e exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A R R P

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group's foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS R R MY e

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of their assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax
assets for such investment properties are measured
in accordance with the above general principles set
out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected manner as
to how the properties will be recovered).

FTESTBER @)

BIE ()
@ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%%@ﬂ%&ﬁﬁé
R SRR B 2R A @ﬁ$%

B R R E AR I?EHEEZ
ERB T GER LRARE@MELRID o EﬁiuZ
SREMBNAMRE S ZEAELNR
ERIAEE - (ENF A B AR T A
Al AE R E R E Btk A BT R A B
HRA] AR [0 By T LABERR ©

A 40 Y BR T 1T 0 5 9 2 BARD 4
W EETRET - ERIEERET fe R
BB M A3 3 B 3R -

ELERAEERBBETIRER SRS
BREACERIELGERORE - RBEH
EREEENEEFRPRERNHE(HK
BBER)E -

ELERAABREENTERRAEEE
BEREHREE A RRAKESIEEREE
A ERAEN T APTEHHHRFER

EFEECHAABNEER - WATE
AAEMREMEERAEERERLLE
AWK E - BRIEREKE - EREYER
AHTER - AR 2B BIRFER E A
DENGZERENELEEMNENHERA
hﬁ mAERBHE A EBRRBHEK
o A REREERE - A LR E X
WMLHEQL&MLMEﬁéﬁﬁé%
SRTERF 125 AEA) Lt — AR TR R (BIAR
BREBEMEERTN)AE -

—T=HFH BERBHERAT 109



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A R R P

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. XE®FEEm@)

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

5.

EEEETHBERRENEER

UNCERTAINTY (continued) RR (41)
Deferred tax IEERIE

Deferred tax assets of RMB362,020,000 (2012:
RMB298,240,000) mainly in relation to tax losses
and land appreciation tax (“LAT") have been
recognised at 31 December 2013, respectively, as set
out in note 18. The realisability of the deferred tax
assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be
available in the future. The directors of the Company
determine the deferred tax assets based on the
enacted or substantially enacted tax rates and the
best knowledge of profit projections of the Group
for coming years during which the deferred tax
assets are expected to be utilised. The directors of
the Company will review the assumptions and profit
projections by the end of the reporting period. In
cases where the actual future profits generated are
less than expected or there is a downward revision
of estimated future profits, a reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the period in which such
a reversal takes place.

LAT

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. However,
the implementation of the tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC
and certain projects of the Group have not finalised
their LAT calculations with their local tax authorities
in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgement
is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related income tax provisions.
The Group recognised the land appreciation tax
based on management’s best estimates. The final
tax outcome could be different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, and these differences
will impact the income tax expense and the related
income tax provisions in the periods in which such
tax is finalised with local tax authorities. The carrying
amount of LAT payables are disclosed in note 22.

Estimated write down of properties for
sale

The Group records properties for sale at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value of
properties for sale is calculated as estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, minus
estimated cost of completion (if any), and estimated
selling expenses which are estimated based on best
available information.
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BERHIFE22E -

A 4 H D 3 B0 f =T OB

ZIS‘EI—I{#ﬁ%%%%E&ﬁZKEﬁiT“L%}%
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For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 5. A EETHABEENEE
UNCERTAINTY (continued) R ()
Estimated write down of properties for A {4t 65 ) 3 9 i 5T ORI (4F)
sale (continued)
The Group writes down properties for sale to REEBRBEAHEEMEZRIEEH
net realisable value based on assessment of the S KEFR2ZRAKLREHOHKIK
realisability of properties for sale, taking into account $LA&@<%}5{IZ«<%“&EE??‘WR?%£ EOFE|
costs to completion based on past experience BEE  BAHEEVEMRZATERF
and net sales value based on past experience and B o BRI RAEMKIEEFERD -
prevailing market conditions. If there is an increase in BIRT#RFEE SR - WAl R mE
costs to completion or a decrease in net sales value, ARAHEEYEMBRZAIZREE - X
the net realisable value will decrease and this might BHEEMFIRANTRAE EERERIA
result in write-downs of properties for sale to net BN - G0 EEMUR o B MR ZRE A
realisable value. Write-downs are recorded where %Iﬁﬁ&fﬁ?r o BRI R B M A AAE
events or changes in circumstances indicate that CEE R A AR B A &
the balances may not be realised. The identification %%E’]ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ_ﬁkwa
of write-downs requires the use of judgements
and estimates. If the expectation is different, it will
impact the carrying value of properties for sale in the
period in which such estimate is changed.
The carrying amount of properties for sale of WA FE19FTE, - KT —=F+=A
RMB15,188,406,000 (2012: RMB15,212,165,000) as =+—H AHEEDENEEERAR
at 31 December 2013 are set out in note 19. #515,188,406,000T(ZZE—=F : AR¥E
15,212,165,0007T) °
REVENUE 6. W=
An analysis of the Group's revenue by major BRAFEXTZEERERBERNSE S 2 KNE
products and service categories for the year is as B o T
follows:
2013 2012
=F-—= —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
(restated)
(251)
Sales of properties for sale SHER M ey 6,838,789 4,285,512
Sales of electronic and electrical HEETMERAHRER
related products 34,659 64,192
Sales of building related materials and SHEFERBEM A KR
equipment 48,884 9,350
Rental income from investment REFREME B WA
properties 5,539 2,999
6,927,871 4,362,053
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BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments, which requires operating segments to
be identified on the basis of internal report about
the components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in
order to allocate resources to segments and to assess
their performance. The chief operating decision
maker is the Company’s directors and prior to the
completion of the Transaction, the chief operating
decision maker is the directors of Eureka.

For the management purpose, the Group is currently
organised into the following two operating and
reportable segments: (i) Development and sales
of properties and property leasing (“Properties
Segment”); and (i) sales of electronic and electrical
related products and building related materials and
equipment (“Trading Segment”).

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results by reportable and operating segments.

SEER
AEE B RAB BT RS ERFE 8RS
DE  ZERRELE D IIREEEER
REBDPHERES DI RFTHRIRME
HAZR B A& B 5 20T 2 B R 25 Ak Bl A &
DEp o IEMLJQE&%7%$ AIESE KRR
RHTHA  TEEEBEARARERMRLE
$o

RITRER  AEBERDEAATWE
RERZBNE  (VDERBERBEERY
ZHE(MEIE]D - R()EFRE=RA
MEMANEEBRBITHERREHE (B
Z08]) e

DR EREE
UNTRIZFAIZBEEENHE D 2 A EH
Yegs M A DT ©

Trading Properties

Segment Segment Consolidated
E5 5% LE S =E
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR%¥TR AR®TR
For the year ended BE-2—=F1+=A
31 December 2013 =t+—HLFE
Segment revenue — external 2B ez — INER 83,543 6,844,328 6,927,871
Segment results DEHELE 2,268 2,630,343 2,632,611
Net foreign exchange gains P& 3 Uk o 58 102,953
Finance costs BE KA (8,683)
Interest income MBEUA 60
Unallocated corporate expenses &5 B2 Al H (50,386)
Profit before tax R T8 BT S A 2,676,555
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DEEE @)

Segment revenue and results (continued) pan =S ESAE )
Trading Properties
Segment Segment  Consolidated
B 50 MED e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTT ARETT ARETE

For the year ended BE-Z——H+=A

31 December 2012 (restated) =+—RIEE(E5)
Segment revenue — external 2 EBU S — INER 73,542 4,288,511 4,362,053
Segment results HEES (1,041) 2,248,213 2,247,172
Net foreign exchange gains M 5 W) R 11,547
Finance costs BLE AR (12)
Interest income WA 1
Unallocated corporate expenses KA AE XL H (4,469)
Profit before tax Fa B A a1 2,254,239
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue 2Rz BREIERBINBEF 2 MK
generated from external customers. There were no s o BA$¢J*W I 48 5 HRFE SHE -

inter-segment sales during the year.

The accounting policies of the operating segments EE D a2 SRR B ST 4RI AR SR E 2
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies SRR - DEPEEIER DA EIE
described in note 4. Segment result represents the PHRADERARIKA « fEKA - F B UK
profit earned/loss incurred by each segment without AN B T U % 5 a BT B EUE A B
allocation of unallocated corporate costs, finance FEEETE o bt TR BB R R B TE R IE
costs, interest income and certain net foreign BRI ERRIRFEAG 2 EHEELE o

exchange gains. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. ZEER @)
Segment assets and liabilities PHWEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets INTRIEFAZGREED B 2 AEEEE
and liabilities by reportable and operating segments: REGEI -
Trading Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BEZ 0B YD EB o)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR%®TR AR¥Tx
At 31 December 2013 R=-Z2—=%+=H
Eqr=[E
Segment assets DEEE 32,192 24,870,799 24,902,991
Goodwill EE 160,210
Other unallocated assets BEMRHERERE 3,097,750
Total assets AEMRE 28,160,951
Segment liabilities R =K 20,189 13,655,416 13,675,605
Other unallocated liabilities HiwkpiiaE 3,029,035
Total liabilities BE®E 16,704,640
Trading Properties
Segment Segment  Consolidated
B0 ESAEY o)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETET
At 31 December 2012 N-—2——%5+—-A8
(restated) =+—RH(E%)
Segment assets DEEE 42,393 23,094,772 23,137,165
Goodwill = 160,210
Other unallocated assets HEMRHEEE 363
Total assets BEHEE 23,297,738
Segment liabilities HEEE 42,391 15,083,404 15,125,795
Other unallocated liabilities BEMmADERERB 4,796,091
Total liabilities BEERE 19,921,886
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
For the purposes of monitoring segment
performance and allocating resources between
segments:

e all assets, other than goodwill and assets of the
investment holding companies, are allocated to
reportable and operating segments; and

e all liabilities, other than bonds payable, loans
from equity holders and liabilities of the
investment holding companies, are allocated to
reportable and operating segments.

Other information
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit
or loss or segment assets.

7.

DEER &)
DEEERBE(HF)
REEDBEARNS BESIELEMES -

FEEE(TEEBERKRERRA
RAEE)ANEERNZR/RELED
7B K

EAB(TERERMNES Rk
BAEFREREZRARAB) AN
REr 2RPLENE -

‘%ﬁ’\* wmAREER D FEEMT R
A o

Trading Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BZ 0% MED A =E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRET AR®BTRT AR®BTR

For the year ended BE-ZE—=H+=#8
31 December 2013 =+—HIEFE

Addition to non-current assets  IERBIEERE
(note) (K1at)

Interest income F B A

Gross rental income HE WA BT

Depreciation of property, plant  #% - BE MR EITE
and equipment

Depreciation of investment BEYERE
properties

Reversal of written down on A E Y ZEMOR
properties for sale

85 20,948 21,033
= 33,569 33,569
- 11,616 11,616

10 2,189 2,199
- 511 511

- (154,000) (154,000)

For the year ended BE-—Z——-%+=AH
31 December 2012 (restated) =+—HIEE
(E%1)
Addition to non-current assets JEREBEERE
(note) (B7:E)
Interest income F 2 U A
Gross rental income WA BT

Depreciation of property, plant  #% - HE M & EBITE
and equipment

Depreciation of investment REMENE
properties

Reversal of written down on A] & ) OB B Bl
properties for sale

96 1,214 1,310
= 28,552 28,552
= 2,999 2,999
= 2,290 2,290
- 1,706 1,706
= (28,000) (28,000)

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and financial
assets.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Group’s revenue from external customers
is substantially derived from the PRC. No single
customer of the Group contributed 10% or more to
the Group’s revenue for both years.

Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets
which exclude deferred tax assets of the Group are
located in the PRC.

Geographical informations
The Group’s Properties Segment are located in
Foshan, Guangzhou, Nanjing and Chongging.

Information about the revenue from external
customers of Properties Segment and the assets
of Properties Segment is presented based on the

7.

DEBE R )
REBREIIRES 2 YT BRRER
B AEBYEE—ESAAEEREE
2 URas EER10% SR £ o

AEBBABOFRDEE(TBEAEHE
ERBARE )R PE

o 3R E R
REBEZWMEDBRAFEIL - BN B

REBBEMEMRZIE@MES IR
P& RMESBEEZER -

location of the assets.

Revenue from
external customers

Segment assets

RENAEF 2 W= DEEE
2013 2012 2013 2012
=-z—= —E——-F ZZEB—= —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT AREBTR ARBTET
(restated) (restated)
(&%) (&%)
Foshan 1L 4,382,964 1,202,762 11,027,424 9,612,731
Guangzhou =00 859,480 2,571,538 1,936,324 4,269,737
Nanjing R 1,075,471 514,211 5,089,187 4,014,533
Chongging EE 526,413 - 6,817,864 5,197,771
6,844,328 4,288,511 24,870,799 23,094,772
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8. OTHER INCOME 8. HfulA
2013 2012
—EB-=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
(restated)
(E31))
Bank interest income RITHI B WA 31,288 21,531
Interest income from an intermediate KE—FKPNMERRAFZ
holding company F B YA 2,341 7,022
Gain on disposal of investment properties H&E1&E Y5 W 43,213 -
Others HAih 29,545 7,656
106,387 36,209
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MEMA
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFT
(restated)
(&%)
Interest on bank and other borrowings ARAFAEHEEZRITR
wholly repayable within five years HtEEZHE
— bank and other borrowings —RITREMEE 143,380 8,139
— amount due to an intermediate — R —RFPNER LA
holding company IE 38,293 237,826
— amounts due to non-controlling equity — & 7R &£ B B A 73515
holders of subsidiaries of the Group iR A A Z A 24,256 38,540
— bonds — &5 8,638 -
Total borrowing costs BIEERA 214,567 284,505
Less: Amount capitalised B BEAMEFIE (128,971) (219,273)
85,596 65,232
Borrowing costs capitalised to properties under BANKIFE22 « 23R 24FTIEE - BN AEF
development for sale were determined by the ERRIPMEZBERFIERSHEEEREZ
contracted interest rates of respective specific BRIV EETE o

borrowings as disclosed in notes 22, 23 and 24.
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BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FR8Hi X H
2013 2012
—B-—=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETIT
(restated)
(E51)
The charge (credit) comprises: S (R )BIE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") Rl ZEFEH
([ZEFRBHED
— Current year —RNEE 558,923 535,872
— (Over)underprovision in prior years —IBEFE (BRERE)
BETE (1,210) 1,353
Dividend withholding tax SR = 5,000
LAT T HIRE R 698,550 811,865
1,256,263 1,354,090
Deferred tax (note 18) BIEFLIA (HaE18) 5,473 (139,656)

1,261,736 1,214,434

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the "EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the statutory EIT rate of the subsidiaries
incorporated in the PRC is 25%. Further, 5% or
10% withholding income tax is generally imposed
on dividends relating to profits earned by PRC
entities that are owned by non-PRC entities within
the Group.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30%
to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being
the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including cost of land use right and all
property development expenditures.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made as the Group has no assessable profit for both
years.

REBFECERETOE((REMERZED
KB EFSBOEB RS - 7P B MK
VYZWBRRAZEELEMBRBEER
25% ° UbSh - AEBETIEF R BRI
Bz EEE—RATEMRBUEN 2 &
BBHN5 %5 10% < TREEFTIS T

T b IE(E R 1 3 3 (E (B) B E M SEFT S K
BREETHERRENARBMERRE
X ER 2 AJ MR )30% £60% 2 iEiE
T UK o

F P AN 55 [ 770 P B 6 2 3 B B SR A A
O AR BB IS A o
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

10. RSB @)

The income tax expense for the year can be REZMEMS LGRS B KA
reconciled to the profit before tax per the Weas R WBR B AT A ETRR A0 T
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:
2013 2012
—E—=F —EF——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
(restated)
(&%)
Profit before tax B T AT S22 ) 2,676,555 2,254,239
Tax at the income tax rate of 25% R25% TS BB R EMTIA
(Note) (Hizt) 669,139 563,560
Tax effect of expenses not deductible DA S H ORISR 2
for tax purposes 20,649 3,807
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBNRANT S E
tax purposes (33,342) (4,218)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses £z ﬂ&ﬂiﬁﬁu R TE B IR A
previously not recognised s 2 (73) (134)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERRIEEROBRGTE 39,975 22,781
PRC LAT AR+ b I E 698,550 811,865
Tax effect of PRC LAT B IR ER NS R (174,638) (200,529)
(Over) underprovision in prior years BEFE(BREREB) BETR (1,210) 1,353
Tax effect of deductible temporary AR AN TR E7EN
differences not recognised s 2 18,834 38,500
Utilisation of deductible temporary B) B A R R A N B R
differences previously not recognised ZH (38,500) (45,500)
Dividend withholding tax expense B EFEMF X 69,253 24,114
Effect of different tax rates in other HEmalEER TR R E
jurisdictions (6,901) (1,165)
Income tax expense FiSHi s 1,261,736 1,214,434

Note: It represents the tax rate where the operation of the Group is

substantially based.
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11. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

11. BRBEADER

2013 2012
—E-=F —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBTT
(restated)
(&%)
Profit before tax has been arrived at BB A A AN RR (B &%)
after charging (crediting): T3 B IR
Employee benefits expenses (including EERARZ(BIEES
directors’ remuneration): ) -
Salaries and other allowances e R HEAER, 110,970 118,395
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET B R 14,904 9,997
Total staff costs ST 125,874 128,392
Less: Amount capitalised to properties B BEEANMEARHEE
under development for sale RV ERIE (76,990) (75,740)
48,884 52,652
Gross rental income from investment HEMEBBESIWA
properties (5,539) (2,999)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred g @ FTES 2 BEE& LT 1,171 2,088
(4,368) (911)
Cost of inventories recognised as R S TF & AR
an expense 80,748 70,418
Cost of properties for sale recognised as R {EFI ST H ATt H &4 2
an expense AN 4,198,464 1,877,719
Reversal of written down on properties  A] & ¥ % iR (51 A
for sale (included in cost of sales) (Note)  $4& R AN) (f7:L) (154,000) (28,000)
Depreciation of investment properties REMERE 511 1,706
Depreciation of property, plant and W - HME KRGS
equipment 2,199 2,290
Auditor’s remuneration ZE A & 1,771 898
Loss on write off of properly, plantand  #i$&%% - BE & ZEEE
equipment 6 6

Note: The reversal is made upon the pre-sales of the properties held

for sale.
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12. DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREENHEN
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 12 ERNREMNI2BEE(ZE—Z4F : 14%8)
(2012: 14) directors were as follows: KOTSRS a0 T
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contribution emoluments

e RE BHE
e KREUERN  FHEHR el
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Name of Directors EEpE ARBTRT ARBTRT AREBTR AR®BTR
2013 —E—=
Executive directors: HITES
Dr. So Shu Fai ST - 32 2 34
Mr. Hu Jianxin (Note i) SRR ST (ATt = 5 - 5
Mr. Liu Zhuogen B =RESE - 32 2 34
Mr. Yu Zhiliang FRERLE - 32 - 32
Mr. Huang Peikun (Note ii) EIEI A (W) - 19 = 19
Non-executive directors: FEHITES ¢
Mr. He Jianya (Note i) BREDEEN ) 13 = = 13
Ms. Wu Zhengin (Note i) RIREN 2+ (K15t 9 - - 9
Ms. Liu Ning Bz + 32 - - 32
Independent non- B IEITES
executive directors:
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FoxiEEL 63 - - 63
Ms. Chen Yanping PRS2+ 63 - _ 63
Dr. Shi Xinping eHFEL 63 - - 63
Mr. He Qi (Note i) I e (et 11 - - 1"
Total emoluments RO 254 120 4 378
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12. DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEES'

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

1. BEEREENEMm)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contribution emoluments
e EEh RBRE
we REDER FTEIHER BT
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Name of Directors EEML ARBTT AR®TT ARETT ARETT
2012 (restated) —E-_F(FY)
Executive directors: WITES
Mr. Huang Peikun =TT A - 19 - 19
Dr. So Shu Fai HiEE L - 48 2 50
Mr. Liu Zhuogen B|EARELE - 19 1 20
Mr. Yu Zhiliang FEREAE - 19 - 19
Mr. Mak Bing Kau BIRBR & - 21 1 22
Mr. Ng Wai Hung hEHEE - 21 1 22
Mr. Lau Cheuk Lun =t - 394 8 402
Non-executive director: IFMITES
Ms. Liu Ning R=mz+ 19 = = 19
Independent non-executive YB3 IFHITESE ¢
directors:
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert ToxiEEL 38 - - 38
Ms. Chen Yanping FRFESE A+ 38 - _ 38
Dr. Shi Xinping SLHFEL 38 = = 38
Mr. Pang Hon Chung TEREAE 19 - - 19
Mr. Cheng Tsang Wai EEEEA 17 - - 17
Dr. Chung Hing Wah, Paul FEERT 15 - - 15
Total emoluments 48 B 184 541 13 738
Notes: Kzt -
() Appointed during the year (i) RERNBEEE
(i) Resigned during the year @iy  RERBHE
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
both years.

The Group’s five highest paid individuals (none of
them are Directors for both years) during the year

12.BEEREENEMw)

RAEFEAYEEMNEEREXRER
REMMEHREE -

REARKE ALK HA L (RMEFE
MR BEMESER)NFHEINT

are set out below:

2013 2012
2= —T——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
(restated)
(E31))
Salaries and allowances, as employees BE#He &ERY 2,632 2,150
Bonus TEAL 4,031 2,809
Pension scheme contributions B BRI sTEIHK 262 245
6,925 5,204
The emoluments of the highest paid individuals fell R ATHENN AT EE :

within the following bands:

Number of individuals

AE
2013 2012
—EB—=F —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75#1,000,001 T & 4% 1,500,000
(approximately RMB792,600 to (K ARYT792,6007TE
RMB1,189,000) AR#1,189,0007T) 2 4
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 751,500,001 7T 2 % 2,000,000
(approximately RMB1,189,000 to TL(HARY1,189,000E
RMB1,585,000) AR#1,585,0007T) 2 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 7B #2,000,001 L & 4% 2,500,000
(approximately RMB 1,585,000 to TL(HIAREE 1,585,000 E
RMB1,981,000) AR#1,981,0007T) 1 -
5 5

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the directors or the five highest paid
individuals as inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013

EEr=

13.

14.

T A=+ —AUFE

DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 December 2012, two
subsidiaries within the Target Group declared
dividends totalling of RMB35,000,000 and
RMB429,667,000 to Eureka and the non-controlling
equity holders, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, a
subsidiary within the Target Group declared
dividends of RMB288,000,000 to its shareholders,
of which RMB144,000,000 was paid to its non-
controlling equity holder.

Other than as disclosed above, no dividend was paid
or proposed to be paid by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The weighted average number of shares used for the
purpose of calculating basic earnings per share for
the both years has been adjusted as if the issue of
the Consideration Shares (as defined in note 26) was
at 1 January 2012, on the basis that the consolidated
financial statements are prepared as if the combined
entity represented by the Existing Group and the
Target Group had existed together from the dates
when these groups came under the control of the
common controlling party.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is
based on the profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company of approximately RMB458,890,000
(2012: RMB428,780,000) and the weighted average
number of 4,122,553,393 (2012: 3,594,744,707)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is not presented for the
year ended 31 December 2013 nor for the year
ended 31 December 2012 as there is no potential
ordinary shares outstanding during the year or at the
end of reporting periods.

13.

14.

Hi/%s
BE_ZT-——F+_A=t—HLFE"
B 4R 5 M P #O TRl P B 2 ] 93 Bl () 3 3
FEBREERAATKRSARER/ARE
35,000,0007¢ & A R#429,667,0007T °

HE-_ET—=+=-_A=+—HILEE -
BEEZEEEFTFHN—RMBARMERRS K
% 2 A R #288,000,0007T + E A mH I
I A AR RS AR 144,000,000

JC ©

BENEEEIN  ARRHEZZT—=
T A=+—BLFE(ZE——F : &)
I IR SRR HERLE -

BRER
HUAGTEMBEFE 2 BRERRN Z I
FHRBEEHE BN T ——F—
H—RABZETRERD (ExRME26) -
HEESGAMBHRRDIBRREEEEER
FREMRRZAHEBAEZFRERHR
EHE I TS E B KRFERE -

BREAABMNZADAESER ARG S
F#) AR #458,890,0007T( —F— — 4 ¢
AR #428,780,0007T) R A FE B 1T
B ANHE F 5 04,122,553,393 (==
— T4 1 3,594,744,7078 )5t E -

AR AFENHEREEE D W EBESE
TENEBR MU ERBEE—T—=F
TZA=tT—HBLEFERBE-ZT—Z=F
+=ZA=+—RALFE2IERESTEF -
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e B A R R P

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. ¥ - BERRE

Land and Motor Office
buildings vehicles equipment Total
T REF RE BOAERE Foby
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR¥ETR AR¥ETR
COST %N
At 1 January 2012 (restated) N-TE——F
—B—H (&%) 8,719 7,527 4,111 20,357
Additions NG = 329 885 1,214
Write off s - - (9) 9)
Arising from the Acquisition BUEEEA (F1:227)
(note 27) - - 96 96
At 31 December 2012 (restated) N-EBE——F+=-5
=t+—H(E5) 8,719 7,856 5,083 21,658
Acquisition of assets through BR—RHTBE D E A
a subsidiary (note 28) BE(H228) - - 22 22
Transfer from completed EEE%RTI A
properties for sale HEME 19,734 - - 19,734
Additions NE - 146 1,153 1,299
Write off s = = 9) 9)
At 31 December 2013 NZE—=%F
+=-A=+—H 28,453 8,002 6,249 42,704
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2 E
At 1 January 2012 (restated) NZE——F
—B—H (&%) 1,282 3,460 2,237 6,979
Provided for the year FREE 427 1,148 715 2,290
Eliminated on written off MG R - - (3) (3)
At 31 December 2012 (restated) NZE——F
+ZA=+—AH
(&%) 1,709 4,608 2,949 9,266
Provided for the year FREE 427 1,027 745 2,199
Eliminated on written off B B B 5 - - (3) (3)
At 31 December 2013 N-TE—=%F
+=Z—A=1+—H 2,136 5,635 3,691 11,462
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2013 NZE—=4F
+=—B=+—8 26,317 2,367 2,558 31,242
At 31 December 2012 (restated) NZTE——F
+-A=+—H
(E3) 7,010 3,248 2,134 12,392

The Group’s land and buildings are erected on land

under long lease in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS R R MY e

For the year ended 31 December 2013

EEr=

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16.

T A=+ —AUFE

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment
are depreciated using the straight-line basis, after

taking into account of their estimated residual

values, at the following rates per annum:

15. W% - BMERRE @)

Lz - BE KRR BEEKLEBEMGE
MRERZATFRERERENE

Land and buildings 5% or over the lease terms T RIEF 5%3% (fHEE) R
of the relevant land, if HERE LA & F A
shorter
Motor vehicles 15% — 20% L 15%-20%
Office equipment 15% — 20% N L 15%-20%
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. BREWHE
RMB’000
ARET T
COST [B%N
At 1 January 2012 (restated) and R=_ZF—=—F—AF—HE7) %

31 December 2012 (restated) —E——F+—-A=+—HEH) 37,914
Disposals & (12,847)
At 31 December 2013 R-ZE—=%F+=-—HA=+—H 25,067
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2=t E
At 1 January 2012 (restated) RZZE—=—F—AF—H (&%) 1,849
Provided for the year F NS 1,706
At 31 December 2012 (restated) RZZE—=—F+=RA=+—HB(&F?%) 3,953
Provided for the year FREE 511
Eliminated on disposal A 65 s 4 6 (1,280)
At 31 December 2013 R-ZE—=%F+=-_HA=+—H 2,786
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 December 2013 RZZE—=F+-_A=+—H 22,281
At 31 December 2012 (restated) RZZE—=—F+=-A=+—HB(&F) 34,359
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A R R P

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. REW = @)

The Group’s investment properties are erected on
land under medium term lease in the PRC.

The above investment properties are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the term of
the lease and 20 years.

The fair value of the Group’s investment
properties at 31 December 2012 and 2013 was
RMB175,987,000 and RMB93,037,000, respectively.
As at 31 December 2012, the fair value was
determined by the directors of the Company.
As at 31 December 2013, the fair value of the
Group’s investment properties has been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that
day by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited, independent qualified professional
valuers not connected to the Group. The fair value
was determined with reference to recent market
prices for similar properties in similar locations and
conditions for both years. There has been no change
from the valuation technique used in the prior year.

The fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2013 of
the investment properties of the Group are at Level
3. There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2
during the year ended 31 December 2013.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS R R MY e

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

17. GOODWILL 17. &
RMB’000
ARETR
COST AR
At 1 January 2012 (restated) RZE——F—A—H(ZF3]) -
Arising from the Acquisition (Note) BURBE L (H1aE) 160,210
At 31 December 2012 (restated) and R-ZE——F+-fF=+—HB(&E%)
31 December 2013 ;r=—F—=F+—-A=+—H 160,210
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2013 and R-ZE—=F+-A=+—H
31 December 2012 (restated) R—ZE——F+-A=+—RH(&E) 160,210
Note: The amount represents goodwill arising from the Acquisition Hiat - me B2 k27T EBR e B ELENEE -
as disclosed in notes 2 and 27. Goodwill has been allocated ABRESEZERMESBNRSEEEM([R
to the group of cash generating units (“CGUs") comprising GEEEM])ER - BNEKE R R EEER
the Properties Segment, that is expected to be benefit from G ©
the synergies of the Acquisition.
Based on the business model of the Group, the RAEBEBEN  ARAESELER
directors of the Company have performed the NAEEERUNIE RERANREE
assessment on impairment by reference to the TG - ARRIESETHReEEENA
cashflow forecast prepared by the management e & EREEREES
of the Company. The directors of the Company
determined that the recoverable amount of CGU
was higher than the carrying amount of goodwill.
18. DEFERRED TAXATION 18. IEFERIIE
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax AT RIRIER I A5 RR A D AT AR B 5 FR 4R
balances for financial reporting purposes:
2013 2012
—E-=F —E——fF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET R ARBTT
(restated)
(&%)
Deferred tax assets RIENIBE 362,020 298,240
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEA & (103,389) (34,136)
258,631 264,104
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

18. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 18. IEAERLIE ()

The followings are the major deferred tax assets
(liabilities) recognised and movements thereon
during the year:

AT B R R M £ B BIEAE (R
) R B

Temporary
differences Dividend
on LAT Tax withholding
provision losses tax Others Total
THIRED
BRENDE BE BE
=8 &R BB Hity Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TR AR¥TRT ARBTR AR¥TxR
At 1 January 2012 R-E——F—f—
(restated) A (&%) 126,719 7,927 (15,022) 4,824 124,448
Credit (charge) to profit RiEgET A (ER)
or loss 139,289 7,791 (19,114) 11,690 139,656

At 31 December 2012 R-ZZE——%+=-A

(restated) =+—H(&5) 266,008
Credit (charge) to profit PEZEEA(F0R)
or loss 65,008

15,718 (34,136) 16,514

(11,051)

264,104

(69,253) 9,823 (5,473)

At 31 December 2013 RZE—=F+_H
=+—H 331,016

4,667 (103,389) 26,337 258,631

At 31 December 2013, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately RMB397,621,000 (2012:
RMB357,086,000), available to offset against future
profits. Deferred tax assets have been recognised
in respect of such losses of RMB18,668,000
(2012: RMB62,872,000) at 31 December 2013.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining RMB378,953,000 (2012:
RMB294,214,000) as at 31 December 2013 due
to the unpredictability of future profits streams.
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
RMB369,672,000 (2012: RMB288,970,000) as at 31
December 2013 that will expire in five years from
the dates they were incurred. Other losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

At 31 December 2012, the Group had unrecognised
deductible temporary difference of RMB 154,000,000
attributable to write down on properties for sale. As
at 31 December 2013, the Group had unrecognised
deductible temporary difference of RMB75,336,000
attributable to the capitalised interest expenses
arising from the inter-group borrowing. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

19. PROPERTIES FOR SALE 19. AMEHEY =

2013 2012

—2-=F —t

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETTT

(restated)

(&%)

Completed properties for sale ST At HESE 4,046,466 3,553,925
Properties under development for sale A EERERYE 11,141,940 11,658,240
15,188,406 15,212,165

The Group's completed properties for sale are
located in the PRC. They are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.

The properties under development for sale are
located in the PRC under medium term leases
and represent properties under development for
subsequent sale in the ordinary course of business
upon completion.

Included in the properties under development
for sale as at 31 December 2013 is carrying value
of approximately RMB5,111,956,000 (2012:
RMB6,881,828,000), which represents the carrying
value of the properties expected to be completed
after more than twelve months from the end of the
reporting period.

Land use rights amounting to RMB554,429,000
included in the properties under development for
sale as at 31 December 2012, were pledged for the
bank borrowings to the Group. The pledged land
use rights was released upon settlement of bank
borrowings.

AEBEERTAHEEMELNTE - %
S ELA R T IRFERENEEE
N

A EERBYELN B WARE S H
HA - RRTRERBEHHHERE
ENERERPYE

R-E—=F+_-_F=+—H:st Ar#
LEEERMENERENAARE
5,111,956,000 (=T —=F : AR¥
6,881,828,0007T) * IEE MEHIMAE
BEBET_EMAZERERE TYENER
@o

——%+=—A=+—8 " LiEH
A A FR#554,429,000 T ARt &
Y WE KB AEAEB SR
EEA LT ERERNRITEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2013

BE—F—

=FT A=+ HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20. B R HE M EWRIE

2013 2012
—E-—=F —F——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBTFT
(restated)

(&751)

Other receivables — non-current
Amount due from a non-controlling
equity holder of subsidiary of
the Group (Note a)

H {th & WRRIE — SF RN HA
JE U AN 2 BB 2 R SE R AR
=FE ARIE(Hfata)

888,950 1,328,584

Trade receivables (Note b)

EBRAMEIR(H7Zb) 20,006 39,184

Other receivables — current

Hth fE Y 3K IR — BN HA

Prepaid LAT B 3t B E R 226,086 134,044
Other prepaid non-income tax HAaTBIIEFTISRL 314,302 344,849
Other receivables and prepayment H ith JiE YRR T8 & TR 5 08 67,090 33,768
Amount due from an intermediate JEW —RANMERR A FIFRIA
holding company (Note ¢) (Btetc) = 2,976,667
Amounts due from non-controlling JE Y AR 52 B B B S A FRIE AR
equity holders of subsidiaries of R E AFIE (M itd)
the Group (Note d) 1,073,248 257,009
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries i EE Dy YNCIE
(Note d) (Hiatd) 3,654 4,209
1,684,380 3,750,546
1,704,386 3,789,730
Notes: Hiat -

This represents the portion of the amount due from non-
controlling equity holder of subsidiary of the Group (see (d)
below) which is not expected to be realised within one year
from the end of the reporting period.

Trade receivables mainly arise from Trading Segment.

Considerations in respect of properties sold are paid in
accordance with the terms of the related sales and purchase
agreements, normally within 60 days from the date of
agreement. At the end of the both reporting periods, there
were no outstanding trade receivables from Properties
Segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2013

SE+ A= +—AUFE

EE-F—=

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)

(continued)

The Group's credit terms with its trade customers is generally
0 to 30 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables in order to minimise credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had certain concentration of credit risk as approximately 63%
(2012: 52%) and 100% (2012: 91%) of the Group’s trade
receivables from Trading Segment were due from the Group's
largest trade debtor and the five largest debtors, respectively.

The aging analysis of trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

20. ¥R H b EWFIE )

Hist : (&)

(b)

AEEREERTFHEEH—RAB0E30AH -
7N 55 [ 7 s AR UK (B 8 T R OB A A R AR R
DRZREEERR "BREZASTHEN
MG RBEHELER AEENET
ERREBES - REANEEELERKIEL
63% (=T — =4 :52%)R100% (=T — =% :
N%)DBIRERNEMEAEBBEBEARER R
REBEBA ©

NS RS B IRER B Bt E M EBE R
BRRERAMTIAT -

2013 2012

—B-=F ===

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

(restated)

(&51)

30 days or less 30H AT 2,926 15,287
31 to 60 days 31HZ60H 19 11,658
61 to 90 days 61HZ90H - 3,465
Over 90 days B0 R 17,061 8,774
20,006 39,184

Before accepting any new customers, the Group maintains
an internal credit assessment process to assess the potential
trade customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customers. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed
management by regularly.

As at 31 December 2013, include in the Group's trade
receivables balance with aggregate carrying amount of
RMB17,080,000 (2012: RMB23,897,000) which are past
due as at the reporting date for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss. The directors of the Company,
after assessment, consider the debts are collectible. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired:

RERERMHZLF - AKERARBE ARG
BT REEXEERPNERERLRAERRER
BE  BPNERBEEEMEEASEHNEN -

R-ZFT—=F+=-A=+—8 ' ~5EEKE
WRIE N AR EE B 58 A R #17,080,0007 (=%
——4% : AR#23,897,0007T) KEAZET @R
MR & B AR E WA EHRERE - AQA]
EENTEERABERE T TUE o ANEE L &5
ZEEARFAEAMERR

BEaHERBUE R T KSR IRER

2013 2012

—E—=F —T——F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETT

(restated)

(&351)

31 to 60 days 31HZE60H 19 11,658
61 to 90 days 61HZ%E90H - 3,465
Over 90 days #Bi1B90R 17,061 8,774
17,080 23,897
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(c) The amount was unsecured, interest bearing at fixed rate of
0.42% per annum and repayable on demand. The amount
had been fully settled during the year ended 31 December
2013.

(d)  The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand. The amounts are expected to be recovered or
settled within one year from the end of the reporting period.

Analysis of trade and other receivables denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of
the entities of the Group to which they relate:

20. EX R HMEWRIE #)

Hiat - (&)
(0 SERBER RELSFMKR02ERRERE

B -GHeERHE-_T—=F+=-A=+—H
L FERHES -

d) =SEA/RER RSRREREER - FHSER
N R EBRAERR—FAkEEE -

UAREERBEERET

B 5 LA S BB A
SES e e

AT

2013 2012
—E—=F —T——4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
(restated)
(&%)
Denominated in United States dollars ETT([ZET DA
(“US$") - 8,733

21. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK

BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 December 2012, restricted bank deposits
are deposits designated for capital requirements for
real estate development projects in the PRC.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less. The bank balances and restricted
bank deposits carry variable interest rates from 0.01%
to 1.05% (2012: 0.01% to 0.5%) per annum.

Analysis of bank balances and cash denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the
entities of the Group to which they relate:

21. ERHBITERBRITHERR

B

R-TE——F+-_A=+—H  ZBRHI$E
THERTEEETREMEMZEER B KR
DRMTFR o

RITEHREReRERe MNRIBRAE=
& A sk LA T2 BiSR 1T IR 3R - SRITAE R
ZREBITERMBENFEFE0I%E
1.05% (=ZZF— =% : 0.01%Z0.5% ) H);¥
EFEK o

UARSERBERDEEEAINEEE
HRITAESR LIRS DT

2013 2012

—EB—=fF —E——F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARBT T

(restated)

(&%)

Denominated in HK$ LA ETE 20,734 66
Denominated in US$ AZETTETHE 3,175,841 325,071
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For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

22. KB RHEMENARE

2013 2012
—E-—=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBTT
(restated)
(&%)
Trade payables (Note a) BN (H ta)
— Trading Segment —BS0E 20,189 34,276
— Properties Segment —EDER 1,653,670 2,437,563
1,673,859 2,471,839
Other payables — current H b B~ 3038 — B A
Other non-income tax payables HihIEFTS R B 2R IB 108,544 43,928
Other payables and accrued charges Hfth fE A~ 3R T8 R FE TR S 143,425 100,162
Dividend payable to a non-controlling FEf—RIEERES T A A
equity holder Rz & - 113,167
LAT payable FEAT £ 3B R 1,324,201 1,095,525
Amounts due to an intermediate holding fEff—K AN LG A 5508
company (note b) (Hiztb) - 3,309,075
Amounts due to non-controlling equity JEHLK’il B eI AR e 25
holders of subsidiaries of the Group AFIB(Hatc)
(note ¢ 75 24,383
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FETR Z M B A R IB (A atc)
(note c) 2,280 8,295
Amount due to immediate holding AN 2 NG @
company (Note d) (Kiatd) = 2,433
Amount due to a shareholder of the FERT AR A B — % AR R /A
Company (Note e) (Kizte) - 4,054
1,578,525 4,701,022
3,252,384 7,172,861
Notes: Hfat -
(@) Trade payables from Properties Segment comprise (@) MESBOEBEMNRIACERZERA KL HMIA

construction costs and other project-related expenses which
are payable based on project progress measured by the i o B X REA HRIEN TS
Group and the average credit period of these trade payables
is 60 days. The average credit period on purchase of goods
is generally from 30 days extending up to 90 days for major

suppliers from Trading Segment. The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are

within the credit timeframe.

BEEMS - DIREASEMENHBEES

HA60H - 1

BHNHEEHEEREEYNTHEESR—R
NF30HEHZI0H - AELEE 4 EHBRAKRE
BEER - DRERATAENRBHECEHRA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 22. 37 FE {3 R (41)

Notes: (continued)
(@  (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables, based on

(a)

Hiat - (&)

(&)

AT ARBRERREE RIREE B HHENER

the invoice date, at the end of the reporting period: PRI FIERRER D AT -
2013 2012
—g—= —E——fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARKETTT
(restated)
(&%)
0 to 60 days 0E60H 181,137 1,913,985
61 to 180 days 61HZ=180H 498,505 232,119
181 to 365 days 181HE365H 799,708 179,966
Over 365 days HBiE365H 194,509 145,769
1,673,859 2,471,839

Analysis of trade and other payables denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the entities
of the Group to which they relate:

IAZ SR B R B BT s & W DASNE B ETHE RO 75

REARENFIRLT

2013 2012

—B—=F —E——F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BT R AR¥ETT

(restated)

(E31)

Denominated in HK$ LAVEMEHE 3,316 18,914
Denominated in US$ AZETEHE 30,617 19,018

(b) Included in the balances was an amount of
RMB3,296,075,000 as at 31 December 2012, which was
unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rates ranging
from 4.84% to 6.15% per annum, and repayable within one
year. The remaining balance was unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

(c) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

(d)  The amount was unsecured, bore interest at 6-month Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2% per annum. The
amount had been fully repaid during the year ended 31
December 2013.

(e) The amount was unsecured, interest free and repayable on

demand. The loan had been fully repaid during the year
ended 31 December 2013.
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R-FB-——F+-_A=+—H FRLEHREES
#EARM3,296,075,0007T * JHEEIER BN FEF
ME4.84%E6.15% K EEM KB RAN—F
NIEE - REAEIER RO RFRERER -

ZEEREER  RERERERER -

AR - kol ABERTRER BIMF
FE2%3H 8 ROWMERBE-F—=F 1=
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BE—F——F+=A=+—HIFE

23. LOANS FROM EQUITY HOLDERS 23. BEHBEANER
2013 2012
—E-=F —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT
(restated)
(&%)
Loans from non-controlling equity holders 7x£ #Ff 8 A &) 3E3E AR AE 25
of subsidiaries of the Group (Note a) BEARER(Hita) - 2,397,082
Loans from an intermediate holding —KEMERARNER
company (Note a) (Hizta) - 2,397,082
Total-current MENAEEE = 4,794,164
Amount due to an intermediate holding Bt —KF N A BRI FUE
company (Note b) (Kiz#b) - 584,980
Amount due to non-controlling equity FE T RS2 B BT /B 1 B SR A A
holders of subsidiaries of the Group = ARSRIEAZD)
(Note b) 339,358 584,980
Total — non-current FEmEN R ER 339,358 1,169,960
Notes: Hiat -

(@)  The loans were denominated in US$, unsecured, interest-
free and had no fixed repayment term. The loans from non-
controlling equity holders of subsidiaries of the Group was
set off as capital contribution during the year ended 31
December 2013.

(b)  As at 31 December 2012, the amounts of RMB1,169,960,000
were unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan
Rate offered by the People’s Bank of China and repayable
in 2014. The amount had been fully repaid during the year
ended 31 December 2013.

The ranges of effective interest rates are as follows:

() BHEEFUETHE X REER REREEE
B - REAKENE R AFHERERFE A
BERRBE_ZT—=F+t-_A=tHLFE
HIHEREARTA -

b) R-ZZT—=F+=-—A=+—HB ' ARK
1,169,960,000T AEER - RPBEARRITAR
MELEERFRFBERR - —OFHEE - %E
FEEREE_T—=F+-A=1+—HILFE

A -

ERMEEEMAT :

2012
—E——fF

34
i3

Variable-rate

6.15% £ 6.65%

As at 31 December 2013, the amount of RMB339,358,000
was unsecured, interest bearing at 6.15% per annum and
repayable in 2015.

RZB-—Z=F+ZA=+—H ZEBARHE
339,358,000 T A3 K - RFEFE6.15% 7 2
REAR-T—RFEE -
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24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24. SRITRHEMEE

2013 2012
—E-—=F —F——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREBTFT
(restated)
(E31))
Unsecured (Note i) SR (M 22i) 2,000,000 -
Unsecured (Note ii) AR (K 2tii) 1,700,000 101,000
Secured (Note Jij) B ati) - 109,351
Total — denominated in RMB wxt— A RESIE 3,700,000 210,351
Carrying amount repayable:* JE(EERREE « *
Within one year —FNRN 2,000,000 101,000
More than one year but not more than  #:8—EE T HBBME
two years 1,700,000 -
More than two years but not more than BB T BB F
five years - 109,351
3,700,000 210,351
o The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates S RETLBERER BEAREERBE -
set out in the loan agreements.
The Group’s bank and other borrowings were REBERITREAMEERFEARRT
subjected to variable-rate interest at RMB Benchmark ARBEEGRMNENFHEETL o K
Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China. SEBTREMEENERMNES RN T
The effective interest rates on the Group's bank and FERE57%E6.09% (=T — —F : 7
other borrowings ranged from 5.7% to 6.09% per #5.85%%27.98%) °

annum (2012: 5.85% to 7.98% per annum).
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BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

25.

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

In May 2013, the Group raised RMB2,000,000,000 from a
trust company with a term of one year to repay the loan from
an intermediate holding company.

At 31 December 2013, the unsecured borrowings of
RMB1,100,000,000 were provided by Founder BEA Trust
Co., Ltd., which is a China Banking Regulatory Commission
(“CBRC") licensed financial institution. The loan is repayable
upon maturity in April 2015. The loan is jointly guaranteed by
equity holders of the non-wholly owned subsidiary.

The Group’s borrowing amounting to RMB600,000,000 as
at 31 December 2013 was provided by Xiamen International
Trust Co. Ltd., a CBRC licensed financial institution. The
loan is repayable upon maturity in August 2015. The loan
is guaranteed by a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

The Group’s unsecured bank borrowings amounting to
RMB101,000,000 as at 31 December 2012 were guaranteed
by the equity holders of the borrower and the loan had been
fully repaid during the year ended 31 December 2013.

The Group’s bank borrowings amounting to RMB109,351,000
as at 31 December 2012 were secured by the land use rights
included in properties under development for sale as set out
in note 19. The loan had been fully repaid during the year
ended 31 December 2013.

BONDS PAYABLE
In December 2013, the Group issued the Credit

Enha

nced Bonds (the “Bonds”) with an aggregate

principal amount of US$500,000,000. The Bonds

bear
semi

fixed interest at 4.021% per annum, payable

-annually each year. The Bonds are listed on

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and will
mature in December 2018.

The

fair value of the bonds payable at 31

December 2013 amounted to approximately
RMB3,039,488,000. The fair value is calculated using
the market price of the Bonds at the end of the
reporting period.

24.

25.

BTREMEE @)

() MN=ZF-—Z=ZF1A FARERGEEAAERAR
#2,000,000,0007T * AH#—F « LAMEERE K
PR R RHIE K o

i) MZFT—=F+=ZA=+—"H ' AR#%
1,100,000,0007C & E B 5 ERGB{EEAR
BAERA(—RPESTEEEEEZE8S([HEH
REE | FEeRKE)RE - BERERTIEBR
(BI—ZT—AFMA))EE - EREIEZEHB R
BRI B ASLRER -

REZ—=F+=—A=+—0  FEELAHEAR
#600,000,0007C K 18 & B EFIHER EE AR A
A(—RPEBESHIESRBE) M - BRA
REHA =2 —RFN\A)EE - EREARQ
Al—RIEZEM B RIER -

AEBRBEE-_T——F+_-_A=+—HItE
EEEAIRITEE AR 101,000,0007T M & 3
AHERIFAARMBER  MERERBE=Z
—=F+-A=t—HILtFEEE-

AEBR-_ZE——F+-A=+—HWRTEE
£ A ARK109,351,0007C © & BMKFE19
FR#UART AFT 4 H 5 B B R W 2 0 - st (58 PR A 1E
i ERERBE-Z—=F+=-A=+—A1
IEEFEEE -

(iii)

S ES

MNZZT—=F+_F  ANEBMETASHE
#$500,000,000E T # 15 G s8 & % ([ &
%) o EHIRFFRA021%5TE - FEF
HiE - EEREBHEARIMBER AR L
W BR=E—N\E+=AFH -

RZZT—=F+=-A=+—HBEMEHFH
NEEL B AR3,039,488,0007T ° AF
BELEHFRREARSEE AN TISERST

sty
= o
Eal
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26. ISSUED EQUITY
Paid up capital of the Target Group
As at 1 January 2011 and 2012, the issued equity of
the Group reflects the paid up capital of the Target
Group of RMB366,783,000. The share capital of
the Company at 1 January 2011 is RMB8,710,000
(equivalent to HK$10,685,000).

For the purpose of the presentation in the
consolidated financial statements, the issued equity
of the Group as at 1 January 2011 and 2012 under
merger accounting comprise of:

26. EBTRA
BRSENEARAR

N-—E——FR-—"T——&F—F—H " &
SEEBRTRARMEZSENEHRAE
AR#366,783,0007T ° RRABIR T ——
F—-—A—HHRAARARES,710,0007T

(HBERE®10,685,0007T) °

HEIGAMBRARM S - BRESHS
A AEER-_Z——FR-_T—_F

—H—BHE#ITRABHE :

RMB'000
ARBFIT
Share capital of the Company (HK$10,685,000) AR B I A (5% 10,685,0000T) 8,710
Other capital Hfh&E A 358,073
Issued equity of the Target Group BREENE EITRA 366,783
Ordinary share capital of the Company AARNEBRERAE
Number of
shares Amounts
REE kxi
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEEE0.017TH
=gl
Authorised: JETE
At 1 January 2012, 31 December R-_ZT——&—F—H-
2012 and 31 December 2013 —T——#+—H
=t+—BRZZT—=
+=—A=+—H 30,000,000,000 300,000
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26. ISSUED EQUITY (continued)

26. B BITRA @)

Ordinary share capital of the Company (continued) AARNERRRA (&)
Number of
shares Equivalent to
RO E HER
HK$’000 RMB’000
BETT AR® T
(restated)
(E51)
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRER
At 1 January 2012 and R-ZE——F
31 December 2012 —HA—BK
+=-—A=+—H 1,068,468,860 10,685 8,710
Issue of consideration shares /Tt (BR%H
(Note) (H15t) 2,897,028,703 28,970 22,971
Placing of shares (Note) it & 81D (A a) 939,760,297 9,398 7,451
At 31 December 2013 R-ZZE—=F+_47
=+—H 4,905,257,860 49,053 39,132

Note: As disclosed in note 2, the consideration of the Transaction

was partly satisfied by issue of 2,897,028,703 ordinary shares
of the Company at HK$2.05 per share (“Consideration
Shares”). The remaining consideration was satisfied by funds
raised through placing of 939,760,297 ordinary shares at
HK$2.05 each (“Placing Shares”). The net proceeds of (net of
transaction costs, mainly underwriting commission) Placing
Shares is RMB1,487,812,000 of which RMB593,983,000 was
utilised to settle the remaining consideration.

The issuance of Consideration Shares and Placing Shares
resulting an increase in ordinary share capital of the Company
of RMB30,422,000 and share premium of the Company of
RMB6,166,352,000 (approximately HK$7,776,960,000).

Wi - 2T R - RENRER DB BIZETRSE
#2 05703%172,897,028,703M A 2 7] 3@A ([ K
BRG D ER - S TREZBZRERBK2.057T
939,760,297 R L @A ([BL&E AR |) & (&
it o RERDFIERBFBINBREEABHEAS
MR SHEA) BAR1,487,812,0007T © HAF A
R#593,983,0007C 2 B LAE S 8 TARE ©

BITRERD REERMN GHAR AL BRKRA
N A K #30,422,0007T AN A 7] B 4 (B 3 o0
A K #6,166,352,000 7T ( £) 7 # 7,776,960,000

JT) °
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27. ACQUISITION OF THE EXISTING 27. WBREEER

GROUP

As disclosed in note 2, the Existing Group is deemed
to have been acquired at the date of Completion
of the Acquisition (as defined in note 1). The total
consideration of the Acquisition of HK$198,859,716
(approximately RMB161,196,000) was paid in cash
by Success Well to acquire approximately 70.18% of
the aggregate issued share capital of the Company
(the “"Deemed Consideration”). The fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the Existing Group
at the date of Completion of the Acquisition are as
follows:

MK F2FTHE - WA S EREERK
BERKBHERKE(EE AME) -
Uy B% 48 X {8 198,859,716 78 7T () A R #&
161,196,0007T) AR ERAIRE S+ LAl
BADNR B BITIRAAAEELT70.18% ([181E
RED  -BRBEEEAZHFIEEREBENHA
FERUREETA BT ¢

RMB’'000

AREFIT

Property, plant and equipment e N 96
Bank balances and cash RITEBRER® 7,061
Trade receivables FIEREW IR 470
Other receivables and prepayments H b i Wk B K TR 3R 13,118

Other payables and accrual H A e FRIE N e AT & A (2,311)

Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER (17,029)
1,405

Goodwill is determined as the excess of the
consideration of the Acquisition and the amount of
non-controlling interests in the Existing Group over
the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired of the Existing Group as at the date of
Completion, as follows:

BERKBRELAEREFERERS
BREENEBTKARREREAERE
EXBENATFENSEEENT

RMB’'000
AREEFIT
Deemed Consideration HIERE 161,196
Non-controlling interests (Note) JEFERRAE 2R S EE (HTaE) 419
Fair value of identifiable net assets of REEE#HEENATE
the Existing Group (1,405)
Goodwill RS 160,210
Net cash inflow arising on the Acquisition: WHEEARIRSRAFRE
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRNIRS 7,061

Note: The non-controlling interests (29.82%) recognised at the
acquisition date was measured by the proportionate share of
net assets acquired.
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EEr=

27.

28.

T A=+ —AUFE

ACQUISITION OF THE EXISTING
GROUP (continued)

Goodwill arose in the Acquisition because the cost
of the combination included in a control premium.
In addition, the consideration paid for combination
effectively included amounts in relation to the
benefit of future market development as well as
fund raising platform for the properties development
business. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets.

None of the goodwill arising on the Acquisition is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

In July 2013, the Group completed the acquisition
of the 51% equity interest of 1L EMIRE
R AR A] Foshan Kai Da Cheng Investment
and Development Co., Ltd., an entity holding a
parcel of land in the PRC, through a non-wholly
owned subsidiary for a cash consideration of
RMB105,100,000. This transaction was accounted
for as an acquisition of assets as the acquisition does
not meet the definition of a business combination.

Fair value of assets and liabilities recognised at the
date of acquisition:

27.

28.

WEEEEE @

HRAEHRABRENEE  WRBEL
B - N REHANREER B8R
BRAXEBERAENGER NS HMERZE
BRETENEHE ZSak A RAE
BUWER  REAEATEARMNELE
EERVTERRAGRAT

Wi = A RO R B TR AT H0FR o

gﬂ&ﬁ—%WEﬁﬂWﬁﬁ

RZZE—Z=ZFtH AEEETHEB—
RIEZ2 BB R R WEG LTI ZERE
BRERERAARI(RPRFEE B ha
EE)S1%BEAED  ReEREBEARE
105,100,0007T ° Lt IER Z AR BWEE
E  RAABKBTNFEESEHNEE °

RIRE R RN EERBBERYE

RMB’'000
AREF T
Net assets acquired: FriiiE & = #1E ¢

Properties under development BERPYE 729,797
Property, plant and equipment L E R 22
Bank balances and cash RITEBR IR 1,248
Other payables HpENFOA (305,369)
Amounts due to shareholders FERT AR R SR8 (316,066)
Net assets BESE 109,632
Non-controlling interests FEFE R A = (4,532)
Consideration RIE 105,100

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: U B RFEE AR YR &7 VR R
Consideration paid in cash AR eZARE 105,100
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired W FTiRITHER IR (1,248)
103,852

T ——FFR BERBHBRLF 143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A R R P

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Er—

29.

30.

F—=Ff-f=1—ALEE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN
(i) Plans for Hong Kong employees
The Group participates in a MPF Scheme for
all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the
control of an independent trustee. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF
Scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme. No forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years.
(ii) Plans for PRC employees
The employees employed in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement
benefit schemes operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of their payroll
to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is
to make the required contributions under the
schemes.

The total cost of RMB14,904,000 (2012:
RMB9,997,000) charged to profit or loss represents
contributions paid or payable to the above schemes
by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
loans from equity holders, bonds, bank and other
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity, comprising share capital, share premium,
various reserves and non-controlling interests.
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29.

30.

RAKBEREE

() HFERESE
AEERBTEMAREREEZ AR
EEE - BB INEEER
P IASTEASE S0 E 5 BN E Py
REENHRBA - AREHBES
M- R ERREZTEELRE
PR o 3 2R KA SRAT IR R 2R
FREBNPER -

o

HEES
TEEE2EPBERFMEFNER
BIRKBHEE - FEMELRA
[A) A% SRR AR A 5T 8IS B B 3B T
BOLNER  RRERIIERE
T o AREHERKBAFENE—]
ERRIEZETEIELREHK -

(ii) £l

B8z R4 AR A R ¥ 14,904,0007T
(ZZ——%F : AR¥9,997,0007T) ' BN&E,
E_E—=F+-_A=t+—HILEFELXE
BB sk e Ealist 2R o

ETRERERE
AEEEREES  URRASENEE

BEANSELE TR EE AR AR
2 BT 7 5 75 BB 0 B R T A R
FRBAG o AR EEEFEEE L ER
KT -

AEBMEREBBREREEDERFA AN
X Er  ROKEMEES RERF
R &8 B F R A R (BRRA - i)

"B S AR NIk ER) -
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30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 30. B & BB EE &)
The directors of the Company review the capital ARBERTEHRAERERE - EREE
structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, —#5 ARREZERERKAE - BB
the directors of the Company consider the cost of R EEBRLERSHEERBEANER

capital, cost of debts, gearing ratios and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will

R MREFNHEBRER  AEEKER
TR~ IR AR B IA R B ITHEHEER
BER  FEERBEAGERE -

balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues, the payment of dividends as well as
the issue of new debts or the repayment of existing
debts.

The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the REBRREHPHEE RN ERB B X

reporting period was as follows: mr
2013 2012
—E—= —ZT——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT T
(restated)
(%)
Debt (i) (=t.:30] 7,042,741 4,676,386
Cash and cash equivalents BeRERRESER (6,618,086)  (2,134,944)
Net debt RS 424,655 2,541,442
Equity (ii) (i) 11,456,311 3,375,852
Net debt to equity ratio TFEE R X 0.04 0.75
(i) Debt is defined as interest-bearing amount due to (i) BHEREAEBEEMPNERARIE - RE#E

intermediate holding company, advances from equity holders, wIF A AR - EHEURRITREMEER -

bonds and bank and other borrowings.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group and non- (i) RERBEANEEAEEARREREA MRS o
controlling interests.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. €@ T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) eMIEDE
2013 2012
—E—= —T——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
(restated)
(&%)
Financial assets SRIEE
Loans and receivables (including cash ER Kk ERGIE(BIE
and cash equivalents) RHeRERBLER) 8,664,761 6,788,876
Financial liabilities SRIEE
Amortised cost HEESHRA 8,818,140 12,169,475
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MKEKREEEERBE
and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include AEENTZESHTAREERRE
trade and other receivables, restricted bank fth FEULFRIE ~ ZRBIRITFR © $RIT
deposits, bank balances and cash, loans from HEHRRES  BEIEFEAER - XK
equity holders, trade and other payables, bank REAMEARIE - RITREMEES
and other borrowings and bonds payable. BRES - ZE2m T AENFFBENAE
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed BT EE - 25T AABEER
in respective notes. The risks associated with R an R 88 5% & A R 6 BUR ES T
these financial instruments and the policies on X o BEREEEWERZERR B
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. WREETENE S EIEHE

The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group have foreign currency
denominated bank balances, trade and
other payables, loans from equity holders
and bonds payable, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. The
management has closely monitored foreign
exchange exposure and will undertake
procedures necessary to mitigate the
currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group's
foreign currency denominated monetary

31. @ T B )

(b) HBEBEEEEREE &)

WS EE

()

B R
AEBEBERIMNEFHENRITHA
B X REMEMNTUR - #a
FREANERRENES - BEXR
SEEHINERK - EEEEE
Y BEER SN L Bl K2 S BRER 4 B AR
FrbAREE BB EL g o

AEBUINEHENEREER
ERBERREHEAE AN

assets and monetary liabilities at the end HEXEBEET
of the reporting period mainly consist of
Us$:
Assets Liabilities
BE aE
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E2—= —T——F =ZB-—= —ET——F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TR ARBTT AR®TR AREBTT
(restated) (restated)
(&%) (&%)
Us$ ETT 3,175,841 333,804 3,034,000 4,813,182
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (2012: 5%) increase and
decrease in RMB, the functional currency
of respective group entities, against
US$ which represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rate.
The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding US$ denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2012: 5%) change in foreign currency
rate. A positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit where RMB
strengthen 5% (2012: 5%) against US$
and vice versa.

3. E@M T B
(b) BEEMREEBERBEE)

miEER(E)

(i)

EER R (E)

RN
TRFLAEEFARE (EF
HAROENNEER) LETAH
EREES%(ZE——4F : 5%)
RBURE - 155 18 B NS [E =R
A REHIRM A B E BT o &
RRENMERIEUETTENS
BIEE  WHREHMEAZEAH
INEETE RE5% (—ZF——4F ¢
5%)EBAEEME - LLTHIE
HETEAREHET EH5%
(ZZT——%F : 5% )BBRE%R
FIMIEINERE - RZINA o

2013 2012

—E—=F —T——4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARBT T

(restated)

(&751)

Profit or loss 1B (5.319) 167,977
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk management

The Group is primarily exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate interest bearing receivables
and payables, including restricted bank
deposits, bank balances, bank and
other borrowings and amounts due to
intermediate holding company/immediate
holding company/non-controlling equity
holders of subsidiaries of the Group.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk
relates primarily to its fixed-rate amount
due to an intermediate holding company
at 31 December 2012 and fixed-rate
amount due to non-controlling equity
holders of subsidiaries of the Group and
bonds payable as at 31 December 2013.

The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy in relation to
fair value interest rate risk and cash flow
interest rate risk. However, management
of the Company monitors interest rate
exposure on an on going basis and will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates
on financial liabilities are detailed in the
liquidity risk section of this note.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the
People’s Bank of China.

31. @ T B )
(b) HEEMEEEERBE®)

miSER(E)

(ii)

FIERE R EE
AREBFEHMAENESREAN
R [ f B2)F ) F R 51 B FE UK
B & ENFOE - BIEZREIRTT
TFR -~ RITRE R - RITREAME
BUKREAPNMERAT B
AT ANEBNE QB FEE
RSB ARFRE -

REBHAFERNERREEH
R-ZE——F+-_A=+—H%
EEFFEMEN—KPNER
RERBERR=ZE—=F+=A
=+ —BENASEMB AR
ZRriE A A RE R &R0 &
EESBR -

RE BRI A B A TEF
[ Be 30 2 7 ) 2R R 0 ) =R
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk management (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have
been prepared assuming these financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis points (2012:
50 basis points) increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel
and reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points
(2012: 50 basis points) higher/lower for
variable-rate interest bearing financial
assets/liabilities and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit
for the year would decrease/increase by
RMB2,087,000 (2012: RMB28,640,000).

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from:

the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial
position at the end of each reporting
period; and

the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantees issued by
the Group as disclosed in note 36.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. €M T R
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MEEEEREEZERBEE &)

and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk in
respect of bank balances. At 31 December
2013, approximately 68% (2012: 43%) of
the bank balances were deposited at China
Merchants Bank. Deposits in other banks
are individually less than 10% of total bank
deposits and bank balances. The credit risk
of these liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are either state-owned banks
located in the PRC or banks with high credit
ratings.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in
respect of amounts due from non-controlling
equity holders of subsidiaries of the Group at
31 December 2013 and 2012. At 31 December
2012, the Group also had concentration
of credit risk in respect of amount due
from an intermediate holding company. In
order to minimise the credit risk on these
amounts, the management of the Company
continuously monitors the credit quality
and financial conditions of an intermediate
holding company and non-controlling equity
holders of subsidiaries of the Group and
the level of exposure to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
Under such circumstances, the directors of
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
insignificant.

The Group provides guarantees to banks in
connection with certain customers’ borrowing
of mortgage loans to finance their purchase of
the Group's properties. If a purchaser defaults
on the payment of its mortgage during the
period of guarantee, the bank holding the
mortgage may demand the Group to repay
the outstanding loan and any interest accrued
thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to repossess the properties for resale.
Therefore, the management of the Company
consider it would likely recover any loss incurred
arising from the guarantee provided by the
Group. No such repossession of properties
occurred for the year ended 31 December 2013
(2012: Nil).

EERR (&)

REEFRBTEBREEERRES -
R-T—=%F+-"A=+—8 - f17
EERH168% ( —T— —4F : 43%)1FM
RIBRIRTT » ERIEMRITERIR
IRITF R RIRI TR BEEMN10% © it
#/}\b@éﬁigﬂmgﬂ ﬁﬁE‘( EEEIEA
HARMRTENBEABRITHASE
BT ARARTT

RZE—=FR=-F—=-F+=H
:+ SRR STy gl e SET e
RAFFEREEFEARBREEER
BEFR - R_FT——_F+_HA=+—
(SRR SETY) Wi G2 /N BN
Eﬁf%ﬂ S o BRI ERIAN
EERREESE  ARAREEER
ﬁw?¢u?““7&$%lW%
BPFER RS A ANGERER LM
TEAR S IA B B B oK S - 4R AT $REX
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

3. EMIT B
(b) BEEMREEBERBEE)

and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding generated from
operating activities and the flexibility through
the use of borrowings and issue of new debts.
The directors of the Company closely monitor
the liquidity position and expect to have
adequate sources of funding to finance the
Group’s projects and operations.

The following table details the Group’s
expected remaining contractual maturity for
its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities

REBE SRR
AEENBBERBBERERERLE
RYEENESHBEEEMBEET LR
¥l  ARREFEIERRDE
MR RIBHA TR E S H HRE
NAREEAIRE REE -

TREVNAEEBHIETESREE
R N AXEIHE - ZRERIEITE
TREBENAMARERE - REX
SEAEHNRNRFT AR -
ZREBEMNERTERSRE © fHH

ERERTE  AMATBANHSE
HIR A E BRI R RS o

based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest
rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

Weight
average  On demand Total
effective or within 61to 181to undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate 60days  180days  365days  1-2years  2-3years Over3years cashflows amount
ik o7 REX REBRE
L7k 360BR 6121808 181%365H 1528 123F BB REER REE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AREBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Asat31December 2013 ~ R-E-Zf
tZA=t-H
Trade and other payables ERR AR
- interest free -4%8 - 1775399 - - - - - 1775399 1,775,399
Loans from equity holders ERREANER
- due after one year ——5RIE 6.15% 3431 6,861 10,579 360,229 - - 381,100 339,358
Bank borrowings RTEE
- Variable-rate —%8 5.87% 35,694 2,061,705 52,274 1,636,492 - - 3786165 3,700,000
Bonds payable ENES 4.021% - 61,289 61,289 122,578 122578 3293606 3,661,340 3,003,383
1814524 2,129,855 124142 2,119.299 122578 3293606 9,604,004 8818140
Financial quarantee contracts ~ BFERAH) 464,153 - - - - - 464153 -
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

31. @ T B )
(b) HEEMEEEERBE®)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBESRR(F)
Weight
average  On demand Total
effective o within 61to 181t0 undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate 60days  180days  365days  1-2years  2-3years Over3years cash flows amount
il 3571 REX AERRS
ERAZ  G60AR 6121808 1812365 122% 1B EBF iEHE ]
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARETR ARMTR AR®Tn ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR
As at 31 December 2012 WZ8-ZF
(restated) TZB=1-H
(E5)
Trade and other payables ERREMESE
- interest free -48 - 2,671,219 25,273 = = = - 26949 2,696,492
- fixed-rate -E8 5.50% 29,713 59546 3387875 - - - 3477194 329,075
- variable-ate -8 2.55% 2,495 - - - - - 2,495 2433
Loans from equity holders ~ ExHHAER
- due within one year -—ER3H - 4794164 - - - - - 4794164 4794164
- due after one year —— 5 6.40% 11432 23214 3527 1,173,769 - - 1243642 1,169,960
Bank borrowings RifRE
- variable-rate -5 6.78% 2,344 4,689 108,529 7,3% 115,769 - 238727 210,351
7511,427 112,722 3531,631 1,181,165 115,769 - 12452714 12,169,475
Financial guarantee contracts ~ B1T5E(RA4) 29,466 - - - - - 29,466 -

The amounts included above for financial
guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts
the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed
amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantors. Based on the
expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the Group considers that it is more likely than
not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee,
which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparties
that are guaranteed by the Group suffer any
credit losses.

ERABMBEREONEE /MR
SHFRERIEHAER  REDEE
RE LA RERRAEEFER R
PR  ARNYHRENHAE AN
B AEERBRAUELEAREZZ
BEX Y LatsRIR - AT - & fEETRE
ARXSHFREEZRELFROARE
HmkE  AKERRZSZE FHR
FRKRPBRIBEREEBENTAE
M o
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments
Except as set out below, the directors of the
Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities as at
31 December 2013 and 2012 are recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

3. €@ T R

() ESMIAAFETE

BRRXHTEIN ARBEERAE -
RZE—=Fk=T—=-F+=H
=+—H  REETBRERAEIENX
AAEZeREERCRABE KRR
EREQNFERE -

Carrying
amount Fair value
SRMEE AFE
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT
(note 25) (note 25)
(Krat25) (#iz£25)
As at 31 December 2013 N—_E—=
+=-A=+—8
Financial liability — level 2 Fair value 4 REE-%=&
hierarchy AFEER
Other financial liability Hit e a A&
— Bonds payable —[EES 3,003,383 3,039,488

The fair values of other financial assets and
financial liabilities have been determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow
analysis.
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32. OPERATING LEASES 32. KEMHE

The Group as a lessor
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the future minimum
lease payments as follows:

FEBER/HAA
RIBEHRAEER - AEED EZEFHINA
IARRKERERIE# - BERAT

2013 2012

—E—=F —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETFTT

(restated)

(&31)

Within one year —FR 918 863
In the second to fifth year inclusive “ERFN(BIEEEMRSE) 3,754 3,085
After five years AFE - 1,335
4,672 5,283

The Group as a lessee

The Group’s minimum lease payments paid during
the year ended 31 December 2013 under operating
leases in respect of rented premises amounted to
RMB1,251,000 (2012: RMB1,728,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of leased
properties are as follows:

AEBEERAHEA
HE-_ZT-—=F+-A=1+—HLEFE"
AEBERBECEHEREHAMEINH
HEEEFEAARK,251,0000( ==
——%F : AR¥1,728,0007T) °

RFERBEER - AEERBEAHEE
KEHEREHEMENRRFEHEERK
THAN N -

2013 2012

—g-= —ET—=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T

(restated)

(E51)

Within one year —FNR 1,099 1,280
In the second to fifth year inclusive —ERFR(BREERRE) 5,347 4,968
After five years hF& 16,201 17,696
22,647 23,944

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases
are negotiated for an average term of one to fifteen
years and rentals are fixed at the date of signing of
lease agreements.

KEHEREREAEERESETHAE
(YL  c HOE—ETHAENFS
HREER - MASREHERRE AHE
Eo
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33. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed in note 2, the following
major non-cash transactions took place during the
year:

(i) During the year, the non-controlling equity
holders of Foshan Merchants Wharf, Pride Oasis
Limited and Harpen injected total amount of
approximately RMB3,470,158,000 of which
an amount of RMB105,000,000 was fully paid
by offset against the dividend payable to non-
controlling equity holders and an amount of
RMB2,397,082,000 was set off against the
amounts due to non-controlling equity holders
of subsidiaries of the Group.

(i)  On 19 April 2013, Sino Action was interspersed
between Eureka and Merchants Guangzhou
and held 21% equity interest in Merchants
Guangzhou. On 9 June 2013, Eureka transferred
its 50% equity interest in Foshan Merchants
Wharf (as defined in note 38) to Sino Action.
On 13 May 2013, Happy City was interspersed
between Eureka and Merchants Nanjing (as
defined in note 38) and became the holding
company of Merchants Nanjing (as defined in
note 38) holding 51% equity interests therein
(collectively referred to as “Restructuring”).
The Restructuring was completed on 9 June
2013. The total consideration of Restructuring
payable to Eureka is RMB739,801,000 and
the amounts were recorded as amount due
to an intermediate holding company,which
was included as Shareholders Loans of the
Transaction.
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34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
pledged the following assets to secure the bank
borrowing granted to the Group:

34. EERF

REREMEEER - REBCDIERLAT
BE  NERRTASENRITRE

2013 2012
—E—= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
(restated)

(E51)

Properties under development for sale
(note 19)

AR ERRTYMEAE19)

= 554,429

35. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
the following commitments:

35. &iE

RBEMBEER - REBFUTAE

2013 2012
—E-—=F —B——fF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
(restated)
(&31)
Commitments contracted for but not T RERTAEL RRERE
provided in the consolidated financial EA SRR B R AR
statements in respect of:
— construction of properties under — SRR EERTYE
development for sale 2,329,990 3,531,236
— land use rights to be acquired for — AR HEEERYE
properties under development for sale 7 Uk BB A £ Hb {58 A 4 2,355,121 =
4,685,111 3,531,236
Commitments authorised but not AT REREEI AR
contracted for in respect of: HAHE -
— land use rights to be acquired for — A HEEEFME
properties under development for sale 15 T W B A 3 5 PR A 3,040,029 -
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Er—

36.

37.

F—=Ff-f=1—ALEE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent
liabilities of the Group were as follows:

36.

XAREE
RBEHREERE - AEENKAL RSN
T

2013 2012
2= —T——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT
(restated)
(23)
Guarantee given to banks in connection BHFE=FHRLEL T
with facilities granted to third parties IRITH AR 464,153 29,466

The Group acted as guarantor to the mortgage
loans granted to certain purchasers of the Group's
properties and agreed to repay the outstanding
loan and interest accrual thereon, if the purchasers
default the repayment of loan before the issue of the
property certificate. The directors of the Company
consider that the fair value of the financial guarantee
contracts is not significant as the default rate is low.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

AND BALANCES

(a) Related party transactions
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group
had the following transactions with related

37.

AEERRTARESE TYMEERNRE
ERMBEBEERA - LREMHEZRER
BHMEBSAEEEN  AEESEE
WABEEERREANE - ARENER
K ARBAEERRUBERAONAF
BEITEKX -

BREALXRZ K&

(a) BAEALRE
REAWBBRREMEHARESE
Sh AEBEBEATENTRS :

parties:
2013 2012
“E-=F% “E-CF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT
(restated)
Related party BEAL Nature of transaction REHE (E51)
Fellow subsidiaries FZHB2AR  Property management WMEEEER
fee expense (Note) (Bf3Z) 78,122 65,269
Sales of goods (Note) HEERME) 73,134 10,427
Interest income FEUWA 15,951 13,920
Operational support BESFRBBA
service income (Note) (Hst) 1,866 -

Note: These related party transactions constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules and the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES (continued)
(b) Related party balances
Details of the Group’s balances with related
parties are disclosed in notes 20, 22 and 23.

As at 31 December 2013, approximately
RMB2,828,050,000 (2012: 1,461,535,000) was
deposited at China Merchants Bank which is an
associate of CMG.

(c) Compensation of key management

37. BEATRERE @)

(b) BAEALKER

AR RE A TR RGBT
20~ 222345 -

R—_E—ZF+=-A=Z+ —
H REBARTEROARE
2,828,050,0007t(ZZE—=F : AR
#1,461,535,0007T) * HBERT AR
GIGEI P NG|

() FEEBAENMHE

personnel
2013 2012
—E—= —ZT——F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETR ARETTT
(restated)
(E%1))
Short-term employee benefits RHEEER 7,037 5,448
Post-employment benefits RIRAEA 266 253
7,303 5,701
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BHEr—F—=

Fr=—A=+—HILFE

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES (continued)

(d) Transactions with other government-

(e)

related entities in the PRC

The Group itself is part of a larger group of
companies under CMG which is controlled by
the PRC government. Thus, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group is ultimately
controlled by the PRC government. In addition,
the Group operates in an economic environment
currently predenominated by entities controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the PRC government (“PRC government-related
entities”). Apart from the transactions with
the intermediate holding companies and the
fellow subsidiary set out in (a) and (b) above,
the Group also conducts businesses with other
PRC government-related entities in the ordinary
course of business. The Group'’s restricted bank
deposits, bank deposits and bank borrowings
are entered into with certain banks which are
PRC government-related entities in its ordinary
course of business. In addition, the Group
entered into various transactions, including
purchases of land use rights, construction
of properties and other operating expenses
with other PRC government-related entities
in the ordinary course of business. In view
of the nature of those banking transactions,
the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that separate disclosures would not be
meaningful.

Management services

The Group's activities were planned, directed
and controlled by the management of CMPD,
which did not charge any fee for services
rendered during both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS R R MY e

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. XA RIMB AR ZFE
THE COMPANY
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 RZIE——FR_FT—=F+_A=+—
December 2012 and 2013 are as follows: B RANARIMBARZFBEET

Issued and fully
paid share capital/  Attributable equity interest

Place of registered capital held
Name of subsidiary establishment ~ BETREAKRES & by the Company Principal activity
MEAR R KIS A FRAMERER DL FEEER
2013 2012
ZE-=f %%
Directly owned
ERER
Champion Apex Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Trading of electronic and
EEARAA i 7%10,0007C electrical related products
BEETREEEMR
TRRARC
Grand Golden Profit Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Inactive
BlEMERAT] BB 710,000 TEEK
Harvest Allied Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% - Investment holding
E% &R 75%10,0007C &R
Indirectly owned
3 L)
Guan Hua Gang Trading PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of electronic and
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* el AK#1,000,0007C electrical and building
BEEEH(RINERAA related materials and
equipment
BEETREREM
I REEAEHHRR
s

Indirectly owned at 31 December 2013 and deemed subsidiaries under the Transaction at 31 December 2012.

KRB A=t—AERA RN - —F T - A=T - ERBX AR L HNBAF -
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BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. AR TIMB AR Z2F B @)

THE COMPANY (continued)

Issued and fully

paid share capital/  Attributable equity interest
Place of registered capital held
Name of subsidiary establishment BRTREARE/ by the Company Principal activity
HWEADER R AR A FRAMERERSE  FEER
2013 2012
“2-=f —T-f
China West Premier Housing PRC US$569,960,000 50% 50%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* HE (Paid-up capital: NEER
(Notes 1 & 5) US$533,960,015)
ERRBENREARAA 569,960,003 70
(Hi#1£5) (BEIRA -
533,960,015%70)
Converge British Virgin Us$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
EX Islands ("BVI")  2%E7T REER
RERES(®
BRELAE])
Cosmo City Limited (Note 5) Hong Kong HK$2,320,010,000 50% 50%  Investment holding
EHBRAR(Hits) i3 7%#2,320,010,0007C REER
Foshan Merchants Wharf Property ~ PRC US$149,890,000 50% 50%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* HE (paid-up capital: MELR
("Foshan Merchants Wharf") US$109,898,000)
(Notes 1 & 4) 149,890,000 70
BLAEERREERAR (BRIRA -
(MhmEEnER]) 109,898,003 L)
(Hizt1k4)
Foshan Xin Cheng Property PRC US$127,000,000 25.5% 25.5%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* HE 127,000,000 7T ESE
("Foshan Xin Cheng”)
(Notes 2 & 6)
FILSHE D ERRAR
(hr22k6)
Foshan Xin Jie Property PRC US$264,670,000 50% 50%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* HE (paid-up capital NERR
(Notes 18 7) US$228,774,000)
LG ERRAR 264,670,000%
(Hizt1k7) (BB :
228,774,000%70)
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. X BB AR 2B @)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Issued and fully
paid share capital/  Attributable equity interest

Place of registered capital held
Name of subsidiary establishment ~ BETREARES & by the Company Principal activity
HWEAREE Kb il AARFERERSE  EEEE
2013 2012
“B-=§ C"E--fF
Foshan Yi Yun Property PRC RMB30,000,000 25.5% 25.5%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* i AK#30,000,0007C NELR
("Foshan Yi Yun")
(Notes 3 & 6)
BUKEEHEERAR
(TBILRE ) (Hrit3z6)
Foshan Shunde Yi Yun De Sheng PRC RMB10,000,000 51% - Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd. AK%10,000,0007 NEER
(Notes 3 & 8)
BILEEREEREIE
BRAR(H23K8)
Foshan Kai Da Cheng Investment ~ PRC RMB10,000,000 26.01% - Property development
and Development Co., Ltd. m AK#10,000,0007 MEER
(Notes 3, 88 9)
BILTHAENREERBRA A
(W23 - 8729)
Happy City Hong Kong HK$100 100% - Investment holding
Ee i 1007 REER
Harpen (Note 4) Hong Kong HK$10,000 50% 50% Investment holding
eff(its) Bk 7E1£10,0007 RARR
Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co.,  PRC RMB30,000,000 51% 51%  Property development
Ltd.* (“Merchants Nanjing”) i AE30,000,0007C NERE
(Note 2)
RrRtEER)ERAR
((ARRBRE]) (Hi2)
Merchants Property Development ~ PRC RMB200,000,000 51% 51%  Property development
(Guangzbou) Ltd.* ("Merchants AEK#200,000,0007C NERE

Guangzhou") (Note 2)
ENRERNEERAT
((ENFRBERE]) (22
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

Attributable equity interest

38. AR TIMB AR Z2F B @)

Place of registered capital held
Name of subsidiary establishment BROREBHRA & by the Company Principal activity
WELRER R 3t 3 il e RARFERERAL  EEXER
2013 2012
“E-Zf ~“Z——F
Nanjing China Merchants Rui PRC RMB30,000,000 51% 51%  Property development
Sheng Property Co., Ltd.* i K 30,000,000 NEER
(Note 3)
HrREREEEGBR AT
(Wit3)
Pride Qasis Limited (Note 4) BVI US$300,030,000 50% 50%  Investment holding
RRERAR Hit4) EBRAES 300,030,000% 7 REER
Sino Action Hong Kong HK$100 100% - Investment holding
£ &R AH1007 REER
Chongging China Merchants Yi PRC RMB20,000,000 51% - Property development
Yun Property Co., Ltd.* i K 20,000,000 NEER

(Notes 3 and 8)

ERRBREREEERAR
(W23 R8)

Note 1:
Note 2:
Note 3:
Note 4:

Note 5:
Note 6:

Note 7:
Note 8:
Note 9:

The English name is for identification only. The official
name of the entity is in Chinese.

The entity is a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

The entity is a sino-foreign joint venture.

The entity is a wholly-domestic owned enterprise.

This entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company
despite the Company holds directly and indirectly not more
than half of the equity interest therein as the Company
has the power to cast the majority of votes at meetings of
the board of directors of this entity, which has power to
affect the returns of this entity.

The entity is a subsidiary of Pride Oasis Limited.

This entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company
despite the Company indirectly holds not more than half
of the equity interest therein as Merchants Guangzhou,
a subsidiary of the Company, has the power of cast the
majority of votes of the board of directors of this entity,
which has power to affect the returns of this entity.

The entity is a subsidiary of Harpen.

The entity is a subsidiary of Merchants Guangzhou.

The entity was acquired by Merchants Guangzhou in July
2013. Details of this are set out in note 28.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS R R MY e

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—T—=Ff—_A=1—HIFE

39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED 39. BEEEAFEREZNAEE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP FZ2EMB D EIFHE
THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned BEAEERFERERNANERIF2ENE
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- NRIFBEHIIN T

controlling interests:

Place of incorporation/
establishment and

principal place of Voting rights held by Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of entity business non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
HRRYL/ IR
REZE TREXHY FERRBABRRRLA DETHEREDET(5R) EHE SV 5
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

“g-=§ -T--F C-®-=f -Z--F CZB-=f -Z-—-F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR AR¥ETR ARETR

(restated) (restated)
(&31) (Z51)
Foshan Merchants Wharf PRC
BlAENER HE 50% 50% 58,344 (1815 427,535 338,230
Pride Oasis Limited Hong Kong
BEERAT i 50% 50% 63,512 (4,141) 2,705,576 80,469
Harpen Hong Kong
2fk i 50% 50% 42,750 120,412 955,802 108,950
Merchants Guangzhou PRC
BNRERELE HE 49% 49% 746,454 614,039 2,042,800 1,362,314
911,060 728,495 6,131,713 1,889,963
Summarised consolidated financial information in HEEEBERFIERERNANEE T
respect of each of the Group's entities that has Bt ) B s B R PR T3k o TRt i)
material non-controlling interests is set out below. MBERRTEENR L HATN SR

The summarised consolidated financial information
below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.
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39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP
THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-

30 BAEAFERERNAER

k2EMBARFEB @

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

2013 2012
—E—=F —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETT
(restated)
(&%)
(1) Foshan Merchants Wharf (1) HLBEAER
Non-current assets IERBNEE 1,997 463
Current assets MENEE 1,300,596 1,262,261
Current liabilities mEBE 447,523 586,264
Equity attributable to owners of RATIEE AEERER
the Company 427,535 338,230
Non-controlling interests SRR R 427,535 338,230
Revenue e 687,482 -
Expenses X 510,082 4,097
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive FREBRHM(ER) N2
income (expense) for the year W A (FEsk ) 4a%m 116,689 (3,630)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive KRARHEE NEE R
income (expense) attributable to (RN ESEL PN
owners of the Company (AX)ssE 58,345 (1,815)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive FE A7 FS A 25 B A s
income (expense) attributable to (BB RE2mEKA
non-controlling interests (A% )%sE 58,344 (1,815)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive FEHN(EE) REE
income (expense) for the year WA () 458 116,689 (3,630)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B IR iR i 2 AR B
interests - -
Net cash inflow from operating EEFERHIRE
activities MAFEE 152,452 207,750
Net cash outflow from investing KEXBHNRL R
activities SRR (50,105) (24,176)
Net cash outflow from financing BUE XIS D
activities R (41,006) (86,326)
Net cash inflow RERAFEE 61,341 97,248
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39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP
THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

0. BEERFEREZNEER
k2EMBARFE @

2013 2012
2= —E——fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBT T
(restated)
(&%)
(2) Pride Oasis Limited (2) H&HERATF
Non-current assets EmEEE 26,995 16,973
Current assets mENEE 6,223,478 5,196,498
Current liabilities mENaE 838,172 4,943,183
Non-current liabilities FEREBaE 1,148 109,350
Equity attributable to owners of the RNATHEA AL ER
Company 2,705,577 80,469
Non-controlling interests SRR 2,705,576 80,469
Revenue g 526,413 -
Expenses Fsz 430,114 29,155
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive FERN(EE) REE
income (expense) for the year AR )88 127,024 (8,282)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive RAEHEA AER R
income (expense) attributable to (BB RE2EBA
owners of the Company (A4 63,512 (4,141)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive FEIE AR R 2 R (i A
income (expense) attributable to (BR)R2EEA
non-controlling interests (AX)45E 63,512 (4,141)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive FERN(EE) REE
income (expense) for the year WA ()85 127,024 (8,282)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT FEFE iR i s AR B
interests = -
Net cash outflow from operating A e TR B TH S o L
activities SRHEE (1,602,575) (249,100)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from WEEENIRS(CRE)
investing activities MAFEE (118) 4,607
Net cash inflow from financing BEEFHIRESRA
activities TRER 1,740,051 741,840
Net cash inflow RERNFRE 137,358 497,347
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39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP
THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-

30 BAEAFERERNAER

k2EMBARFEB @

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

2013 2012
2= —T——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
(restated)
(&%)
(3) Harpen 3) =
Non-current assets ERBNEE 1,041 920
Current assets TENVE 3,080,514 2,919,001
Current liabilities mEE & 1,166,960 2,702,021
Non-current liabilities FERBAE 2,991 -
Equity attributable to owners of RATIHEE AEEER
the Company 955,802 108,950
Non-controlling interests JEPE AR R 955,802 108,950
Revenue Wz 928,961 148,264
Expenses F sz 869,240 105,686
Profit and total comprehensive income FE=RMNEEEBA
for the year FRkE) 85,500 240,824
Profit and total comprehensive income RAEHEE AEE R
attributable to owners of the FEmWALRRE
Company 42,750 120,412
Profit and total comprehensive income IEERERE R R
attributable to non-controlling 2EABEE
interests 42,750 120,412
Profit and total comprehensive income FEERMNEEEBA
for the year FREE) 85,500 240,824
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT IR R i 2 AR B
interests = -
Net cash inflow from operating LRI EBRA
activities FEE 365,146 371,279
Net cash outflow from investing HEEBHIR SR
activities FEE (507,918) (549,363)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from BB RIS TRA
financing activities (OfeH ) F8E 211,736 (5,009)
Net cash inflow (outflow) WEMACGRD )58 68,964 (183,093)
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39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP
THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-

0. EAEARFERESENEARH

k2EMBARFE @

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

2013 2012
2= —E——fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBT T
(restated)
(&%)
(4) Merchants Guangzhou 4) EMBEEE
Non-current assets EMENEE 2,932,355 1,634,731
Current assets mMENEE 8,914,486 8,065,369
Current liabilities mENaE 7,188,028 6,495,915
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 1,439,358 1,169,960
Equity attributable to owners of RARHEE AEEER
the Company 1,176,655 671,911
Non-controlling interests SEERE R 2,042,800 1,362,314
Revenue Wzs 3,626,001 3,626,036
Expenses Fz 1,544,989 1,417,770
Profit and total comprehensive income FEHMEEERA
for the year Pk 1,172,842 1,080,234
Profit and total comprehensive income KRR RHEE AR
attributable to the owners of the REEBABE
Company 426,388 466,195
Profit and total comprehensive income FEPE R A s FE (R ) 2
attributable to non-controlling ZHIRABRE
interests 746,454 614,039
Profit and total comprehensive income FEHMNEEEBA
for the year Pk 1,172,842 1,080,234
Dividends paid to non-controlling B FEFE iR i s AR B
interests 144,000 429,667
Net cash (outflow) inflow from BRI IH S ()
operating activities A HEE (1,646,329) 1,977,703
Net cash inflow (outflow) from B EENIRES RA
investing activities OfE )58 598,819  (1,380,870)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from BB EENIRES A
financing activities (fEH ) F8E 860,544 (517,064)
Net cash (outflow) inflow HeORE)RAFE (186,966) 79,769

“T=FFF HHERBEMARAT 169



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A R R P

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff{—_H=1—HIFE

40. SIGNIFICANT RESTRICTION

41.

The entities of the Group which were established
in the PRC maintained RMB denominated bank
balances, the remittance of these funds out of the

40. ERRHI
RABK I AEBR TR
BRI BPBEIELZ
PR B BT B PR ) o

PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by

the PRC government.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE

FEAUARED

ERAAR

4. ERADARBRREZEH

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

2013 2012
—EB-=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
(restated)
(&%)

ASSETS EE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 85 =
Investments in unlisted subsidiaries RIELETB AR ZIRE 16 8
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note a)  FEURHIB A =28 (Hi2a) 6,284,560 -

Prepayments, deposits and other JERZIE -« 124 B EARE

receivables RIA 438 191
Bank balances and cash RITETFRIRE 2,862,411 4
9,147,510 203

LIABILITIES =L
Other payables and accruals H e FRIE R AT & 34,388 1,033
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note a) FEATI B A T3 (ffita) 36,601 10,076
Loan from immediate holding company kKB EEER AR ZER - 2,433
Bonds payable ERES 3,003,383 -
3,074,372 13,542
6,073,138 (13,339)

170 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2013



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS R R MY e

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F——F+=A=+—HIFE

41. INFORMATION ABOUT THE N EBEBERAAHBEMRRRZER
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (#&)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
2013 2012
—EB-=F —E—F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
(restated)
(&%)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAERFEE
Share capital R& A 39,132 8,710
Share premium A& 1D 5 (& 6,227,510 61,158
Contributed reserve =X G 46,004 46,004
Translation reserve WE 8,076 9,158
Accumulated losses (Note b) 2B (AaED) (247,584) (138,369)
6,073,138 (13,339)
Notes: Htat -
(@)  The amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable on (a) ZESERBIER  THERAREREE -
demand.
(b) The movement of accumulated losses from the date of (b) EFTSEZHHIINAT :

Completion is shown as follows:

Accumulated
losses

Gy i

RMB’'000

AREFT

(restated)

(E7)

At the date of Completion R 7ERk B 5 (136,227)

Loss for the period HAEE (2,142)
At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013 R-TE——F+-_fF=+—HBK

—ZET—=%5—HA—H (138,369)

Loss for the year FEREE (109,215)

At 31 December 2013 R-ZZT—=F+=-A=+—8H (247,584)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A FMBERBE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the published audited financial statements for the
nine months ended 31 December 2012 and for the year
ended 31 March 2010, 2011 and 2012, as below. For the
year ended 31 December 2012 and 2013 which extracted
from the annual report 2013 was restated as appropriate,

is set out below.

ATEHIARNEEAERAEPBRFENELSE - &
EXRBEHNE  TXEHNDREEEE=ZT—=
FHZA=+—ANERLEHEE=Z—TF
—E—FRZFEZF=A=1+—HILFEHD
EHEEEZMBRE  BHRE T =55k
NEE—_T——FN_FT—=F+"_F=+—8H
IFFEMNERBELEEESWEHINIAT o

RESULTS E Nine months
ended
31 December
BZt=R
Year ended 31 December =t+-A Year ended 31 March
HEt-B=t-HLEE LEAfEA BZ=A=1-RL%E
2013 2012 2012 2012 2011 2010
-z C-T-—-f -ZT--f CZT-Z§f F—F ZT-%%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR%Tn ARETR
(restated)
(&51)
REVENUE WA 6,927,871 4,362,053 74,388 147,864 67,449 428,521
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX  BRBiAI%A / (BE) 2,676,555 2,254,239 (9,595) (51,956) 338,529 (709,795)
Income tax FiEH (1,261,736)  (1,214,434) - - - 13,204
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AEE%F/ (FE) 1,414,819 1,039,805 (9,595) (51,956) 338,529 (696,591)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE As at 31 December As at 31 March
R+=A=t-R R=A=+-R
2013 2012 2012 2012 2011 2010
“B8-=f -EF--% -E--f <-F--f -ET—% CZE-IE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARETT AR%Tn ARETR
(restated)
(231)
TOTAL ASSETS BEAE 28,160,951 23,297,738 42 588 206,437 321,147 384,016
TOTAL LIABILITIES BENLE (16,704,640) (19,921,886) (42,391) (202,909) (271,356) (756,740)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BR)FE 11,456,311 3,375,852 197 3,528 49,791 (372,724)
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